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FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated with limited liability under the laws of Bermuda)
Website: ttp:/fwwew.firstpacco.com
(Stock Code: 00142)
Form of Proxy for use at the SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING (“SGM") of First Pacific Company Limited {the “Company” to

be held at 24th Floor, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR at 10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, 28th
February, 2007 and at any adjournment thereof.

I/ We,! (and) of
being the registered holder(s) of * ordinary shares of US$0.01 each in the capital of
the Company, HEREBY APPOINT the Chairman of the SGM or ? of

as my/our proxy to attend and vote for me/us at the 5GM {and at any adjournment thereof) for the purpose of considering
and, if thought fit, passing the ordinary resolution set out in the notice convening the SGM*.

Please indicate with an “x” in the space provided how you wish your vote(s} to be cast on a poll. Should this form be returned
duly signed, without a specific direction, the proxy will vote or abstain at his discretion.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION For Against

To approve the acquisition of the Sale Shares by the Company and/or any subsidiary(ies) of
the Company and the entry into by the Company and/er any subsidiary(ies) of the Company
of any and all documents considered by the directors of the Company to be necessary or
desirable to be entered into in connection with the purchase of the Sale Shares (including
but not limited to the Sale and Purchase Agreement and Escrow Agreement), and to authorise
any executive director of the Company to arrange for the execution of such documents
(including but not limited to the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Escrow Agreement)
in such manner as he may consider necessary or desirable and to do, or authorise the
Company and/or any subsidiary{ies) to do, whatever acts and things he may consider
necessary or desirable or expedient for the purpose of, or in connection with, the
implementation of the purchase of the Sale Shares and/or the documents referred to above
and/or any matter related thereto and to make or agree, or authorise the Company and/or
any subsidiary(ies) to make or agree, such amendments or variations thereto, and grant, or
authorise the Company and/or any subsidiary(ies} to grant, any waivers of any conditions
precedent or other provisions of such documents as any exccutive director of the Company
in his discretion considers to be desirable and in the interests of the Company.

Far this purpose:

(i) “Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement proposed to be entered into between the Philippine Government (and/or
its agencies, instrumentalities and/or bodies corporate), MPAH, and the Company, amongst others, for the holding of one half
of the purchase price for the Sale Shares in escrow pending completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement;

(ii) “MPAH" means Metro Pacific Assets Holdings, Inc.;

(iii) “PTIC” means Philippine Telecommunications Investment Corporation;

(iv) “Sale Shares” means 111,415 issued common shares of PTIC, representing approximately 46% of the issued common
shares in PTIC; and

(v) “Sale and Purchase Agreement” means the sale and purchase agreement proposed to be entered into between MPAH and
the P'hilippine Government (and/or its agencies, instrumentalities and/or bodies corporate) for the sale of the Sale Shares
by the Philippine Government (and/or its agencies, instrumentalities and/or bodies corporate) to MPAH.

Signature: Date:

Notes:

1. Please insert your full name(s) and address(es) in block capitals. All jeint holders’ names should be stated.

2. Please insert the number of ordinary shares registered in your name(s); if no number is inserted, this Form of Proxy will be deemed to
relate to all the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company registered in your name(s).

3. if any proxy other than the Chairman of the SGM is preferred, strike out “the Chairman of the SGM or” and insert the name and address
of the desired proxy in the space provided and initial the alteration.

4. Any member of the Company cntitled to attend and vote at the SGM may appoint one or more proxies to attend and to vote in his stead. A
proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5. Where there are joint registered holders of any share in the Company, any one of such persons may vote at the SGM, either personally or
by pmx{, in respect of such share as if he were entitled sclely thereto, but if mere than one of suchfjoint holders are present at the SGM
personally or by proxy, the relevant joint holder whose name’stands first on the register in respect of the relevant shares shall be entitled
alene to vote in respect thereof.

6. This Form of Proxy must be signed by you or your attorney duly authorised in writing. In the case of a corporation, this Form of Proxy
must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

7. To be valid, this Form of Proxy, together with any power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially

certified copy of such power of authority, must be deposited at the Company’s principal office (Attention: Corporate Secretarial Department)

at 24th Floor, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR not less than 48 hours before the time of the SGM or at
any adjournment thereof.

Any alterations made in this Form of Proxy must be initialled.

. Completion and delivery of the Form of Proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting at the SGM if you so wish.

10.  The Chairman will demand a poll on the resolutior submitted for determination at the SGM. On a poll, every member present in person or
by a duly authorised corporate representative or by proxy shall have one vote for every share held by him. The results of the poll will be
published in the local newspapers and on the website of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, on the business
day following the SGM. B .
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have

the following meanings:—

“Acquisition”

"ADRs”

“"Board”

“Circular”

“Company”

“Completion”

“Directors”

“Escrow Agreement”

“GI’OLIP"

i H K$”

“Hong Kong SAR”

“Independent Board Committee”

“Independent Financial Adviser”

the proposed acquisition of the Sale Shares by MPAH
pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement;

American depositary shares of PLDT, evidenced by
American depositary receipts. Each such share
represents 1 share of common stock of PLDT;

the board of directors of the Company;

this circular, which is issued by the Company to the
Shareholders in respect of the proposed Acquisition;

First Pacific Company Limited, a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and
which has its shares listed on the Stock Exchange;

completion of the Acquisition pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement;

the directors of the Company;

the escrow agreement proposed to be entered into
between the Philippine Government, MPAH and the
Company, amongst others, for the holding of
approximately one half of the purchase price for the
Sale Shares in escrow pending Completion;

the Company and its subsidiaries;

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
SAR;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China;

an independent committee of the Board, comprising
Prof. Edward K.Y. Chen, GBS, CBE, JP, Mr. David W.C.
Tang, OBE, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Artes et des
Lettres and Mr. Graham L. Pickles being the
independent non-executive Directors;

Somerley, the independent financial adviser required
to be appointed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
to make recommendations to the Independent Board
Committee and the Shareholders as to whether the

1=




DEFINITIONS

“IndoAgri”

“Indofood”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Maynilad”

“Model Code”

”MPAH”

“MPC”

"MPIC”

"

“Philippine Government

“Php” or “Peso”

Acquisition is fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole and
to advise Shareholders how to vote at the Special
General Meeting;

Indofood Agri Resources Ltd. (formerly known as
“CityAxis Holdings Ltd.”), a company incorporated
in Singapore with limited liability and which has its
shares listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange;

PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk, a company
incorporated in Indonesia with limited liability and
which has its shares listed on the Jakarta and Surabaya
Stock Exchanges;

6 February 2007, being the latest practical date for the
purpose of ascertaining certain information for the
purpose of this Circular;

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

Maynilad Water Services, Inc., a company incorporated
in the Philippines with limited liability;

the Model Code for securities transactions by directors
of companies listed on the Stock Exchange;

Metro TPacific Assets Holdings, Inc., a company
incorporated in the Philippines with limited liability,
and a subsidiary of the Company in respect of which
the Company is entitled to a 100% economic interest;

Metro Pacific Corporation, a Philippine corporation
with limited liability;

Metro Pacific Investments Corporation, a Philippine
corporation with limited liability and which has its

shares listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange;

the government of the Republic of the Philippines;

Philippine Peso, the lawful currency of the Republic
of the Philippines;
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“PLDT”

“PTIC”

“Sale and Purchase Agreement”

“Sale Shares”

“SFO”

“Shareholders”
“Singapore Stock Exchange”

“Somerley”

“Special General Meeting”

“Stock Exchange”

“U.S."

" US$ "

Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company, a
company incorporated in the Philippines with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed on the
Philippine Stock Exchange and the ADRs of which are
listed on the New York Stock Exchange; and currently
an associated company of the Company;

Philippine Telecommunications Investment
Corporation, a company incorporated in the
Philippines with limited liability;

the sale and purchase agreement proposed to be
entered into between MPAH as buyer, and the
Philippine Government as seller, for the acquisition of
the Sale Shares, the terms of which are summarised
on pages 6 to 7 of this Circular;

111,415 issued common shares in PTIC, representing
approximately 46% of the total issued common shares

in PTIC;

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571) of the laws
of the Hong Kong SAR;

the shareholders of the Company;

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited;
Somerley Limited, the independent financial adviser
appointed by the Company under Rule 14A.22 of the
Listing Rules;

the special general meeting of the Company to be held
at 24th Floor, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught
Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR on Wednesday, 28
February 2007 at 10:00 a.m., the notice of which is set
out in this Circular;

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

the United States of America; and

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.

Unless otherwise specified, this Circular contains translations of certain Philippine Peso
amouitts into US$ amounts at the rate of US$1 = Pesos 49.39. The translations have been provided
solely for the convenience of the readers of this Circular and no representation is made that any of
the Pesos amounts actually represent the US$ amounts or could have been or could be converted
into UIS$ at the specificd rate, or at any particular rate or af all.
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12 February 2007

To the Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,
MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL SHARES IN
PHILIPPINE TELECOMMUNICATIONS INVESTMENT CORPORATION

INTRODUCTION

The Company announced on 30 January 2007 that it proposed to acquire the Sale
Shares, being an approximately 46% shareholding in PTIC, from the Philippine Government,
by exercising a “right to match” in the context of a public auction by the Philippine
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Government of that approximately 46% shareholding. PTIC is a single purpose holding
company, holding PLDT shares representing approximately 13.8% of PLDT’s issued
common share capital.

The Philippine Government’s shareholding in PTIC was obtained pursuant to a
lawsuit against a third party on the basis that the shares were “ill gotten wealth” of that
third party, and those shares were subsequently transferred to the Philippine Government
pursuant to a court order. Thereafter, the Philippine Government offered the Sale Shares
for sale under the public auction.

The remaining approximately 54% of PTIC not owned by the Philippine Government
is owned by subsidiaries of the Company. Under the articles of incorporation of PTIC, the
subsidiaries of the Company holding shares in PTIC and PTIC itself each have the benefit
“right to match” in the case of a transfer of shares in PTIC. The “right to match”
arising in favour of PTIC is the last to arise under the articles of incorporation of PTIC,

of a

following earlier “rights to match” which arose in favour of the subsidiaries of the Company
holding shares in PTIC not having been exercised. PTIC’s “right to match” will, however,
be assigned to MPAH prior to the execution of the conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement
and MPAH, as assignee of PTIC’s “right to match” will exercise such “right to match” by
purchasing the Sale Shares.

The “right to match” gives the Group the right to purchase the Sale Shares proposed
to be sold under the public auction by the Philippine Government, at a price equal to the
highest bid received in the auction. The highest bid received under the auction was an
amount of Php226,338.9669 (US$4,582.69) per share of PTIC, which is equivalent to
approximately Php2,100 (US5$42.52) per share of PLDT held by PTIC. Under the articles of
incorporation of PTIC, the Group has 30 days from the date of receipt of the notice of the
proposed transfer within which to exercise the “right to match” and purchase the Sale
Shares. It is anticipated that the “right to match” will be exercised by no later than 2
March 2007.

THE ACQUISITION

MPAH proposes to exercise the “right to match” under the PTIC articles of
incorporation and thereby acquire the Sale Shares by entering into a conditional Sale and
Purchase Agreement with the Philippine Government, the terms of which have been agreed
in principle with the Philippine Government, prior to the date of the Special General
Meeting and, accordingly, a further announcement will be made at the time of entering
into the conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement. However, the Acquisition would
constitute a major and connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules
and, accordingly, the Company requires the prior approval of a resolution of the
Shareholders before it can complete the Acquisition and, accordingly, the Sale and Purchase

Agreement would be conditional on the approval of a resolution of Shareholders being
obtained as required by the Listing Rules. Upon obtaining Shareholders approval for the
Acquisition, Completion is expected to take place under the Sale and Purchase Agreement
no later than 2 March 2007,
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Pursuant to the notice of Special General Meeting contained in this Circular, the
Company convenes a special general meeting of its Shareholders at which a resolution
will be proposed to approve the Acquisition.

The consideration which would be required to be paid for the Sale Shares under the
Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to the terms of the “right to match”, is equal to
the highest bid received under the auction, being Php 226,338.9669 (US$4,582.69) per
share of PTIC or approximately Php 25,217,556,000 (US$510,580,198) in total (before
transaction expenses). The consideration would be financed from a combination of internal
resources and third party financing,.

Under the terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement agreed in principle with the
Philippine Government, on entering into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, approximately
US$262,685,233, representing approximately one half of the purchase price for the Sale
Shares, will be paid into an escrow account and held upon and subject to the terms of the
Escrow Agreement. Under the Escrow Agreement, the amount held in escrow will only be
released to the Philippine Government upon delivery of a written notice by the Company
and the Company is not obliged to give such written notice if the approval of the
Shareholders has not been obtained for the Acquisition as required by the Listing Rules. If
the Acquisition is not approved by the Shareholders as required by the Listing Rules, the
entire amount held in the escrow account will, upon written instructions of the Company,
be returned to the Group under the terms of the Escrow Agreement. The Escrow Agreement
contains an acknowledgement that the Company will not have any obligation to give the
notice required to release the escrow amount to the Philippine Government unless and
until the Acquisition has been approved by Shareholders as required by the Listing Rules.
Following the Acquisition having been approved by Shareholders under the Listing Rules,
it is anticipated that the amount held in escrow will be converted into Pesos and released
to the Philippine Government on Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

PROPOSED TERMS OF THE SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Upon the conditional exercise of the “right to match”, MPAH would enter into the
conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement with the Philippine Government. The form of
the Sale and Purchase Agreement has been agreed in principle with the Philippine
Government and would be on the following terms:

1. On Completion, the Philippine Government will sell, and MPAH will buy, the
Sale Shares, which represent approximately 46% of the total common issued
shares of PTIC.

2. The purchase price for the Sale Shares amounts to Php 25,217,556,000
(US$510,580,198), payabtle in full on Completion.

3. The Sale and Purchase Agreement is conditional on the approval of the
Shareholders being obtained as required by the Listing Rules. If such approval
is not obtained, MPAH will not have any obligation to complete the Acquisition
and the Sale and Purchase Agreement would automatically terminate.

-6 -
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4, On Completion, the Philippine Government will transfer, and deliver share
certificates in relation to, the Sale Shares to MPAH. Completion will take
place shortly following the approval of the Acquisition by the Shareholders
having been obtained, as required by the Listing Rules, and it is anticipated
that Completion will occur not later than 2 March 2007.

5. The Philippine Government will provide certain warranties in favour of MPAH
including that:

{a)  the Philippine Government is the legal and absolute and beneficial owner
of the Sale Shares;

(b)  the Sale Shares have been duly and validly issued and are free of any
incumbencies;

(c})  customary warranties as to capacity and authority to sell; and

(d) the Philippine Government and its agencies have complied with all
relevant laws governing the privatization of government assets including
the requirement to undergo a public bidding process, and that the sale
price is equal to or higher than the highest price offered to the Philippine
Government during such public bidding process.

RATIONALE FOR THE ACQUISITION

The Company considers that the Acquisition represents an attractive opportunity to
increase its economic interest in PLDT, which is one of the Group’s principal assets. PLDT
is the Group’s largest contributor to recurring Group profit and is a critical strategic
investment of the Group. PLDT has a leading market position in both mobile and fixed
telephones in the Philippines and has grown this business significantly over the last few
years. The Sale Shares offered for sale in the public auction by the Philippine Government
are illiquid shares in a private non listed holding company, PTIC. The Company is in the
unique position that its subsidiaries beneficially own the remainder of the issued share
capital of PTIC. Accordingly, the acquisition of the Sale Shares will result in the Group
beneficially owning 100% of PTIC and the underlying PLDT shares, representing
approximately 13.8% of the issued common share capital of PLDT, held by PTIC. The
purchase price payable for the Sale Shares is equivalent to approximately Pesos 2,100
(US$42.52) per share of PLDT held by PTIC, which compares favourably to the market
price of a PLDT share at the Latest Practicable Date of Php 2,560 (US$51.8).

The Directors {including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that the
terms of the proposed Acquisition are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole and recommend the Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary
resolution to be proposed at the Special General Meeting for approving the Acquisition.
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BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY AND OTHERS

The Company is a Hong Kong based investment and management company with
operations in South East Asia. The Company’s principal business interests relate to
telecommunications, consumer food products and infrastructure.

PTIC is a single purpose holding company incorporated in the Philippines which
holds shares in PLDT.

PLDT, in which the Company currently holds an attributable economic interest in
shares representing approximately 23% of the issued common share capital of PLDT, is
the leading telecommunications services provider in the Philippines. It is based in Manila,
and has shares of common stock listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange and ADRs listed
on the New York Stock Exchange. Through its three principal business groups, PLDT
offers a wide range of telecommunications services, including wireless, fixed line and
information and communications technology. PLDT has developed the Philippines” most
extensive fiber optic backbone, cellular, fixed line and satellite networks.

FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE ACQUISITION

The audited consolidated net profit attributable to the Shareholders for the year
ended 31 December 2005 was approximately US$103.0 million after tax and US5%165.4
million before tax and the audited consolidated net profit attributable to the Shareholders
for the year ended 31 December 2004 was approximately US$123.9 million after tax and
US$181.3 million before tax, respectively. The unaudited consolidated net profit attributable
to the Shareholders for the six months ended 30 June 2006 was approximately US$72.2
million after tax and US$136.9 million before tax.

The audited consolidated net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2005 and 31
December 2004 were approximately US$382.8 million and US$227.4 million, respectively.
The unaudited consolidated net assets of the Group as at 30 June 2006 was approximately
U55446.9 million.

Following Completion, the Group’s effective attributable interest in PLDT will
increase from approximately 23% to approximately 29%. In view of the track record,
earnings ability and customer base of PLDT, the Acquisition will have a positive impact
on the earnings of the Group in the future.

After the Acquisition, the total assets of the enlarged Group will be increased by
approximately US$420 million, which represents the cost of Acquisition, net of the
utilization of internal cash resources of US$90.6 million. The total liabilities of the Group
will also be increased by approximately US$420 million which represents the bank
borrowings of US$420 million to finance such Acquisition. As a result, the net asset value
of the Group is expected to remain the same upon Completion as illustrated in the
unaudited pro forma statement of assets and liabilities of the enlarged Group in Appendix
III. The amounts contained in this paragraph are based on the projected financing of the
purchase price for the Sale Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date. These amounts may be
subject to immaterial adjustments prior to Completion.
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As at 31 December 2005, the Group’s gearing ratio was 1.12 times. After the
Acquisition, based on the above, the unaudited pro forma gearing ratio of the enlarged
Group will be 1.84 times. The increase is mainly attributable to bank borrowing to finance
the Acquisition.

LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

The Acquisition constitutes a major transaction for the Company under the Listing
Rules, which will require Shareholders’” approval on the basis that one or more of the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the consideration thereby payable excced 25%
but is less than 100%.

The Philippine Government holds approximately 46% of PTIC and is, therefore, a
substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly, the Acquisition is
also classified as a connected transaction under the Listing Rules and is, therefore, subject
to prior approval by the Shareholders (by way of a poll) at the Special General Meeting,.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Company has established the Independent Board Committee, consisting of the
independent non-executive Directors, to advise Shareholders as to whether the propesed
Acquisition is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole and to advise the Shareholders how to vote at the Special General Meeting.
The Company has also appointed Somerley as the independent financial adviser required
to be appointed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, to make recommendations to the
Independent Board Committee and the Shareholders as to whether the Acquisition is fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole and
to advise Shareholders how to vote at the Special General Meeting.

A separate letter from the Independent Board Committee advising Shareholders
that, in the opinion of the Independent Board Committee, formed after taking into account
the recommendation of the Independent Financial Adviser, the Acquisition is fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole and
advising the Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolution to approve the Acquisition at
the Special General Meeting is set out on page 11 of this Circular. Shareholders’ attention
is drawn to the letter from the Independent Board Committee.

A separate letter from the Independent Financial Adviser, Somerley, containing its
advice to the Independent Board Committee and the Shareholders that, having considered
the matters set out in detail in that letter, the Acquisition is fair and reascnable and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole and advising Shareholders to
vote in favour of the resolution to approve the Acquisition at the Special General Meeting
is set out on pages 12 and to 25 of this Circular. Shareholders’ attention is also drawn to
the letter from Somerley, the Independent Financial Adviser.
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The Board is of the view that the Acquisition is fair and reasonable and is in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole and, accordingly, the Board
recommends that the Shareholders vote in favour of the resolution to be proposed in
relation to the Acquisition at the Special General Meeting.

SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

A notice convening the Special General Meeting to be held at 24th Floor, Two
Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR on Wednesday, 28 February
2007 at 10:00 a.m. is set out on pages 159 to 160 of this Circular.

Voting at the Special General Meeting will be taken on a poll.

A form of proxy for use at the Special General Meeting is enclosed. Whether or not
Shareholders are able to attend the meeting, they are requested to complete and return the
enclosed form of proxy to the Company’s head office (Attention: Corporate Secretarial
Department) at 24th Floor, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong
SAR as soon as possible and in any event not later than 48 hours before the time appointed
for the holding of the meeting. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not
preciude Shareholders from attending and voting at the meeting should they wish to do
50.

To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors, no Shareholder has a
material interest in the matters which are the subject of the resolution before the Special
General Meeting such that it must abstain from voting, and, accordingly, all Shareholders
are permitted to vote at the Special General Meeting to be convened. First Pacific
Investments Limited and First Pacific Investments (BVI) Limited, which together own
approximately 44.26% of the Company’s issued share capital, have confirmed their intention
to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution to be proposed at the Special General Meeting.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is drawn to the additional information set out in the appendices to
this Circular.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board of
First Pacific Company Limited
Manuel V. Pangilinan
Managing Director and CEQ
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FIRST
PACIFIC

FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED

{Incorporated with limited Hability under the latws of Bermuda)
Website: Iittp:/fwww. firstpacco.com

{Stock Code: 00142)
To the Shareholders 12 February 2007

Dear Sir or Madam,
MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL SHARES IN
PHILIPPINE TELECOMMUNICATIONS INVESTMENT CORPORATION

We refer to the circular of even date with this letter issued by the Company (the
“Circular”) to the shareholders of the Company of which this letter forms part. Terms
defined in the Circular shall have the same meaning in this letter unless the context
otherwise requires.

We have been appointed by the Board as the Independent Board Committee to give
a recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Acquisition, details of
which are set out in the letter from the Board contained in the Circular.

Having considered the terms of the Acquisition and the advice and opinion of the
Independent Financial Adviser in relation thereto as set out in the Circular, the Independent
Board Committee considers that the Acquisition is on normal commercial terms, fair and
reasonable so far as the Shareholders are concerned and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Independent Board Committee
recommends that the Shareholders vote in favour of the resolution to be proposed at the
Special General Meeting to approve the Acquisition.

The Independent Board Committee draws the attention of the Shareholders to the
letter from the Board and the letter from Somerley to the Independent Board Committee
and the Shareholders which sets out the considerations and factors taken into account in
arriving at its recommendations, each as contained in the Circular.

Yours faithfully,
Independent Board Committee

Edward K.Y. Chen GBS, CBE, |P Graham L. Pickles
Independent Non-Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Director

David W.C. Tang

QOBE, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Arts et des Lettres
Independent Non-Executive Director
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The following is the text of the letter of advice to the Independent Board Committee and the
Shareholders prepared by the Independent Financial Adviser for the purpose of inclusion in this
Circular.

E SOMERLEY LIMITED
10th Floor
The Hong Kong Club Building
3A Chater Road
Central

Hong Kong
12 February 2007
To: The Independent Board Committee and the Shareholders

Dear Sirs,
MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL SHARES
IN
PHILTPPINE TELECOMMUNICATIONS INVESTMENT CORPORATION

1. INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment by the Company as the Independent Financial Adviser
to the Independent Board Committee and the Shareholders to consider whether the proposal
to purchase a strategic interest of a further approximately 46% of the issued common
shares of PTIC, pursuant to the exercising of the “right to match” in the context of a
public auction by the Philippine Government, is on normal commercial terms which are
fair and reasonable to the Shareholders and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. Details of the Acquisition are contained in the circular to the
Shareholders dated 12 February 2007 (the “Circular”), of which this letter forms part.
Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalised terms used in this letter shall have the
same meanings as those defined in the Circular.

PTIC is already an approximately 54% owned subsidiary of the Group. Approximately
53% stake in PTIC was acquired by the Group in 1998 while the remaining approximately
1% stake was acquired by the Group in 1999. The sole material asset of PTIC is an
approximately 13.8% interest in PLDT, in which the Group currently has an approximately
23% attributable economic interest. The holding in PLDT is arguably the key strategic
holding of the Company, with its attributable market value representing approximately
114.9% of the market capitalisation of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date.
PLDT is an associated company of the Company.
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The remaining approximately 46% of PTIC not owned by the Group was subject to
an auction process by the Philippine Government. As part of this process, the Philippine
Government was registered as the shareholder of this block in December 2006, thereby
becoming a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company and a connected
person of the Company. The Acquisition is a major transaction and a connected transaction
for the Company under the Listing Rules, and is subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the Special General Meeting. In this case, to the best of the knowledge and belief of the
Directors, as there is no conflict of interest, no Shareholder is required to abstain from
voting at the Special General Meeting for approving the Acquisition.

The Independent Board Committee, comprising all of the three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Graham L. Pickles, Professor Edward K.Y. Chen and Mr.
David W.C. Tang, has been established to make a recommendation to the Shareholders on
whether the proposed terms of the Acquisition are fair and reasonable so far as the
Shareholders are concerned and are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. We, Somerley Limited, have been appointed to advise the Independent Board
Committee and the Shareholders in this regard.

In formulating our opinion and recommendation, we have relied on the information
and facts supplied, and the opinions expressed, by the Directors and management of the
Group and have assumed that they are true, accurate and complete as at the date of the
Circular and wili continue to be true up to the date of the Special General Meeting. We
have also sought and received confirmation from the Directors that no material facts have
been omitted from the information supplied and opinions expressed to us. We have no
reason to believe that any material information has been withheld from us, or doubt the
truth or accuracy of the information provided. We have relied on such information and
consider that the information we have received is sufficient for us to reach our advice and
recommendation as set out in this letter and to justify our reliance on such information.
We have, however, not conducted any independent investigation into the business and
affairs of the Group or PLDT group.

2, BACKGROUND TO AND PROPOSED TERMS OF THE SALE AND PURCHASE
AGREEMENT

The Philippine Government proposed to sell its approximately 46% interest of PTIC
through public auction and the highest bid received under the auction was an amount of
Php226,338.9669 (equivalent to approximately US$4,582.69) per share of PTIC, which is
equivalent to approximately Php2,100 per share of PLDT held by PTIC. Under the articles
of incorporation of PTIC, the subsidiaries of the Company holding shares in PTIC and
PTIC itself each is entitled to a “right to match” in the case of a transfer of shares in PTIC.
The “right to match” arising in favour of PTIC is the last to arise under the articles of
incorparation of PTIC, following earlier “rights to match” which arose in favour of the
subsidiaries of the Company holding shares in PTIC not having been exercised. PTIC's
“right to match” will, however, be assigned to MPAH, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, prior to the execution of the conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement and
MPAH, as assignee of PTIC’s “right to match” will exercise such “right to match” by
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purchasing the Sale Shares. This confers upon MPAH a right to purchase such
approximately 46% shareholding in PTIC proposed to be sold under the public auction by
the Philippine Government at a price of Php226,338.9669 {equivalent to approximately
US$4,582.69) per share of PTIC, being the highest bid received under the auction.

MPAH proposes to exercise the “right to match” under the articles of incorporation
of PTIC to acquire approximately 46% stake in PTIC offered under the auction at a total
consideration of approximately Php25,217,556,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$510,580,198) (before transaction expenses). The Acquisition cost of approximately
US$510.6 million is intended to be satisfied as to approximately US5$90.6 million by internal
resources of the Group and as to approximately U55420 million by third party financing.
In respect of the U$$420 million third party financing, we are advised by the Directors
that the Company has already drawn down a five-year term loan in the amount of
US$270 million with principal amount repayable in full on the maturity date to finance
the Acquisition. The remaining balance of approximately US$150 million will be financed
by short-term borrowings. Given majority of the acquisition cost is to be financed by the
US3270 million five-year term loan with a “bullet” maturity (i.e. repayable in full on the
maturity date), the Group has adopted, in our view, a prudent structure for funding the
Acquisition.

Pursuant to the conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement (expected to be entered
into by MPAH and the Philippine Government prior to the date of the Special General
Meeting), the terms of which have been agreed in principle with the Philippine Government,
the Philippine Government would provide certain warranties in favour of MPAH for the
acquisition of the Sale Shares. Details of the proposed terms of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement are set out in the paragraph headed “Proposed terms of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement” in the letter from the Board contained in the Circular. In particular, the
Philippine Government will warrant it is the legal and absolute and beneficial owner of
the Sale Shares. Approximately US$262,685,233, representing approximately one half of
the purchase price for the Sale Shares, will be paid into an escrow account and held upon
and subject to the terms of the Escrow Agreement. Pursuant to the Escrow Agreement, the
amount held in escrow will only be released to the Philippine Government upon delivery
of a written notice by the Company and the Company is not obliged to give such written
notice if the approval of the Shareholders has not been obtained for the Acquisition. If the
Acquisition is not approved by the Shareholders, the entire amount held in the escrow
account will be, upon written instructions of the Company, returned to the Group.

The Directors expect that Completion will take place no later than 2 March 2007.
3. SUMMARY OF BUSINESS AND RESULTS OF PLDT
(i)  Business of PLDT
PLDT, an associated company of the Group, was established over 70 years
ago and is one of the leading telecommunications service companies in the Philippines
providing a wide range of telecommunications services: wireless, fixed line and

information and communications technology. PLDT has developed the Philippines’
most extensive fiber optic backbone, cellular, fixed line and satellite networks.
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{ii} Past results of PLDT

The following table summarises the consolidated results of PLDT for each of
the two years ended 31 December 2005 extracted from the 2005 annual report of the
Group. The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants has issued a number
of new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (the “Revised HKFRS5s”) taking effect for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2005. Figures for 2004 have been adjusted in
accordance with the Revised HKFRSs.

Turnover Profit
% %
US$ millions 2005 2004 change 2005 2004 change
(Restated)

Wireless 1,357.9 1,229.8 +10.4 7146 503.8 +41.8
Fixed line 903.0 864.0 +4.5 1337 314.8 -57.5
Information and

Communications

Technology 53.7 371 +44.7 1.8 14.9 -87.9
Inter-segment

elimination (113.3) (77.2) +46.8 - - -
Total 2,201.3 2,053.7 +7.2
Segment result 850.1 8335 +2.0
Net borrowing costs (219.1) {217.1) +0.9
Share of profits less

losses of associates 0.1 (1.3) -
Profit before taxation 631.1 615.1 +2.6
Taxation (57.0) {101.7) -44.0
Profit for the year 574.1 5134 +11.8
Minority interest (6.7) 1.3 -
Profit attributable to

equity holders 567.4 5147 +10.2
Preference dividends (25.7) (32.5) -20.9
Profit attributable to

ordinary shareholders 541.7 482.2 +12.3
Average shareholding

held by the Group (%) 24.4 243 -
Contribution to the

Group's recurring profit 132.2 17.1 +12.9
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As shown above, the majority of the turnover was derived from the wireless
segment which was also the key driver of 2005 performance. The wireless services
revenue increased by approximately 10.4% to approximately US$1,357.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2005. Such increase was mainly contributed by the
increase in wireless data revenues. PLDT had a cellular subscriber base of
approximately 20.4 million as at the end of 2005, representing a market share of
approximately 59%.

PLDT’s fixed line business reported revenues of approximately US5$903.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2005, resulting from the increase in data
revenues which more than offset the decline in its traditional long distance voice
revenues with a net effect of increasing the revenue by approximately 4.5%. The
improvement in fixed line performance was also attributed to an expanding
broadband business.

The information and communications technology business of PLDT is mainly
carried out by ePLDT which operates internet data center, call centers, and internet
and gaming operations. The information and communications technology segmental
revenues increased by approximately 44.7% to approximately U5%$53.7 million for
2005. Such growth was primarily attributable to the growth in call center business.
The call center business has grown exponentially in recent years with the Philippines
becoming an increasingly attractive site for business process outsourcing.
Consolidated call center revenues increased by approximately 52% to approximately
US$35.4 million resulting from higher capacity utilization and higher prices charged
for additional service demand.

It is stated in the 2006 interim report of the Company that PLDT continued to
perform well and contributed approximately US5$66.5 million recurring profit to
that of the Group of approximately US$69.0 million for the six months ended 30
June 2006, representing approximately 13.1% increase as compared with that of the
corresponding period. The wireless service revenues increased by approximately 6%
to approximately US$740.8 million because of sustained growth in data revenue. On
the other hand, the fixed line service revenues were flat at approximately U5$462.5
million. ePLDT showed great growth with its revenue rising by approximately 36%
to approximately US$34.5 million, of which approximately 68% was contributed
from its call center business.

As set out above, we consider that PLDT is a successful company making a
significant contribution to the Group’s recurring profit.

(iii) Prospects of PLDT

As advised by the Directors, the revenue growth of PLDT is likely to come
from broadband, business process outsourcing/call center and mobile. PLDT will
continue to introduce various attractive innovative wireless broadband products
and services. Moreover, PLDT will further strengthen its market leader position in
wireless business through the ongoing network coverage and capacity expansion
and market segmentation. This equips PLDT to transform itself from a cellular
company into a multi-service wireless communications provider.
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In July 2006, ePLDT further expanded its business portfolio to global business
process outsourcing by acquiring the entire interests of SPi Technologies, Inc. (“SPi”)
which is the second largest pure-play business process outsourcing and the ninth
largest independent business process outsourcing service provider worldwide. It
has operations in North America, Europe and Asia. In August 2006, SPi acquired the
entire interest of CyMed, Inc., a leading medical transcription company based in
Richmond, Virginia. The business process outsourcing (including call centers)
contributed only 3% of total revenues of PLDT for 2005, but the Directors expect
that this will rise to 10% over the next three to five years due to the increase in
utilization rates and further expansion of the business by such acquisition. The
Directors are optimistic concerning the business process outsourcing industry in the
Philippines as its fragmented state offers opportunities to ePLDT to consolidate its
market share and position in the industry.

Accordingly, the Directors consider that the prospects of PLDT are, in general,
promising.

4, HISTORY AND SIGNIFICANCE OF THE COMPANY’S HOLDING IN PLDT

The Group has invested in PLDT for over 8 years. Following the asset disposal
program which commenced in December 1997, the Company looked for investment
opportunities in Asia for the disposal proceeds. In evaluating the investment proposals,
the Group targeted businesses in the region that were leaders in their home markets and
had strong brand names. The Company concluded that PLDT, being a leading
telecommunication operator in the Philippines, was an appropriate investment for the
Group. In November 1998, the Company acquired an approximately 17.2% attributable
economic interest, representing approximately 27.4% of the then voting interest in PLDT,
for a total consideration of Php29.7 billion (equivalent to approximately Php1,420 per
PLDT share, in terms of economic interest) by market purchases and the acquisition of a
controlling interest of PTIC. Since then, the Company has been involved in the management
of PLDT and Manuel V. Pangilinan, Managing Director of the Company, was appointed
as the President and Chief Executive Officer of PLDT. Manuel V. Pangilinan is currently
the Chairman of PLDT. The Company also nominated five other new directors to the
board of PLDT in 1998. In view of good performance of PLDT, the Group continued to
strengthen its interests in PLDT following the original acquisition in 1998 and currently
holds an approximately 23% attributable economic interest and approximately 29% voting
interest in PLDT.

PLDT is an associated company of the Group and its results are equity accounted
for in the accounts of the Group. As shown in the 2005 annual report of the Group, PLDT
contributed to approximately US$117.1 million and US$132.2 million to the recurring profit
of the Group for the two years ended 31 December 2005 respectively (representing
approximately 100.3% and 112.8% of the recurring profit of the Group for the two years
ended 31 December 2005 respectively). Based on the 2006 interim report of the Group,
PLDT contributed to approximately US$66.5 million to the recurring profit of the Group
for the six months ended 30 June 2006 {or approximately 96.4% of the recurring profit of
the Group of approximately US$69.0 million for the period). On this basis, most of the
recurring profit of the Group was contributed by PLDT, demonstrating that PLDT is a
critical strategic investment of the Group.
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The chart below illustrates the relative performance of the shares of the Company as
compared to those of PLDT for the period from 1 January 2005 up to and including the
Latest Practicable Date (the “Period”)}.
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Based on the above, the share price of the Company closely tracked that of PLDT for
the Period. This tracking phenomenon, in our opinion, reflects the market perception of
PLDT as the core investment of the Group.

In view of PLDT’s significant contribution to the recurring profit of the Group and
the share price tracking phenomenon between the Company and PLDT, we consider that
PLDT is a core strategic asset of the Company. Accordingly, we consider it is reasonable
for the Company to consolidate its investment in PLDT by acquiring a further
approximately 6.4% attributable interest in PLDT through the acquisition of approximately
46% interest of PTIC.
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5.

SHARE PRICE AND TRADING VOLUME OF PLDT SHARES

(i)

PLDT share price

The chart below shows the daily closing prices of the PLDT shares on the

Philippine Stock Exchange during the Period:
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The purchase price of Php2,100 per PLDT share represents:

(a)  adiscount of approximately 18.0% to the closing price of Php2,560.0 per

PLDT share as at the Latest Practicable Date;

(b) a discount of approximately 18.8% to the average closing price of
approximately Php2,587.0 per PLDT share for the 10 trading days up to

and including the Latest Practicable Date; and

{c) a discount of approximately 20.4% to the average closing price of
approximately Php2,637.5 per PLDT share for the 30 trading days up to

and including the Latest Practicable Date.

As illustrated by the chart above, the PLDT shares have been trading at a
level above the purchase price of Php2,100 per PLDT share on the market since mid
September 2006. In normal circumstances, the price for a minority stake in a private
company helding listed shares would incorporate a discount to the attributable
value of those listed shares. However, after the Acquisition, the Company will control
100% of PTIC, the private company in question and can maximise its options on

how to deal with PTIC and its assets in future.
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(ii) Trading volume of PLDT shares

The table below sets out the total number of PLDT shares traded per month
for the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 January 2007:

Total monthly
trading volume of
PLDT shares

Number of PLDT shares

2005

January 4,811,920
February 2,763,390
March 2,889,580
April 3,358,340
May 2,665,160
June 4,976,430
July 5,277,160
August 2,895,340
September 3,002,850
QOctober 2,250,130
November 2,018,000
December 1,886,370
2006

January : 1,846,540
February 3,337,660
March 2,306,340
April 2,669,790
May 3,663,190
June 2,950,610
July 2,527,690
August 2,815,700
September 4,650,610
October 6,728,720
November 3,357,140
December 2,823,580
2007

January 4,183,010
Average 3,306,210

Source:  Bloomberg

PLDT had approximately 188.5 million shares in issue as at 29 January 2007.
Based on the above table, the average monthly trading volume of PLDT shares
during the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 January 2007 was approximately 3.3
million PLDT shares. The Company intends to acquire a further approximately 6.4%
interest in PLDT by the acquisition of approximately 46% interest of PTIC, which
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represents approximately 12.1 million PLDT shares. Based on the average monthly
trading volume of 3.3 million PLDT shares, this is equivalent to about 4 months’
trading. On this basis, we consider the alterative of buying an equivalent number of
PLDT shares in the market in a reasonable length of time and at a stable price is not
a practical one.

On this basis, the acquisition of a further approximately 6.4% interest in PLDT
by the acquisition of approximately 46% interest of PTIC is, in our view, an efficient
way for the Company to consolidate its interests in PLDT at a price which is lower
than the recent market price.

6. COMPARABLE ANALYSIS

In assessing whether the consideration is fair and reasonable, we have carried out
research into other Asian telecommunications operating companies and the basis of their
valuation.

(i)  Comparison with listed companies

We have considered the price earnings (P/E) ratio and enterprise value (“EV”)/
earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) ratio
of listed companies engaged in the telecommunications business. For this purpose,
we have reviewed Asian telecommunications companies which have a similar service
mix as PLDT. Generally speaking, we note that the two Indian mobile
telecommunications operators listed below have a higher EV/EBITDA multiple than
other Asian companies. This reflects in part the very rapid growth rate of the Indian
market.

In our analysis, we have excluded Indian players and only compared PLDT
with other similar emerging Asia courterparts {“Comparable Companies”). The
valuation multiples set out below have been computed on a historical basis, using
financial data obtained from their respective latest available annual/interim/
quarterly reports, as appropriate.

Relative Price
contribution to Current earnings EV/
Comparables total revenue  Country market cap  ratio (P/E) EBITDA
(LSS miltion)
Indian companies (excluded)
Bhartt Airtel Limited 70% Mobile India 33,175.40 64.0 19.20

12% Fixed-line
12% Broadband

Reliance Communications 61% Mobile [ndia 22,714.80 N/A 15.20
Limited {“Reliance”) 30% Fixed-line
6% Broadband

Noete:  Reliance recorded a profit of approximately U5$1.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2005, which we consider not meaningful as a basis to calculate '/E and EV/EBITDA
ratios in view of its large market capitalization of about US$23 billion.
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Relative Price
contribution to Carrent earnings EV/
| Comparables total revenue  Country market cap  ratio (P/E) EBITDA

(LSS mitlion)
Other Asian telecommunication operators

Hutchison Telecommunications 91% Mobile Hong Kong 11,560.53 N/A 12.58
International Limited 9% Fixed-line
{*HTIL"}

Note:  HTIL recorded a loss of approximately HK$150 million for the year ended 31 December
2005 and hence no P/E ratio is available.

Maxis Communications 97% Mobile Malaysia 8,666.60 17.83 6.03
Berhad 3% Fixed-line
Starhub Limited 52% Mobile Singapore 3,517.84 2298 9.39
14% Fixed-line
17% Cable
11% Broadband
PT Telekomunikasi 35% Mobile Indonesia 21,146.83 23.83 513
Indonesia Thk. 26% Fixed-line
35% Broadband
Chungwa Telecom Company 0% Mobile Taiwan 18,813.30 18.60 528
Limited 36% Fixed-line
23% Broadband
AVERAGE OF
COMPARABLE COMPANIES 20.81 7.68
PLDT at Php 2,100 per  60% Mobile Philippines  8,017.12 11.05 5.92
PLDT share 40% Fixed-line

Source:  Blooemberg

As noted from the above table, the implied P/E and EV/EBITDA ratios for
PLDT represented by the consideration for the Acquisition (based on Php2,100 per
PLDT share) are at the lower end of the range of present rating of the Comparable
Companies and are lower than the average of the relevant ratios of the Comparable
Companies. On this basis, we consider the consideration represents good value for
the Company.
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(ii) Recent acquisitions in the telecommunications industry:

Since September 2005, there have been a number of transactions which invelved

the acquisition of telecommunication interests (“Comparable Deals”) as summarised

below:
Date %
announced Acquiror Targel Acquired Deal Size  EV/EBITDA?
(LSS miflion)'

13 Oct 2006 Providence Equity Idea Cellular Limited 16.0 400 13.3
Partners LLC

30 Jun 2006 HTIL Hutchison Essar Limited 5.1 450 19.3

10Apr2006  Aditya Birla Nuvo Idea Celluiar Limited 8.1 990 121
Limited

10Mar 2006 Telekom Mataysia Spice Communication 490 179 130
Berhad Private Limited

26 Dec 2005 Maxis Communications  Aircel Cellular Limited 74.0 500 20.0
Berhad

28 Oct 2005 Vodafone Group Plc Bharti Airte] Limited 18.05 1,481 18.9

18 Qct 2005 Essar Teleholdings Hutchisen Essar Limited 32 47 143
Limited

26 Sep 2005 Hulchison Essar Limited BPL Mabile Communications  100.0 1,128 19.1

Limited

Mean 16.5

1. Reflects value of equity stake purchased in transaction,

2. Based on historical last 12 months EBITDA for HTIL/Hutch Essar, Vodafone/Bharti,

Essar/Hutch Essar. Values for remaining deals based on estimates for EV/FYOSEBITDA
from brokerage research reports.

As shown in the table above, the implied EV/EBITDA for PLDT of 5.92 times
represented by the consideration for the Acquisition is the lowest amongst the

Comparable Deals and is significantly lower than their mean of 16.5.

7. FINANCIAL EFFECTS OF THE ACQUISITION

Following Completion, the Group’s effective attributable interest in PLDT will
increase from approximately 23% to approximately 29%. PLDT will remain as an associated
company of the Group and its results will continue to be equity accounted for in the

accounts of the Group. In view of the profitable track record as shown in the paragraph
headed “Summary of business and results of PLDT” above, the consolidation of the Group's
control over the approximately 13.8% stake in PLDT by the Acquisition will have a positive

impact on the earnings of the Group.
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Based on the pro forma financial information of the enlarged Group after the
Acquisition set out in Appendix III to the Circular, the total assets of the Group will be
increased by approximately US$420 million (representing the acquisition cost for the
approximately 46% stake of PTIC of approximately US$510.6 net of the internal cash
resources of approximately US$90.6 million utilized for funding the Acquisition)
immediately following Completion. In this pro forma analysis, the total liabilities of the
Group will also be increased by approximately US$420 million due to the additional bank
borrowings for the Acquisition. As a result of the increase in bank borrowings and the
utilisation of internal resources to fund the Acquisition, the pro forma gearing of the
Group (calculated on the basis of net debt divided by total equity) will increase from
approximately 1.12 times as at 31 December 2005 to approximately 1.84 times. However,
as the borrowings for financing the Acquisition are mostly long-term and the assets being
acquired are effectively listed shares, which the Group can readily liquidate to repay the
bank borrowings if the Group is required to do so. In this context, we consider this
increase in gearing remains within prudent limits. If the Group were to mark its attributable
interest in PLDT to market, the gearing level as calculated above would be considerably
less.

8. DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Acquisition involves the purchase of a further approximately 46% stake in PTIC,
the sole material asset of which is a holding of approximately 13.8% of PLDT's issued
common share capital. Although this represents a minority stake in an unlisted vehicle, as
the Company already holds approximately 54% of PTIC, the Acquisition will allow the
Company to further consolidate its control over the approximately 13.8% stake in PLDT,
bringing its economic interest in PLDT up to approximately 29%.

PLDT is a growing and successful company with which the Company is fully familiar,
having held a significant investment since 1998. PLDT has become a core asset of the
Group, with its attributable market value to the Group exceeding the market capitalisation
of the Company and with a strong correlation between the movements of the two
companies’ share prices. We consider therefore that the opportunity which has occurred
for the Company to consolidate its control of PTIC is in line with the strategic direction of
the Company.

Average trading in the PLDT shares in the market is about 3.3 million shares per
month. As the Acquisition is equivalent to about 12.1 million PLDT shares, we do not
think it would be possible to accumulate such a holding by market purchases without
driving the price sharply higher.

The equivalent price of Php2,100 per PLDT share is attractive compared to recent
market prices, with the PLDT shares closing at Php2,560 on the Latest Practicable Date.
The ratings of comparable Asian telecommunication operators and recent past transactions
in the industry are also at higher levels than the levels reflected by the Acquisition.
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The gearing of the Group after completion of the Acquisition will increase (on a pro
forma basis) from approximately 1.12 times as at 31 December 2005 to approximately 1.84
times. However, we consider it remains within prudent limits in the circumstances, as
discussed in the paragraph headed “Financial effects of the Acquisition” above.

The price was set in this case by an open auction price, with the right of MPAH, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to match it arising from the terms of PTIC's
articles of incorporation. To the best of knowledge and belief of the Directors, there is no
conflict of interest in this case and all Shareholders will be able to vote at the Special
General Meeting.

9. OPINION

Based on the above principal factors and reasons, we consider that the Acquisition
is on normal commercial terms which are fair and reasonable to the Shareholders and that
the Acquisition is in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
Accordingly, we advise the Independent Board Committee to recommend, and we ourselves
recommend, the Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolution to be proposed at the
Special General Meeting to approve the Acquisition.

Yours faithfully,
for and on behalf of
SOMERLEY LIMITED
M. N. Sabine
Chairman




APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

A. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR LAST THREE FINANCIAL YEARS

1. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND CONDITIONS OF THE FIRST
PACIFIC GROUP

The following financial information has been extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group as published in the Company’s annual reports for the
years ended 31 December 2004 and 2005 and the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2006.

Six months
ended 30 June Year ended 31 December
2006 2005 2004 2003
LIS$ million  US$ million US$ milltion US$ million
{Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
Turnover 1,136.5 1,986.1 2,054.6 2,161.8
Profit before taxation 136.9 165.4 181.3 170.2
Taxation (39.6) (26.6) (31.9) {35.2)
Profit for the period/year
from continuing operations 97.3 138.8 149.4 135.0
Profit for the period/year
from a discontinued operation - - 18.8 -
Profit before minority interest 97.3 138.8 168.2 135.0
Minority interest {25.1) (35.8) (44.3) {60.9)
Profit attributable to equity
holders of the parent 72.2 103.0 123.9 74.1
Ordinary share dividends
Interim - 2006 and 2005:
U.S. (.13 cent
{2004 and 2003: Nil)
per share 4.1 4.1 - -
Final - 2005: U.S. 0.26 cent
{2004 and 2003: Nil)
per share 8.2 - -
123 - -
Earnings per share (U.5. cents)
- Basic 2.26 3.23 3.89 2.33
- Diluted 2.23 3.17 N/A N/A

N/A: Not applicable




APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Assets and liabilities of the Group

As at 30 June As at 31 December
2006 2005 2004 2003
LIS§ million US$ million US$ million  USS million
(Unaudited} (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total assets 2,624.9 2,347.1 2,168.7 2,213.5
Less: Total habilities 1,773.8 1,640.4 1,577 .6 1,785.7

Minority interest 404.2 3239 363.7 376.7
Net assets 446.9 382.8 227 .4 51.1

Note:  The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"”} (which also include the Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“HK
GAAP”). Significant changes to HK GAAD had been implemented since 2005 as a consequence of
a number of new and revised HKASs and HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which became effective
for accounting periods commencing on, or after 1 January 2005. The key changes have been
summarized in Note 2(B) to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2005 and Note 1(b) to the condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2006 as set out on pages 61 to 65 and page 35, respectively, of this Appendix.
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UNAUDITED CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE SIX
MONTH PERIODS ENDED 30 JUNE 2006 AND 30 JUNE 2005

Set out below are the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the six month periods ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005,
respectively, together with the notes thereon extracted from the interim report of
the Company for the six month period ended 30 June 2006.

Condensed Consolidated Profit and Loss Statement

(Unaudited)
For the six months
ended 30 June
2006 2005
Notes US$ millions  US$ millions

Turnover 2 1,136.5 9425
Cost of sales (851.2) (702.7)
Gross Profit 285.3 239.8
Gain on dilutions and divestments 17.3 3.0
Distribution costs {95.8) (81.7)
Administrative expenses {65.6) (57.3)
Other operating expenses, net {13.8) (9.3)
Net borrowing costs 3 (58.7) (59.2)
Share of profits less losses of

associated companies 68.2 71.1
Profit Before Taxation 4 136.9 106.4
Taxation 5 (39.6) (20.4)
Profit for the Period 97.3 86.0
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 6 72.2 60.8

Minority interest 25.1 25.2

97.3 86.0

Ordinary Share Dividend 7
U.S. 0.13 cent (2005: U.S. 0.13 cent} per share 4.1 4.1
Earnings Per Share Attributable to

Equity Holders of the Parent (U.S. cents) 8
Basic 2.26 1.91
Diluted 2.23 1.74
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Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

Non-current Assets

Property and equipment

Plantations

Associated companies

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Accounts receivable, other receivables
and prepayments

Goodwill

Prepaid land premiums

Available-for-sale assets

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Available-for-sale assets
Accounts receivable, other receivables
and prepayments
Inventories
Non-current assets held for sale

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals
Short-term borrowings
Provision for taxation
Current portion of deferred liabilities and
provisions

Net Current Assets

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities
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Notes

10

11

12

13

17¢d)

13

14

15

(Unaudited)
At At
30 June 31 December
2006 2005
LSS millions  UIS$% millions
740.2 6229
234.4 169.0
418.8 381.7
70.4 —
15.8 11.7
40.9 32.7
34.2 34.5
4.6 2.7
17.0 15.4
114.4 130.8
1,690.7 1,401.4
309.8 296.0
4.5 4.7
53.8 52.4
263.9 286.7
299.9 303.0
2.3 2.9
934.2 945.7
296.7 278.6
4221 345.0
15.5 11.2
5.9 153
740.2 650.1
194.0 295.6
1,884.7 1,697.0
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(Unaudited)
At At
30 June 31 December
2006 2005

Notes US§ millions  US$ millions

Equity
Issued share capital 31.9 31.9
Other reserves 928.0 927.9
Accumulated losses (513.00 (577.0)

Equity attributable to equity holders

of the parent 446.9 382.8
Minority interest 404.2 323.9
Total Equity 851.1 706.7

Non-current Liabilities

Long-term borrowings 732.5 7442
Deferred liabilities and provisions 15 98.6 92.7
Deferred tax liabilities 163.3 114.1
Derivative liability 16 39.2 39.3
1,033.6 990.3
1,884.7 1,697.0
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Condensed Consclidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity atiributable to equity halders of the parent

Unrealized  Unrealized
gainson  (losses)

Share  availeble-  gainson (Unaudited)
Issued Share  options  for-sale cashflow  Exchenge Accumulated Minority Tatal
capital  premium issued assets hedges Teserve losses Total interest equity

LSS millions  USS milfions  USS millions 1SS miflions  USS millions LSS millions  US$ millions LSS millions  USS millions  US§ millions

Balance at 1 Janwary 2003 s 958.2 14 17 - (39.8) {675.2) 1612 3637 649

Changes in equity for 2005:
Exchange differences on
translating foreign

operations - - - - - {6.8) - (6.8} {149) 21.7)
Unrealized gains on

available-for-sale assets - - - 0.7 - - - 0.7 - 07
Unrealized losses on

cash flow hedges - - - - 22) - - 2.5 - 22)

Net income and expense

recognized directly

in equity - - - 07 an (6.8} - (8.3) (149) {113)
Net profit for the period - - - - - - 60.8 605 52 850

Total zecognized income and

expense for the period - - - 0.7 2.1) (0.8} 608 325 10.3 628
Dilution of interest in an

associated company - - - - - 0.2 - 0.2 - 02
Change in attributable

interests - - - - - - - - {16 (16)
Dividends declared and paid

to minority shareholders - - - - - - - - (29.4) (294)
Equity-settled share option

arrangements - - 34 - - - - 3 - 34
Balarice at 30 June 2005 ns 938.2 78 24 {23} {66.4) (6144) 373 330 660.3
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Equity attributzble te equity holders of the parent

Unsealized Unrealized

gainson  (lossesh

Share  available-  gainsen {Unaudited)
[ssued Share  options forsale  cash flow  Exchange Accumulated Minority Total
cpitll  premium issued assets hedges teserve losses Total interest equity

USS milffons  USS millions  USS millions  USS millions LSS millions  USS millions LSS mrillions LSS millions  USS millions  USS millions

Balance at 1 January 2006 9 939.1 93 64 40 {309) (577.0} 3828 3239 6.7

Changes in equily for 2006:
Exchange differences en

translating foreign

operations - - - - - 64 - 64 163 a7
Unrealized gains on

available-for-sale assets - - - 13 - - - 13 13 16
Unrealized losses on cash

fMow hedges - - - - {10.0) - - {10.0} - {10.0)

Net income and expense
recognized directly in equity - - - 13 {100) b4 - {23} 176 133
Net profit for the period - - - - - - 2 71l 5i 973

Total recognized income and

expense for the period - - - 13 (1.0 b4 2 699 27 1126
Dilution and divestment of

interest in an associated

company - - - - - 04 - 04 - 04
Acquisition of subsidiary

companies - - - - - - - - 339 Ha
Shares issued to minority

inlerest by 2 subsidiary

company - - - - - - - - 13 15
Change in attributable

inlerests - - - - - - - - 13 L3
Dividends declared o

minorily shareholders - - - - - - - - 23) {23}
Issue of shares upon the

exercise of shate oplions - 0.2 {0.1) - - - - 01 - 01
Equity-settled share option

arrangemels - - 19 - - - - 19 - 19
Dividends - - - - - - (82) 8.2} - {8.2)
Balance at 30 June 2006 ns 9393 111 77 (60) (1) (513.0) 69 42 8311
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Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(Unaudited)
For the six months
ended 30 June

2006 2005
Notes US% millions  US§ millions
Profit Before Taxation 136.9 106.4
Adjustments for:
Interest expenses 68.3 64.6
Depreciation 315 32.7
Decrease/(increase) in other
non-current assets 23.0 (4.3)
Decrease in accounts receivabies, other
receivables and prepayment
(Non-current) 3.9 5.6
Equity-settled share option expense 1.4 3.4
Recognition of prepaid land premiums 1.4 1.1
Loss on changes in fair value of
non-current assets held for sale 0.6 -
Share of profits less losses of associated
companies (68.2) (71.1)
Gain on changes in fair value of plantations (30.0) (8.5)
Gain on dilution of interest in
an associated company (10.2) (3.0)
Interest income {9.6) (5.4)
Gain on divestment of interest in
an associated company (7.1) -
Gains on sale of property and equipment (0.7) -
Dividend income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (0.5) -
Foreign exchange and derivative
(gains}/losses, net (0.4) 24.3
Dividend income from
available-for-sale assets - (1.3)
Others 13.1 52
Operating profit before working
capital changes 153.4 149.7
Decrease in working capital 18.4 23.0
Net cash generated from operations 171.8 172.7
Interest received 7.8 4.8
Interest paid (55.2) (53.8)
Tax paid {15.8) (37.5)
Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 108.6 86.2
(i) Changes in working capital are stated excluding movements duc to acquisition and disposal of subsidiary

companies.
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Dividend received from an associated
company

Proceeds from sale of property and
equipment and others

Dividend received from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Acquisition of assets designated as
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Acquisition of subsidiary companies

Purchase of property and equipment
and others

Increased investment in an associated
company

Loans to associated companies

Acquisitions of available-for-sale assets

Proceeds from termination of derivative
transactions

Acquisition of an associated company

Net Cash (Outflow)Inflow from Investing
Activities

Net borrowings raised/(repaid)

Shares issued to minority interest by a
subsidiary company

Decrease in restricted cash

Issue of shares upon the exercise of
share options

Dividend paid to shareholders

Dividends paid to minority sharehelders by
a subsidiary company

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from
Financing Activities

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Exchange translation

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 30 June

Representing
Cash and cash equivalents
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(Unaudited)
For the six months
ended 30 June
2006 2005
Notes US$ millions  US$ millions

23.3 10.0
6.3 2.2

0.5 -

17(a) (66.5) -
17(b) (31.7) 1.0
(27.2) (23.6)

17(c) (6.1) (28.2)
(1.1} (0.2)

(0.3) (22.5)

- 96.3

- (15.0)

(102.8) 20.0

9.2 (8.8)

2.5 -

0.2 -

0.1 -

(8.2) -

- (21.7)

3.8 (30.5)

9.6 75.7

296.0 186.6

4.2 (4.6)

309.8 257.7

309.8 257.7
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Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements

1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Preparation

The Condensed Interim Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Accounting Standard (HKAS) 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants {HKICPA) and the disclosure requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
Listing Rules) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (SEHK). The Condensed
Interim Financial Statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies
adopted in the Group’s 2005 audited Financial Statements, except as described below.

(b) Impact of New and Revised HKFRSs

Certain changes to Hong Kong Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (Hong Kong
GAAP) have been implemented during 2006 as a consequence of the following new and revised
HKASs, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) and Hong Kong (International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee) — Interpretations (HK(IFRIC) - Ints} issued by
the HKICPA, which became effective for accounting periods commencing on, or after, 1 January

2006:

HKAS 19 Amendment “Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures”

HKAS 21 Amendment “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates — Net
Investment in a Foreign Operation”

HKAS 39 Amendment “Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup
Transactions”

HKAS 39 Amendment “The Fair Value Option”

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 4 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and

Amendments Insurance Contracts — Financial Guarantee Contracts”
HKFRSs 1 & 6 “First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Amendments Standards and Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources”
HKFRS 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources”
HK({IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”
HK(IFRIC)-Int 5 “Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds”
HK(IFRIC)-Int 6 “Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market —

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment”

Except for HKAS 39 Amendment “The Fair Value Option”, the adoption of the
proneuncements listed above has had no material impact on the accounting policies of the
Group and the methods of computation in the Group’s Condensed Interim Financial Statements,
The adoption of HKAS 39 Amendment “The Fair Value Option” has resulted in the Group
applying more restrictive criteria for designating financial instruments as financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

During the period, the Group designated 1.1 per cent interest in PLDT acquired during
2006 as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Please refer to Note 12 for details.
The adoption has had no effect on both the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for
the periods ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005 and equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent at 30 June 2006 and 31 December 2005,
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2. TURNOVER AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
For the six months
ended 30 June
2006 2005
LSS millions Lss millions
Turnover
Sale of goods and properties 1,117.2 919.5
Rendering of services 19.3 23.0
Total 1,136.5 942.5

Segmental information, relating to the Group’s business and geographic interests, foltows. Analysis
by business segment is the Group’s primary reporting format as this is more relevant to the Group when
making operational and financial decisions.

By Principal Business Activity — 2006
For the six months ended 30 June

Consumer
Telecom- Food  Property and Head 2006
munications Products  Transpertation Office Total

USs miilions USS mitlions 1SS nillions LSS millions USS miflions

Profit and Loss 1
Segment revenue - turnover - L1647 318 - 1,136.5
Segment results - 135.3 (8.1) 0.2 1274
Net borrowing costs (58.7)
Share of profits less losses of
associated companies 8.9 0.8) 0.1 - 68.2
Profit before taxation 1369
Taxation (39.6)
Profit for the period 97.3

Other [nformation

Capital expenditure - 19.6 39 1.7 25.2
Depreciation - 285 30 - s
Foreign exchange and

derivative losses, net - - - 5.1 5.1
Other non-cash expenses - 1.0 94 14 11.8

By Principal Geographical Market - 2006

For the six months ended 30 June
The 2006
Philippines Indonesia Hong Kong Total
US$ millions LSS miltions 1SS miltions USs§ miltions

Segment revenue - turnever 318 1,1047 - 1,136.5
Capital expenditure 39 19.6 1.7 252
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By Principal Business Activity — 2005

Fer the six months ended 30 June

Consumer
Telecom- Food Property and Head 2005
munications Products  Transportation Office Total

LiS$ millions USS millions USS miltions US$ millions USS millions
Profit and Loss

Segment revenue - turnover - 9116 30.9 - 9423
Segment results - 1001 219 (27.5) 945
Net borrowing costs (59.2)
Share of profits less losses
of associated companies 70 - 0.1 - R

Profit before taxation 106.4
Taxation (20.4)
Profit for the period 86.0

Other Information

Capital expenditure - 213 23 - 236
Depreciation - 311 1.6 - 317
Foreign exchange ard derivative

losses, net - 139 - 104 243
Other non-cash expenses - 11 t5 34 50

By Principal Geographical Market — 2005

For the six months ended 30 June
The 2005
Fhilippines Indonesia Total
USS millions  US$ wmillions  US$ millions

Segment revenue - turnover 30.9 9116 942.5
Capital expenditure 2.3 21.3 23.6
3. NET BORROWING COSTS

For the six months
ended 30 June

2006 2005
US$ millions LSS millions

Bank loans and other loans
— wholly repayable within five years 64.1 64.0
- not wholly repayable within five vears 4.2 0.6
Total Borrowing Costs 68.3 64.6
Less interest income (9.6) {5.4)
Net Borrowing Costs 58.7 59.2
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4, PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

For the six months
ended 30 June

2006 2005
US$ mrillfons US3 nullions
Profit Before Taxation is Stated After (Charging)/Crediting
Cost of inventories sold {669.8) (552.7)
Emplovee remuneration (109.7) (91.0)
Depreciation (Note 10) (31.5) (32.7)
Cost of services rendered (18.9) (21.2)
Impairment of an associated company (5.0 -
Impairment of property and equipment (Note 10 2.7 -
Doubtful debt provisions (included in distribution costs) 2.1 (1.6)
L.oss on changes in fair value of non-current assets held for sale (0.6) -
Gain on changes in fair value of plantations 30.0 8.5
Gain on dilution of interest in an associated company 10.2 3.0
Gain on divestment of interest in an associated company 7.1 -
Gain on sale of property and equipment 0.7 -
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 0.5 -
Foreign exchange and derivative gains/(losses), net (Nofc 6) 04 (24.3)
Realized gain on sale of available-for-sale assets 0.2
Dividend income from available-for-sale assets - 1.3

5. TAXATION

No Hong Kong profits tax (2005: Nil) has been provided as the Group had no estimated assessable
profits (2005: Nil} in Hong Kong for the period. Taxation on assessable profits generated outside Hong
Kong has been provided at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Company’s
subsidiary companies operate.

For the six months
ended 30 June

2006 2005
USS millions LISS millions

Subsidiary Companies - Overseas
Current taxation 20.0 155
Deferred taxation 19.6 4.9
Total 39.6 204

Included within share of profits less losses of associated companies is taxation of US$13.7 million
{(2005: US$24.2 million) and which is analyzed as follows.
For the six months
ended 30 June

2006 2005
U558 millions LSS millions

Associated Companies — Overseas
Current taxation 21.0 21.1
Deferred taxation (7.3) 3.1
Total 13.7 24.2
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6. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent includes US$3.7 million (2005: US$7.7 million)
net foreign exchange and derivative losses which comprise US$0.4 million (2005: US$7.7 million) losses
on changes in the fair values of derivatives and the translation of the unhedged foreign currency
denominated borrowings, and a U5$3.3 million (2005: Nil) loss on changes in the fair value of 1.1 per
cent PLDT shares acquired by the Group in 2006 and designated as financial assets at fair value through
profit or less, and U5%$6.9 million (2005: US5$14.6 million) net non-recurring gains.

Analysis of Foreign Exchange and Derivative Losses

For the six months
ended 30 June

2006 2005
LIS$ millions LIs$ millions

Forvign exchange and derivative gains /{losses)
- Subsidiary companies 0.4 {24.3)
- Associated companies (0.9) 11.4
Subtotal (0.5) (12.9)
Attributable to taxation and minority interest 3.2 5.2
Total (3.7) (7.7)

The non-recurring gaing of US$6.9 million for 2006 mainly comprise a gain on dilution upon the
conversion of PLDT's convertible preference shares of U5$10.2 million and a gain on divestment of the
Group’s interest in PLDT of US$7.1 million on settlement of certain Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes
with PLDT shares. 2005's non-recurring gains of US%14.6 million mainly comprised goodwill
compensation received by Indofood in connection with the establishment of a joint venture entity of
US$5.0 million, a gain on dilution of the Group’s interest in PLDT of US$3.0 million and Metre Pacific’s
adjustments made to amounts owed to Pacific Plaza Towers contractor and others.

7. ORDINARY SHARE DIVIDEND

At a meeting held on 7 September 2006, the Directors declared an interim cash dividend of
U.5. 0.13 cent (2005: U.S. 0.13 cent) per ordinary share totaling US$4.1 million {2005: USS$4.1 million).

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for the period attributable to
equity holders of the parent of US$72.2 million (2005: US$60.8 millien), and the weighted average
number of 3,189.0 million (2005: 3,186.0 million) ordinary shares in issue during the period.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is based on: (i) profit for the period
attributable to equity holders of the parent of US$72.2 million (2005: US$60.8 million) reduced by
US54$0.2 million (2005: US$4.5 million) in respect of the dilutive impact from the full conversion of
convertible preference shares and share options issued by its associate PLDT, and (ii) a share base equal
to the aggregate of the weighted average number of 3,189.0 million (2005: 3,186.0 million) ordinary
shares in issue during the period (as used in the basic earnings per share calculation) and the weighted
average of 46.9 million (2005: 40.4 million) ordinary shares assumced to have been issucd at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of all share options of the Company during the period.

The impact upon full conversion of Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes has not been taken into

account in calculating the earnings per share because its anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
share for the period would actually increase the earnings per share.
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9.

10,

11.

affect the results or net assets of the Group, are set out on pages 49 to 50.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

(a}

{b)

Details of principal subsidiary companies which, in the opinion of the Directors, materially
affect the results or net assets of the Group, are set out on pages 49 to 50.

Metro Pacific group contributes to the Group’s property and transportation business
segment (refer to Note 2). Since the fourth quarter of 2001, it has been unable to meet its
debt repayment obligations. Metro Pacific’s ability to continue as a going concern is
dependent on a number of factors, which includes its ability to settle or restructure its
debt obligations, the availability of refinancing of debts and the success of its plan to
revitalize its business and gencrate sufficient cash flows to ensure sustained and profitable
operations. Metro Pacific had successfully reduced its parent company’s debt obligations
to Pesos 566 million (US$10.7 million} at 30 June 2006 from Pesos 11.7 billion {U$5220.3
million) at 31 December 2001 when the debt reduction program was commenced.

Negros Navigation Co., Inc. (Nenaco), a 99.0 per cent-owned subsidiary company of
Metro Pacific, obtained approval for its corporate rehabilitation plan from the Manila
Regional Trial Court on 4 October 2004. With the approval of the corporate rehabilitation
plan, Nenaco will focus on enhancing its profitability by strengthening its marketing
efforts and operational efficiencies. Metre Pacific is reviewing a number of strategic options

with respect to its investment in Nenaco.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The movements in property and equipment are set out below.

2006
LSS millions

2005
LSS millions

At 1 January 622.9 647 .4
Exchange translation 326 (29.0)
Additions 25.2 23.6
Disposals (1.1} (2.0)
Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 17(b}} 94.8 2.0
Depreciation (Note 4) (31.5) (32.7)
Impairment {Notc 4) (2.7} -
Reclassifications - 17.5
At 30 June 740.2 626.8
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
At At
30 June 31 December
2006 2005

USS millions

LSS millions

PLDT 3%90.6 350.4
Level Up 15.0 14.0
Metro Pacific’s associated companies 10.3 13.8
Others 29 3.5
Total 418.8 381.7

Details of principal associated companies which, in the opinion of the Directors, materially
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12, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The amount represents the fair value, determined based on a quoted market price, of 1.1 per cent
interest in PLDT acquired by the Group during the period and designated as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss to partially offset against the exposure arising from changes in the fair
value of the option element embedded in Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes. The Directors consider
that such a designation is appropriate since the change in value of such assets will have a strong
correlation with any change in the fair value of the option embedded in the Exchangeable Notes.

13. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Inctuded in accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments are trade receivables of
US$172.8 million (31 December 2005: US$173.3 million), with an ageing profile as below.

At At

30 June 31 December

2006 2005

LSS millions USE millions

0 to 30 days 140.5 148.5
31 to 60 days 9.6 8.8
61 to 90 days 5.3 6.0
Over 90 days 17.4 10.0
Total 172.8 173.3

Indofood allows export customers 60 days of credit and local customers an average of 30 days of
credit. Metro Pacific/Metro Pacific Investments Corporation (MPIC) collects contract receivables related
to property sales by installments over periods ranging between onc to five years.

14, ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Included in accounts payable, other payables and accruals are trade payables of US5163.4 million
(31 December 2005: US$172.7 million), with an ageing profile as below.

At At

30 June 31 December

2006 2005

USS millions USS millions

0 to 30 days 146.0 160.8
31 to 60 days 12.8 1.7
61 to 90 days 1.1 1.3
Over 90 days 4.0 8.9
Total 163.9 172.7

—41 -




APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

15. DEFERRED LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

Deferred Long-term 2006 2005
Pension income  payables Others Total Total
LiS$ mitlions US$ millions USS millions USS millions US$ millions US$ millions

At 1 January 51.2 26.0 145 16.3 108.0 1251
Exchange translation 2.6 - 0.3 0.1 3.0 (2.0)
Additions 9.0 0.1 2.1 0.6 118 15.0
Acquisition of subsidiary

companies (Note 17(b)) 0.2 - - - 0.2 -
Payment and utilization (0.6) 0.7) (3.9) (13.3) (18.5) (13.7)
Reclassification - - - - - (11.1)
AL 30 June 624 25.4 13.0 3.7 104.5 113.3
Presented as:
Current Portion 1.1 1.3 2.3 1.2 5.9 16.6
Non-current Portion 61.3 24.1 10.7 25 98.6 96.7
Total 62.4 25.4 13.0 3.7 104.5 113.3

Pension relates to accrued liabilities in relation to retirement schemes and long service payments.

Deferred income relates to upfront service fee received by Asia Link B.V. (ALBV), a wholly-
owned subsidiary company of the Company, from Smart Communications, Inc. (Smart}, a wholly-owned
subsidiary company of PLDT, in respect of their arrangement for a service agreement {Note 20(e)) and
the unreatized gross profit arising on property sales with installment collections.

Long-term payables relate to Metro Pacific/MPIC’s estimated liabilities for property development
and Indofood’s accrued costs for dismantlement, removal or restoration in relation to property and
equipment.

Others mainly relates to provisions for warranty claims.
16. DERIVATIVE LIABILITY

Derivative liability represents the fair value of the option embedded in the Exchangeable Notes
issued by First Pacific Finance Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company. Details
regarding the issue of the Exchangeable Notes is set out on page 100 of First Pacific’'s 2005 Annual
Report. The fair value of the option liability was remeasured to US$39.2 million (31 December 2005:
US$39.3 millien) on a mark-to-market basis at 30 June 2006, reflecting primarily the change in PLDT
share price.

17. NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Acquisition of Assets Designated as Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss

The cash outflow of US566.5 million (2005: Nil) relates principally to the Group’s

acquisition of 1.1 per cent interest in PLDT and designated as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.
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(b) Acquisition of Subsidiary Companies

Indofood’s
acquisition
of PT Sarana
Indefood’s  Inti Pratama
acquisition of (SAIN) and its
Pacsari Pte Ltd subsidiary
{(PPL) companies Others Total
USS millions US$ miliions 1155 millions Us$ millions

Consideration
Cash and cash equivalents 10.5 1.5 - 42.0
Accounts receivable, other receivables

and prepayments (Current)® - 14.9 0.6 15.5
Other non-curren! assets™ - - 5.2 5.2
Total 40.5 16.4 5.8 62.7
Net Assets
Property and equipment (Nofe 10} 87.9 1.5 5.4 94.8
Plantations - 26.4 - 26.4
Accounts receivable, other receivables

and prepayments {Non-current} - 29 - 29
Prepaid land premiums - 1.9 - 19
Deferred tax assets - 1.0 - 1.0
Other non-current assets - 4.8 1.2 6.0
Cash and cash equivalents 9.1 0.6 0.6 10.3
Accounts receivable, other receivables

and prepayments (Current) 0.2 0.4 1.0 1.6
Inventories 0.1 0.3 0.2 0.6
Accounts payable, other payables and

accruals {5.4) (3.7) (0.7) (9.8)
Short-term borrowings (15.1) - - (15.1)
Provision for taxation - (0.1) - (0.1)
Long-term borrowings - (4.2) - 4.2)
Deferred liabilities and provisions

(Note 15) - {0.1) (0.1) 0.2)
Deferred tax labilities (15.5} {8.1) (1.2) (24.9)
Minority interest (27.9) {74) (0.6} (35.9)
Total Net Assets Acquired at Fair Value 33.4 16.2 58 55.4
Goodwill 7.1 0.2 - 7.3

Net (Qutflow)/Inflow of Cash and
Cash Equivalents Per Consolidated
Cash Flow Statement (31.4) (0.9} 0.6 (31.7)

(1) Mainly represents deposit paid for the acquisition of SAIN's convertible bonds made by PT Salim
fvomas Pratama (SIMP), a 80 per cent-oumed subsidiary company of Indofood, in December
2005.

(ii) Represents Indofood’s investment in PT Tahta Baltera's convertible bonds in November 2005,
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18.

Tn June 2006, Indofood acquired 55.0 per cent interest in PPL for US$40.5 million and
SIMP completed the acquisition of 70.0 per cent interest in SAIN for US$16.4 million. PPL is
engaged in shipping operations and SAIN is engaged in the operations of oil palm breeding,
research management and plantations in Indonesia.

Since the date of acquisitions, the above acquired companies recorded profit for the
period of US$0.1 million, which were included in the profit and loss of the Group. 1f all of the
above acquisitions had taken place on 1 January 2006, the turnover and profit for the period of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2006 would be US$1,141.2 mitlion and US$99.1
million, respectively. The subsidiary companies acquired during the period had minimal net
cash outflows from operating and investing activities and no cashflow in respect of financing
activities during the period.

(c) Increased Investment in an Associated Company

The cash outflow of US$6.1 million (2005: US$28.2 million) relates to the Group’s increased
investment in PLDT. 2006’s purchase was principally made in accordance with the terms of
Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes.

(d) Restricted Cash

At 30 June 2006, the Group had US$4.5 million (31 December 2005: US$4.7 million) of
cash which was restricted as to use. The full amount has been released in July 2006.

(e} Major Non-cash Transaction

During the period, the Group settled US$7.4 million of Head Office's Exchangeable Notes
through the transfer of 0.1 per cent PLDT shares.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

{a) Capital Expenditure

At At
30 June 31 December
2006 2005
LIS millions USS$ millions

Commitments in respect of subsidiary companies:
Authorized, but not contracted for 7.9 15.1
Contracted, but not provided for 58 7.5
Total 13.7 22.6

Capital expenditure commitments principally relate to Indofood’s purchase of property,
machinery and equipment.

(b} Contingent Liabilities

At 30 June 2006, neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent
liabilities {31 December 2005; Nil).
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19. SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share options of the Company and its subsidiary companies granted to the
Directors and senior executives of the Company and its subsidiary companies at 30 June 2006 are set out

below.
(a) Particulars of the Company’s Share Option Scheme
Share Share Share Share  Market
options options  options  option price
held at erercised  heldat  exercise  atdate
1 January during the 30 June price  of grant
Company 006 period 2006 (HES) {HXS)
Execulive Directors
Manuel ¥, Pangilinan 31,500,000 - 31,500,000 L7& 1.76
Edwand A. Tortorici 31,800,000 - 31,500,000 176 1.76
Robert C. Nicholson 3,500,000 - 24,500,000 1.76 1.7%
Non-executive Directors
Ambassador Albert F. del Rosario 2,840,000 - 2,840,000 1.76 1.76
Benny 5. Santoso 2,840,000 - LE00N 176 1.76
Independent Non-executive
Dizectors
Graham L. Pickles 2,840,000 (482,000) 2,338,000 176 176
Edward X.Y. Chen, GBS, CBE, [P 2,840,000 - 150000 176 176
Senior Execulives 32,286,000 - 32,286,000 176 176
- - L0000 315 B
Total 131,746,000 (482,000 135,764,000
(b) Particulars of Metro Pacific’s Share Option Scheme
Share Share Share Share
options options options option
held at  canceled held at exercise
1January during the 30 June price
Metro Pacific 2006 period 2006 (Peso)
Semior Executives 313684  (267.649) 16,035 346

LW

Grant date

1 June
004
1 june
004
{ June
2004

1]une
2004
1June
2004

1]une
LS
1]une
1004
1 June
004
7 June
2006

Grant date

1 August

by

December

2008

December

2008

December

2008

June
2005
Jure

2003

June
2005
June
2005

December

2004

December

01

fram

June
303
June
O3
June
005

June
005
Jine
105

June
2005
June
305
June
1003
June
207

Fully vested Exercisable Exercisable
until

May
014
May
04
May
014

May
bt
May
W

May
04
May
04
May
W14
June
016

Exercisable Exercisable

from

August
1997

until

August
2007

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiary companies a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of
the Directors or their spouses or miner children had any right to subscribe for securities of the Company,
or had exercised any such right during the period.
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the period are disclosed

as follows:

(a)

(b}

{0)

{d)

(e}

(f)

The Company and certain of its group companies signed a Cooperation Agreement on 31
January 2006 with PLDT, NTT DoCoMo, Inc. and NTT Communications, Inc. which
governs the shareholding arrangements and other business arrangements, including the
rollout and development of 3G services in the Philippines, between the parties.

In April 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company converted its Pesos
430 million (US$8.6 million) investment in Metro Pacific’s preferred shares into common
shares at Peso 1 per share, which increased the Group’s economic interest in Metro Pacific
from 75.5 per cent to 76.1 per cent.

In April 2006, MPIC acquired Metro Pacific’s entire 51.0 per cent interest in Landco, Inc.
(Landco) for a consideration of Pesos 667.7 million (US$12.8 million) and a Pesos 137.7
million (UJS52.6 million} receivable from Landco at its face value. In May 2006, MPIC
converted the said receivable from Landco into new shares in Landco, with a pro-rated
contribution of Pesos 132.2 million (US$2.5 million) from AB Holdings, Inc., the 49 per
cent sharehoelder of Landco.

In May 2006, Metro Pacific repaid its outstanding liabilities owed to certain wholly-
owned subsidiary companies of the Company totaling Pesos 854 millien (US$16.4 million}).

ALBV has a technical assistance agreement with Smart for ALBV to provide Smart with
technical support services and assistance in the operations and maintenance of cellular
mobile telecommunications services for a period of four years from 23 February 2004,
subject to renewal upon mutual agrecment between the parties. The agreement provides
for quarterly payments of technical service fees equivalent to one pur cent (2005: one per
cent) of the consolidated net revenue of Smart.

ALBV also has an existing service agreement with Smart for a period of 25 years starting
1 January 1999, which shall automatically expire unless renewed by mutual agreement of
both parties. Under the agreement, ALBV provides advice and assistance to Smart in
sourcing capital equipment and negotiating with international suppliers, arranging
international financing and other services therein consistent with and for the furtherance
of the objectives of the services. Service agreement fees were paid for the whole 25-year

period.

Total fees under these arrangements amounted to Pesos 299 million (US$5.7 million) for
the period ended 30 June 2006 (2005: Pesos 278 miltion or US$5.1 million). At 30 June
2006, ALBV had outstanding receivable under the technical assistance agreement
amounting to Pesos 30 million (US$0.6 million) (31 December 2005: Pesos 194 million er
US$3.7 million).

In the ordinary course of business, Indofood has engaged in trade transactions with
certain of its associated and affiliated companies, the majority of which are related to the
Salim Family either through direct and/or common share ownership and common
management. Mr. Anthoni Salim is the Chairman and a substantial shareholder of the
Company and is the President Director and Chief Executive Officer of Indofood.
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All significant transactions with related parties, whether or not conducted under normal
terms and conditions similar to those with non-related parties, are disclosed as follows.

Nature of Transactions
For the six months
ended 30 June

2006 2005
US$ millions LS8 millions
Profit and Loss [tems
Sales of finished goods
- to associated companies 24.7 17.1
- to affiliated companies 21.0 14.7
Purchases of raw materials
- from associated companies 18.3 12.5
- from affiliated companies 1.8 34

Insurance expenses

- to affiliated companies 1.6 -
Management and technical services fee income and

royalty income

- from associated companies 0.3 0.2

- from affiliated companies 0.5 1.3
Rental expenscs

- to affiliated companies 0.6 0.7

Transportation and pump services expenses
- to affiliated companies 0.2 0.4

Approximately four per cent {2005: four per cent) of Indofooed's sales and two per cent
(2005: three per cent) of its purchases were transacted with these related parties.

Nature of Balances

At At
30 June 31 December
2006 2005
USE millions USS millions
Balance Sheet Items
Accounts receivable - trade
- from associated companies 5.2 0.1
~ from affiliated companies 5.7 4.8
Accounts receivable — non-trade
- {from associated companies - 0.1
- from affiliated companies 7.3 59
Accounts payable - trade
- to associated companies 5.2 6.4
- to affiliated companies 0.9 1.2
Accounts payable — non-trade
- to affiliated companies 0.8 0.6

Certain of the above Indofood’s related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and their details
are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on page 42 of First Pacific’s 2006
interim report.
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21.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

{a)

(b)

()

In July 2006, the Group has redecmed in full its outstanding secured bonds of US$108
million at par upon their maturity. The redemption was funded by internal cash resources,
Following the full redemption of the bonds, the security interest over the Group's
shareholding in Indofood was released.

On 16 August 2006, Indofood completed a merger between its wholly-owned edible oils
and fats subsidiary companies and SIMP, through the issuance of new shares by SIMP to
Indofooed in exchange for the full ownership of the edible oils and fats businesses. As a
result, Indofood’s effective interest in the merged SIMP increased to approximately 84
per cent from 80 per cent.

On 16 August 2006, SIMP entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with
Rascal Holdings Limited, a company owned by the Chairman of the Company, in relation
to the purchase of a 60 per cent interest in several plantation companies owning
approximately 85,500 hectares of plantation land for a consideration of Rupiah 125 billion
(US$13.7 million). Completion of the acquisition is conditional upon fulfillment of various
conditions precedent.

On 23 August 2006, Indofood entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement
with 1SG Asia Limited (I5G), a company listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (SGX - ST) Dealing and Automated Quotation System, in relation to the
proposed listing of Indofood’s oil palm plantations and edible oils and fats businesses
through a reverse takeover of ISG. The transaction is valued at 392.7 million Singapore
Doltars (U58$248.5 million) with Indofood receiving 9.982 billion new 15G shares after
injecting its oil palm plantations and edible oils and fats businesses.

Upon completion of the transaction, Indofood will become the majority shareholder of
ISG owning over 98 per cent of the enlarged issucd share capital of ISG. To comply with
SGX - ST rules on shareholding spread and distribution requirements, it is intended that
a placement of new and/or existing shares of 1SG will be carried out.

The transaction is subject to the completion of due diligence and approvals of shareholders

of the Company, Indofood and ISG as well as the regulatory authorities in Hong Keng,
Indonesia and Singapore.
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3.

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS AS AT 30 JUNE 2006
Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company

PLDT is the leading telecommunications service provider in the Philippines.
It has common shares listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange and American
Depositary Receipts {ADRs) listed on the New York Stock Exchange. It has one of
the largest market capitalizations among Philippine listed companies. Through its
three principal business groups, PLDT offers a wide range of telecommunications
services: Wireless (principally through wholly-owned subsidiary company Smart
Communications, Inc.); Fixed Line {principally through PLDT); and Information
and Communications Technology (principally through wholly-owned subsidiary
company ePLDT). PLDT has developed the Philippines” most extensive fiber optic
backbone, cellular, fixed line and satellite networks.

Sector : Telecommunications

Place of incorporation/business area : The Philippines

Issued number of shares : 182.8 million

Particular of issued shares held : Common shares of Pesos 5 par value
Economic interest/voting interest : 24.6 per cent/31.2 per cent

Further information on PLDT can be found at www.pldt.com.ph
PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk

Indofood is the premier processed-foods company in Indonesia. It is based in
Jakarta, and is listed on the Jakarta and Surabaya Stock Exchanges. Through its four
major business groups, Indofood offers a wide range of food products: Consumer
Branded Products (Noodles, Nutrition and Special Foods, Snack Foods and Foed
Seasonings), Bogasari (flour and pasta), Edible Oils and Fats {(Plantations, Cooking
Oils, Margarine and Shortening) and Distribution. Indofood is considered as one of
the world’s largest instant noodles manufacturer by volume, and the largest flour
miller in Indonesia. Indofood’s flourmill in Jakarta is one of the largest in the world
in terms of production capacity in one location. It also has an extensive distribution
network in the country.

Sector : Consumer Food Products
Place of incorporation /business area : Indonesia

Issued number of shares : 9.4 billion

Particular of issued shares held : Shares of Rupiah 100 par value
Economic interest/voting interest : 51.5 per cent

Further information on Indofood can be found at www.indofood.co.id
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Metro Pacific Corporation

Metro Pacific is a Manila, Philippines-based holding company listed on the
Philippine Stock Exchange. It is currently undergoing a program of reorganization
and recapitalization which is expected to be completed before the end of 2006.

Sector : Property and Transportation

Place of incorporation/business area : The Philippines

Issued number of shares : 19.1 billion

Particular of issued shares held : Common shares of Peso 1 par value
Economic interest/voting interest : 76.1 per cent

Further information on Metro Pacific can be found at www.metropacific.com
Metro Pacific Investments Corporation

MPIC is a Philippines-based investment holding and management company
which is formed to undertake a comprehensive reorganization and recapitalization
plan with Metro Pacific, launched in early 2006. MPIC is expected to replace Metro
Pacific as a newly-listed entity on the Philippine Stock Exchange before the end of
2006. MPIC’s initial business activity will be focused on its rapidly growing real
estate subsidiary, Landco Pacific Corporation. However, its business activities are
intended to expand into high-growth sectors of the Philippine economy, such as

infrastructure.
Sector : Property
Place of incorporation/business area : The Philippines
Issued number of shares 1 1,150.1 million
Particutar of issued shares held : Commeon shares of Peso 1 par value
Economic interest/voting interest : 100 per cent

Level Up! International Holdings Pte Ltd

Level Up is the pioneer and leading online game publisher in the Philippines,
Brazil and India. Online games are a rapidly growing segment of the global video
game industry, and Level Up focuses on online games in emerging markets.

Sector : Online games

Place of incorporation/business area : Singapore/The Philippines, Brazil and
India

Issued number of shares : 413,869

Particular of issued shares held : Ordinary shares of US$8 par value

Economic interest/voting interest : 25.0 per cent

Further information on Level Up can be found at www.levelupgames.com
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4, AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE ONE YEAR
PERIODS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2005 AND 31 DECEMBER 2004

Set out below are the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the one year periods ended 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004, respectively, together
with the notes thereon extracted from the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2005:

Consolidated Profit and Loss Statement

For the year ended
31 December

2005 2004
Notes {Restated)®
USS millions LSS millions
Turnover 4 1,986.1 2,054.6
Cost of sales (1,511.7) {1,536.1)
Gross Profit 474.4 518.5
(Loss)/gain on dilutions and divestments, net {6.3) 8.0
Distribution costs (175.0) (172.2)
Administrative expenses (128.3) (126.7)
Other operating expenses, net (29.8) (20.3)
Net borrowing costs 5 (107.3) (111.9)
Share of profits less losses of
associated companies 137.7 85.9
Profit Before Taxation 6 165.4 181.3
Taxation 7 (26.6) (31.9)
Profit for the Year from Continuing Operations 138.8 149.4
Profit for the year from a discontinued operation 8 - 18.8
Profit for the Year 138.8 168.2
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 9 103.0 123.9
Minority interest 358 44.3
138.8 168.2
Ordinary Share Dividends 10
Interim - U.S. 0.13 cent (2004: Nil) per share 4.1 -
Proposed final - U.S5. (.26 cent (2004: Nil) per share 82 -
Total 12.3 -
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For the year ended
31 December

2005 2004
Notes (Restated )™
U.S. cents U.5. cents
Earnings per Share Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Parent 11
Basic
— For profit from continuing operations 3.23 3.30
— For profit from a discontinued operation - 0.59
- For profit for the year 3.23 3.89
Diluted
- For profit from continuing operations 3.17 N/A
— For profit from a discontinued operation - N/A
- For profit for the year 3.17 N/A

N/A: Not applicable

(i) Refer to Note 2(B).
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Non-current Assets

Property and equipment

Plantations

Associated companies

Accounts receivable, other receivables
and prepayments

Goodwill

Prepaid land premiums

Available-for-sale assets/long-term
investments

Deferred tax assets

Restricted cash

Other non-current assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Available-for-sale assets/short-term
investments

Accounts receivable, other receivables
and prepayments

Inventories

Non-current assets held for sale

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable, other payables
and accruals
Short-term borrowings
Provision for taxation
Current portion of deferred liabilities
and provisions

Net Current Assels

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities
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Notes

12
13
15

16
17
18

19
20
33(G)
21

22
33(G)

19
16

23
24

25
26
27

28

At 31 December

2005

LSS millions

2004
{Restated)?
LISS millions

622.9 647.4
169.0 147.4
381.7 168.9
11.7 9.2
32.7 36.5
34.5 41.0
2.7 11.5
15.4 5.8
- 47
130.8 242.4
1,401.4 1,314.8
296.0 186.6
4.7 4.5
52.4 21.4
286.7 360.0
303.0 281.4
2.9 -
945.7 853.9
278.6 264.3
345.0 288.9
1.2 26.2
15.3 18.1
650.1 597.5
295.6 256.4
1,697.0 1,571.2
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At 31 December
2005 2004
Notes {Restated )"
LISS millions US$ millions

Equity
Issued share capital 29 31.9 31.9
Other reserves 30 927.9 902.8
Accumulated losses (577.0) (707.3)

Equity attributable to equity holders

of the parent 382.8 227.4
Minority interest 31 323.9 363.7
Total Equity 706.7 591.1

Non-current Liabilities

Long-term borrowings 26 7442 761.2
Deferred liabilities and provisions 28 92.7 107.1
Deferred tax liabilities 20 114.1 111.8
Derivative liability 32 39.3 -
990.3 980.1

1,697.0 1,571.2

(i} Refer to Note 2(B).
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Company Balance Sheet

At 31 December
2005 2004
Notes {Restated)®
LSE millions  LIS$ millions

Non-current Assets

Subsidiary companies 14 746.8 694.2
Amounts due from subsidiary companies 14(A) 1,534.8 1,169.9
2,281.6 1,864.1

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22 189.2 270
Other receivables and prepayments 0.4 -
189.6 27.0

Current Liabilities

Payables and accruals 5.3 8.7
Net Current Assets 184.3 18.3
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 2,465.9 1,882.4
Equity

Issued share capital 29 31.9 31.9

Other reserves 1,142.2 1,136.4

Retained profits/(accumulated losses) 245.1 {101.6)

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the parent 1,419.2 1,066.7

Non-current Liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiary companies 14(B) 1,046.7 815.7
1,046.7 815.7
2,465.9 1,882.4

(i) Refer to Note 2(B).
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity attzibutable to equity holders of the parent

Untealized
gains on  Unrealized

Issued Share  available:  gainson
share Share options forsale  cashflow  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium issued assels hedges teserve losses Total

Minasity

interest

Total
equily

USS millions 1SS millions  USS millions  USS millions LSS millions LSS millions  USS milfions  USS millions  US$ millions  USS millions

Balance at

1 Janusary 2004

As previously reported kiR 9382 - - - (34) (939.6) BN 37607 4278

Prior year adjustments - - - - - - {61.0) (61.0} 11) (62.1)

As restaled ns 935.2 - - - 3 (936.6) {99) 3736 3.7
Changes in equity for 2004:
Exchange differences on

translating foreign

operations - - - - - (132} - (232) 319) {55.1)
Net expense recognized

directly in equity - - - - - (232} - (s3] {319} (3.0}
Net profit for the year,

as restated - - - - - - 1239 1239 H3 1682
Total recognized income

and expense for the vear - - - - - (3.2} 1239 100.7 124 1131
Dilution and disposal of

interests in subsidiary and

associated companies - - - - - (3.2) 1654 1322 - 1311
Acquisition of

subsidiary companies - - - - - - - - 7 77
Change in attributable

interests - - - - - - - - 3.5} (55)
Dividends paid to

minority shareholders - - - - - - - - (265) [263)
Equity-settled share

option arrangements - - 14 - - - - 14 - 44
Balance at

31 December 2004

(Restated)” 39 935.2 14 - - (59.6) {7073 074 37 M1
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Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Unrealized
gins on  Enrealized
Issued Share  available-  gains on
share Share aptiens forsale  cashflow  Exchange Accumulated Minority Total
capital  premiom issued assets hedges Teserve losses Total inferest equity
LSS millions  USS millions  US3 mallions  USS millins  UISS milfions 1SS millions LSS willions  USS muliions  USS million: LSS milfions
Balance at
31 December 2004
As previously reported 9 958.2 - - - (398) {6357} 945 351 639.7
Prior year adjustments - - 14 - - - {716} {67.2) (1.2) {68.6)
As restated 319 9382 44 - - (3935) {707.3) 074 837 B!
Adjustments for
adoption of HKAS 39 - - - 17 - - 3l 1§ 33
Balance at
1 [anuary 2005,
a5 reslated 319 9382 4 17 - (398) (673.2) %12 3837 6249
Changes in equity for 2005:
Exchange differences on
translating foreign
operations - - - - - 9.7 - 9.7 (178) 8.1)
Unrealized gains on
available-for-sale assets - - - 17 - - - 17 3 84
Unrealized gains on
cash flow hedges - - - - 40 - - 40 10
Acquisition of
minerity integest - - - - - - 07) (0.7} (333) {240)
Net income and expense
recagnized directly
in equity - - - 17 40 b7 (0.7) 177 (37.4) {19.7}
et profit for the year - - - - - ~ 103.0 103.0 B3 1388
Total recognized income and
expense for the year - - - 17 10 9.7 1023 1207 (L3) 1.1
Dilution of interest in an
assoclated company - - - - - 08} - 0.8) - [0.8)
Acquisition of
subsidiary companies - - - - - - - - 03 08
Change in attributable
interests - - - - - - - - {9.2) 92)
Dividend paid to
minority shareholders - - - - - - - - (298) {298)
Issue of shares upon
the exercise of
share options - 09 0.3) - - - - 06 - 0.6
Equity-settled share
option arrangements - - 51 - - - - 52 - 52
Interim dividend - - - - - - 11 {41} - A1)
Balance at
31 December 2005 39 9381 93 54 10 (509) {577.0) 3818 m 7067
{i} Refer to Nete 2(B).
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Balance at | January 2004

Net profit for the vear, as restated

Equity-settted share option
arrangements

Balance at 31 December 2004
{Restated)

Balance at 31 December 2004
As previously reported
Prior year adjustments

As restated”
Net profit for the year
Issue of shares upon the
exercise of share options
Equity-settled share option
arrangements
Inferim dividend

Balance at 31 December 2005

(i) Refer to Note 2(B).

Retained
Issued Share profits/
share Share options  Contribuled (Accamulated
capital premium issued surplus losses) Total
USS wmillions  USS millions  US§ mallions  USS millions  US millions LSS millions
319 938.2 - 1734 (2319) 932.0
- - - - 130.3 130.3
- - 44 - - 14
19 9382 4 1734 (101.6) 1,068.7
38 953.2 - 1738 (97.2) 1,066.7
- - 44 - {44) -
319 938.2 44 1738 {101.6) 1066.7
- - - - 308 3508
- 0.9 0.3) - - 0.6
- - 5.2 - - il
- - - - {1 (1)
39 939.1 9.3 1738 451 14192
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Profit Before Taxation
From continuing operations
From a discontinued operation
Adjustments for:
Interest expenses
Depreciation
Foreign exchange and derivative losses, net
Loss on dilution of interests in a subsidiary
and an associated company
Equity—settled share option expense
Recognition of prepaid land premiums

Loss/(gain) on sale of property and equipment

Amortization of goodwill
Gain on disposal of a discontinued operation
Gain on divestments, net

Share of profits less losses of associated companies

From continuing operations
From a discontinued operation

{Increase)/decrease in other non-current assets

Gain on changes in fair value of plantations

Interest income

Payments in respect of deferred liabilities
and provisions

Dividend income from available~for-sale
assets/investments

Others

Operating profit before working
capital changes

Increase/(decrease} in accounts payable,
other payables and accruals

Decrease in accounts receivable, other
receivables and prepayments

Decrease in pledged deposits

Increase in inventories

Net cash generated from operationsii
Interest received

Interest paid
Tax paid

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities

~ 59 _

Notes

For the year ended
31 December

2005

USS$ millions

2004
(Restated)®
LSS millions

165.4 181.3
- 18.8
115.2 126.6
62.6 53.1
2.0 33.4
6.3 3.0
5.2 4.4
4.2 2.2
0.7 (1.8)

- 1.5
- (17.1)
- (11.0)
(137.7) (85.9)
- (1.7)
(16.6) 245
(12.3) (1.7)
(7.9) (14.7)

- (17.5)
(1.0} -
(26.3) (5.9)
199.8 291.5
49.0 (48.0)
18.8 29.6
- 1.9
(41.0) (1.9)
226.6 273.1
7.6 14.8
(101.6) (120.8)
(42.4) (41.5)
90.2 125.6
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For the year ended
31 December
2005 2004
Notes {Restated)?
LSS miltions  US$ millions
Proceeds from termination of derivative transactions 96.3 -
Dividend received from an associated company 38.9 -
Compensation received in connection
with the establishment of a joint venture 13.3 -
Sale of property and equipment 7.1 79
Divestments of subsidiary companies - 9.1
Increased investments in associated companies 33(A) {57.3) -
Purchase of property and equipment {54.9) {109.1)
{Acquisitions)/sale of available-for—sale
assets/short-term investments (20.4) 399
Acquisition of associated companies 33(8) (17.6) -
Dreposits for acquisition and increased
investments in subsidiary companies 33(C) (14.9) (39.1)
Acquisition of subsidiary companies 33(D) (6.2} (25.6)
Acquisition of convertible bonds 33(E) (5.2) - |
Increased investments in subsidiary companies 33(F) (4.9) {169
Loans (to)/repaid by associated companies (1.9 0.5
From continuing operations (27.2) (133.3)
From a discontinued operation - 150
Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities {27.2) (118.3)
Proceeds of new borrowings 601.0 255.9
Issue of shares upon the exercise of share options 0.6 -

Shares issued to minority shareholders

by a subsidiary company - 0.1
Borrowings repaid (517.5) (277.6)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders

by subsidiary companies {29.8) (26.5)
Dividend paid to shareholders 4.1 -
Decrease in restricted cash 4.5 11.2
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities 54.7 {36.9)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 117.7 (29.6)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 186.6 2333
Exchange translation (8.3) (17.1)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31 December 296.0 186.6
Representing
Cash and cash equivalents 296.0 186.6

(i} Refer to Note 2(B).

(ii) Changes in working capital are stated excluding movements due to acquisition and disposal of subsidiary
companies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

First Pacific Company Limited is a Hong Kong-based investment and management company with
operations located in Southeast Asia. Its principal business interests relate to telecommunications, consumer
food products and property and transportations.

The Group comprises the Company and its subsidiary companies.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its registered
office is Canen's Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Its shares are also available in the
United States through ADRs.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION, SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CHANGES
(A) Basis of Preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards {(HKFRSs) (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs} and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), Hong Kong Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention except for plantations, available-for-sale assets and derivative financial instruments which,
as disclosed in the accounting policies below, are stated at fair value. Non-current assets held for sale
are stated at the lower of carrving amount and fair value less costs to sell as further explained in Note 2
(E)(u). These Financial Statements are presented in United States (U.5.) dollars and rounded to the nearest
million (US$ million) with one decimal place except when otherwise indicated.

(B) Impact of New and Revised HKFRSs

In line with the HKICPA’s long-standing policy of working towards full convergence with
International Financial Reporting Standards (1IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board, in 2004, the HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKASs and HKFRSs (herein
collectively referred to as the new HKFRSs) to replace, supplement or cover areas not yet addressed by
the Statement of Standard Accounting Practices (SSAPs) applicable in Hong Kong up to 31 December
2004.
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Accordingly, significant changes to Hong Kong GAAT had been implemented during 2005 as a
consequence the new HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which became effective for accounting periods
commencing on, or after, 1 January 2005. The principal changes to HK GAAP and the new HKFRSs
which affect the Group and are adopted for the first time for the current year’s Financial Statements are
summarized as follows, The 2004 comparatives have been amended as required, in accordance with the
relevant requirements.

HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”

HKAS2 “Inventories”

HKAS7 “Cash Flow Statements”

HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors”

HKAS 10 “Events after the Balance Sheet Date”

HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”

HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”

HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”

HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”

HKAS17 “Leases”

HKAS18 “Revenue”

HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”

HKAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance”

HKAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”

HKAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”

HKAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”

HKAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”

HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates”

HKAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”

HKAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”

HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation”

HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share”

HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”

HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”

HKAS 38 “Intangible Assets”

HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”

HKAS 39 Amendment “Transition and Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities”

HKAS 40 “Investment Property”

HKAS 41 “Agriculture”

HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”

HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”

HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”

The adoption of HKASs 2, 7, 8, 10, 11,12, 14, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 24, 27, 28, 29, 31, 36, 37, 38, 40 and
41 has had no material impact on the accounting policies of the Group and the methods of computation
in the Group’s consolidated Financial Statements. The impact of adopting the other HKFRSs is

summarized as follows:

HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” provides a framework within which an
entity assesses how to present fairly the effects of transactions and other events; provides
the base criteria for classifying assets and liabilities as current or non-current; prohibits
the presentation of income from operating activities and extraordinary items as separate
line items in the consolidated profit and loss statement; requires the presentation of
share of results of associated companies on an after-tax basis in the consolidated profit
and loss statement and specifies the disclosures about the key sources of estimates,
uncertainties and the judgments management has made in the process of applying the
entity’s accounting policies. The standard also affects the presentation of minority interest
on the face of the Group’s consolidated profit and loss statement, balance sheet and
statement of changes in equity and other disclosures. The adoption of HKAS 1 has
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resulted in changes in the presentation of the Group's consolidated prefit and loss
statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement, but
has had no effect on both the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the
year ended 31 December 2004 and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent at
31 December 2004,

HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” provides additional guidance and
clarification on recognition and measurement of items of property, plant and equipment.
The standard also provides that the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
should include the costs of its dismantlement, removal or restoration — the obligation
for which the Group incurs as a consequence of installing the item, or of using the item
during a particular period for purposes other than to produce inventories during that
period. The adaption of HKAS 16 has effectively reduced the profit attributable to equity
holders of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2004 by US$0.6 million and reduced
the equity attributable to cquity holders of the parent at 31 December 2004 by US$2.1
million.

HKAS 17 “Leases” prescribes the classification of interest in leasehold land as an
operating lease if the title of the land is not passed to the Group by the end of the lease
term. Prepaid land premiums for land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognized as expenses on the straight-line basis over
the lease term. The adoption of HKAS 17 has resulted in a reclassification of leaschold
land from Property and equipment and Other non-current assets of U5523.3 million and
1J8517.7 million, respectively, to Prepaid land premiums in the Group’s consolidated
balance sheet at 31 December 2004, Howaever, the adoption has had no effect on both the
profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2004
and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent at 31 December 2004.

HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” covers the disclosure
and presentation of all financial instruments. This standard requires more comprehensive
disclosures about a company’s financial instruments, whether recognized or
unrecognized in the financial statements. New disclosure requirements include terms
and conditions of financial instruments used, types of risk associated with both
recognized and unrecognized financial instruments (market risk, price risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk, and cash flow risk), fair value information of both recognized and
unrecognized financial assets and financial liabilities, and the company’s financial risk
management policies and objectives. This standard also requires financial instruments
to be classified as liabilitics or equity in accordance with their substance and not their
fegal form. HKAS 32 requires retrospective application. The adoption of HKAS 32 has
effectively reduced the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year
ended 31 December 2004 by US$5.6 million and reducing the equity attributable 1o equity
holders of the parent at 31 December 2004 by US$65.1 million.

HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” prescribes principles for the determination and
presentation of earnings per share. It requires separate disclosure of basic and diluted
earnings per share from continuing operations on the face of the consolidated profit and
loss statement. The adoption of HKAS 33 has resulted in changes in the presentation of
the Group’s earnings per share on the face of the consolidated profit and loss statement.

HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” establishes the
accounting and reporting standards for recognizing and measuring a company’s
financial assets and financial liabilities. This standard requires a financial asset or
financial liability to be recognized initially at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration given {in the case of an asset) or received (in the case of a liability).
Subsequent to initial recognition, the company should continue to measure financial
assets at their fair values, except for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
investrments, which are measured at cost or amortized cost using the effective interest
rate method. Investments in unquoted equity securities are measured at cost less
impairment provisions. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at cost or
amortized cost, except for liabilities classified as “at fair value through profit and loss”
and derivatives, which are measured at fair value.
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HKAS 39 also covers the accounting for derivative instruments. This standard has
expanded the definition of a derivative instrument to include derivatives (derivative-
like provisions) embedded in non-derivative contracts. Under this standard, every
derivative instrument is recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability
measured at its fair value. Derivatives that are not designated and do not qualify as
hedges are adjusted to fair value through profit and toss. If the derivative is designated
and qualified as a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair
value of derivatives are either offset against the change in fair vatue of the hedged assets,
liabilities, or firm commitments through profit and loss, or recognized in equity until
the hedged item is recognized in profit and loss.

The adoption of HKAS 39 has resulted in a change of the Group’s accounting policy
on the measurement of its various financial assets and liabilities from historical cost to
either fair value or amortized cost based on the effective interest rate method. HKAS
39 generally does not permit a company to recognize, derecognize or measure financial
assets and liabilities on a retrospective basis. As a result, the Group remeasured its
various financial assets and liabilities at 1 January 2005. The differences which arose
from the remeasurement were adjusted to the Group's balance of accumulated losses
at 1 January 2005 as required under the transitional provisions of the standard. The
adjustments have effectively increased the equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent at 1 January 2005 by US$33.8 million.

HKEFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” requires an entity to recognize expenses in a share-
based payment transaction when it obtains the goods or as the services are rendered.
The entity shall recognize a corresponding increase in equity if the goods or services
were received in an equity-settled transaction, or shall recognize liability if the goods or
services were acquired in a cash-settled transaction. Pursuant to the transitional
provisions of HKFRS 2, expenses relating to share options granted after 7 November
2002 and not yet fully vested on 1 January 2005 should be accounted for on a retrospective
basis. The adoption of HKERS 2 has effectively reduced the profit attributable to equity
holders of the parent for the year ended 31 Decernber 2004 by US$4.4 miltion, but has no
effect on the equity attributable to cquity holders of the parent at 31 December 2004.

HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” requires all business combinations within its scope
to be accounted for by applying the purchase method. In addition, this standard
requires the acquirer to initially measure separately the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities at their fair values, at acquisition date, irrespective of the
extent of any minority interest.

HKFRS 3 also requires goodwill in a business combinatien to be recognized by an acquirer
as an asset from the acquisition date, initially measured as the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Further, the amortization of
goodwill acquired in a business combination is prohibited. Instead, goodwill is to be
tested annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the asset might be impaired. Goodwill that had been previously eliminated against
reserves as a matter of accounting treatment will not be reinstated in the consolidated
profit and loss statement upon disposal or impairment of the asset. The adoption of
HKFRS 3 has resulted in the Group conducting an impairment review of its goodwill
balance at least on an annual basis instead of amortizing its goodwill balance starting
from 1 January 2005 and has had no effect on both the profit attributable to equity holders
of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2004 and equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent at 31 December 2004.

HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations” requires an
operation to be classified as discontinued when the criteria to be classified as held-for-
salc have been met or the entity has disposed of the operation. An item is classified as
held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. The adoption of HKFRS 5 has resulted in changes
in the presentation of the Group’s consolidated profit and loss statement and has had no
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effect on both the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31
December 2004 and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent at 31 December
2004,

(< Summary of the Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies

(a) Effect on the consolidated balance sheet at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005

Effect of new
accounting policies HKASI"  HKAS167  HKAS17*  HKAS32®  HKAS39%  HKERS2®
Interest  Remeasure-
Dismantling accretion on ment Equity-
costs for converdible  of financial settled
property and  Prepaid land prefemred  asseisand  shace option
Increasef{decrease) Presentation  equipment  premiums shares liabilities amangements Total

USS millions WSS mrillions USSmilligns  USS millions WSS millions  USS millions LSS millions

Al 1 fanuary 2005

Assets

Property and equipment - 63 33) - - - {i70)
Associated companies - 09) - (63.1) 326 - (33.4)
Long:-term receivables

and prepayments (26%.2) - - - - - {269.1)
Accounts receivable,

other receivables

and prepayments

{Non-current) 92 - - - - - 9.2
Prepaid land premiums - - 10 - - - 10
Available-for-sale assefs/

long-term investments 115 - - - - - 113
Other non-current assets 2600 - (17.7) - {33.9) - 20856
Available-for-sale assets/

short-tetm investments (11.3) - - - - - (115}

- 54 - {65.1) {1.}) - [60.5)
Liabilities/ Equity

Leng-term borrowings - - - - (258) - (238)
Deferred abilities and

provisions - 70 - - - - it
Deferred tax liabilities - 19 - - (7.8 - (59)
Accounts payable,

ofher payables and accruals (181} - - - {1.0) - {19.1)
Short-term borrowings - - - - {0.3) - .3)
Current portion of deferred

liahilities and provisions 181 - - - - - 181
Share aptions issued - - - - - Ll 44
Unrealized gains on

available-for-sale assets - - - - 17 - L7
Accumulated losses - {21) - (5.1} 2 {44) {395}
Minority interest - {14) - - - - {14}

- 54 - {631) (Lh - (s0.8)
(i) Adjustnients/presentation taken cffect retrospectively,

(i) Adjustments faken gffect prospectively from 1 January 2005,
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Effect of new
accounting policies HKAS1  HKAS16  HKAS1?  HKAS3!  HKAS39  HKFRSZ  HKFRS3  HKFRSS
Equity-  Disconti-
Interest  Remeasuze- settled  nuation of
Dismaniling aceretion on ment share amortization Vessels
wstsfor ~ Prepaid  convertible  of financial optiva and  classified
property and land  prefered  assetsand  amamge- reinstatement s held-
Increasefidecrease) Presentation  equipment  premiums shares  liabilities ments  of goodwill forsale Total
Uss milfions  USS millions LSS millions  USS millions  USS millions 155 millions UUSS mllioms LIS millions IS8 mlfigns
At 3] Deceber 2005
Assets
Property and equipment - 46 (185} - - - - 29 (166)
Associaled companies - (16} - {730) 13 - %5 - (168)
Long-term receivables and
prepayments (1607 ) - - - {08) - - - (1615)
Accounts receivable,
other receivables and
prepayments (Non-current) 17 - - - - - - - 117
Goodwill - - - - - - 30 - 30
Prepaid land premiums - - U5 - - - - - H3
QOther non-turrent assets 1420 - (16.0) - 21} - - - 1305
Non-current assets held
for sale - - - - - - - 29 19
- 12 - 70) 53 - W5 - (140}
Liabilities/ Equity
Long-term borrowings - - - - (398} - - - (398)
Deferred Liabilities and
provisions - 67 - - - - - - 67
Deferred Lax lizbilities - 17 - - 17 - - - 3
Derivative lability - - - - 13 - - - 3
Accounts payable, other
pavables and accruals {153) - - - (10} - - - {163)
Current portion of deferred
liabilities and provisicns 133 - - - - - - - 133
Share premium - - - - - 03 - - 3
Shate options Issued - - - - - 93 - - 43
Unrealized gains on
available-for-sale assets - - - - 64 - - - 64
Unrealized gains on
cash flow hedges - - - - 10 - - - 10
Accumulated losses - (35} - (30 4 {56) 85 - [FR))
Minority interest - 17} - - 104 - 10 - 97
- 12 - {730) 253 - 5 - {140)
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() Effect on the balances of equity at 1 January 2004 and al t January 2005

Effect of new
accounting policies

Increasef{decrease)

At 1 January 2004
Accumulated losses
Minority interest

Total equity

At 1 January 2005
Share options issued
Unrealized gains on
available-for-sale assets
Accumulated losses
Minority interest

Total equity

HKAS 16 HKAS 32 HKAS 39 HKFRS 2
Interest
Dismantling accretion on  Remeasurement
costs for convertible of financial  Equity-settled
property and preferred assetsand  share option
equipment shares liabilities  arrangements Total
1SS mitlions US$ miliions LS5 miliions LSS millions USs millians
(3} {59.3) - - {62.0}
(1 - - - (L1}
(26) (595) - - (6.1}
- - - 44 44
- - 17 - 1.7
21 (65.1) 21 (44) {39.3)
(1.4) - - - {14}
(33) (65.1) 338 - (348)
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(c) Effect on the consolidated profit and loss statement for the years ended 31 December
2005 and 2004

Effect of new
accounting policies HKAS1 HKAS 16 HKAS 32 HKAS 33 HKFRS 2 HKFRS 3
Interest  Remeasure- Discontinuation
Dismantling accretion ment of of goodwill
costs for  on convertible financial ~ Equitysettled  amortization
For the year ended property and preferred assetsand  share option and
31 December 2005 Presentation  equipment shares liabilities ~ amangements  reinstatement Total
USS millions  USSmillions  USSmillions  USSmillions  USSmillions  USSmillions (IS8 millions
Increase in cost of sales - {12) - - - - (i)
Deecrease in loss on
dilutions and divestments, net - - - - - %8 %8
(Increase)/decrease in
administrative expenses - - - (93} (E¥] 39 (115)
Decrease in other operating
expenses, net - - - 21 - - 12
Decrease in net
borrowing costs - - - 33 - - 33
(Decrease)/increase in
share of prafits less
losses of associated
comparies (192) (10} (317) (123} - 08 {#34)
Decrease/ (increase) in
taxation 192 03 18 5.1} - (0.1} 183
(Decrease)/increase in
profit for the vear - (L7) 79) (212} 5.2} s {35)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent - 14 79) 278y B2 95 (128)
Minerity inferest - 03) - 6 - 10 73
{Decrease)/increase in
profit for the vear - 17 9 nn (5.2 03 (55}
{Decrease){Increase in
Earnings per Share
Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Parent
(US. cents)
Basic - o) 0.3) {087 {0.16) 092 {0.40)
Diluted - {004) 0.5) {087 {0.16) 092 {0.40)
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Etfect of new
accounting policies

For the year ended
31 December 2004

Decrease in gain
on disposal of a
discontinued operation,
divestments and
dilutions, net
[ncrease in administrative
eXpenses
Decrease in share of
profits less losses
of associated companies
Decrease in taxation
Increase in profit from
a discontinued operation

Decrease in profit for the year

Attributable te:
Equity helders of the parent
Minority interest

Decrease in profit for the year

Decrease in
Eamnings per Share
Attributable to Equity
Holders of the Parent
{US. cents)

Basic

Diluted

HKAS1 HKAS 16 HKAS 32 HKFRS 2 HKFRS 5
Dismantling Interest
costs  accretion on Reclassification
for property convertible  Equity-settled ofa
and preferred  share option  discontinued
Presentation equipment shares  amangements operation Total
USSmiltions  USSmillions  USS millions  USS millions  USS mullions USS millions
- - - - (17.1) (7.0
- (08) - (44} - (5.2)
@y 0.4) (8.2} - (.7 (32.7)
24 04 26 - - 54
- - - - 16.8 188
- {08) 56} #4) - (108)
- 0.6) {3.6) 44 - (10.6)
- (0.2) - - - 0.2
- (0.8) {5.6) +4) - (10.8)
- {0.02) {0.17) {0.14) - {0.33)
N/A NfA N/A N/A N/A N/A

N/A:  Not applicable
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(D)

Impact of Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued
but are not yet effective, to these Financial Statements. Unless otherwise stated, these HKFRSs are
cffective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006:

HKAS 1 Amendment
HKAS 19 Amendment
HKAS 39 Amendment

“Capital Disclosures”

“Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures”

“Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup
Transactions”

HKAS 39 Amendment “The Fair Value Option”
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 4 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Amendments and Insurance Contracts — Financial Guarantee Contracts”

HKFRSs 1 & 6 Amendments “First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources”

“Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources”

“Financial Instruments: Disclosures”

“Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease™

HKFRS 6

HKFRS 7

HK International Financial
Reporting Interpretations
Committee {IFRIC)-
Interpretations (Int) 4

HK(IFRIC)-Int 5 “Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds”

“Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market -
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment”

“Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economics”

HK(IFRIC)-Int 6

HK(IFRIC)-Int 7

The HKAS 1 Amendment shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007. The revised standard will affect the disclosures about qualitative information about the Group's
objective, policies and processes for managing capital; quantitative data about what the Company regards
as capital; and compliance with any capital requirements and the consequences of any non-compliance.

HKFRS 7 incorporates the disclosure requirements of HKAS 32 relating to financial instruments.
This HKFRS shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

The HKAS 39 Amendment regarding the fair value option restricts the designation of any financial
asset or financial liability as measured at fair value through profit and loss, unless certain conditions
can be met.

The HKAS 19 Amendment, HKAS 3% Amendments regarding cash flow hedge accounting of
forecast intragroup transactions and financial guarantee contracts, HKFRSs 1 and 6 Amendments, HKFRS
6, HK(IFRIC)-Int 5, HK(IFRIC}-Int 6 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 7 do not apply to the activities of the Group. HK
(IFRIC}-Int 6 shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 December 2005.

Except as stated above, the Group expects that the adoption of the pronouncements listed above
will not have any significant impact on the Group’s Financial Statements in the period of initial
application.

(E) Summary of Principal Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiary companies for the year ended 31 December 2005. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.
A subsidiary company is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists when the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to

obtain bencfits from its activities.
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The results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated profit and loss statement from the effective date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary company represents the difference between the
net proceeds from sale and the Group’s share of its net assets, including the attributable carrying
amount of goodwill.

The acquisition of substdiary companies during the year has been accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting. This method involves allocating the cost of the business
combinations to the fair value of the assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of
the fair value of the assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Minority interest represents the interests of minority shareholders in the results and net
assets of the Company’s subsidiary companies.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiary companies arc stated at cost
less any provision for impairment losses. The results of subsidiary companies are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

(b) Cash and eash cquivalents

For the purpese of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible inte known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally less than three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

{c) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is calculated
using the first-in, first-out method, the weighted-average method or the moving average method,
and in case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. The cost of guods purchased for resale includes
costs incurred in bringing the goods to their present location. Net realizable value is determined
on the basis of current anticipated sales prices less estimates of costs to completion and selling
expenses.

(d) Property and equipment

Freehold land is stated at cost and is not depreciated. Other property and equipment is
stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and accumulated depreciation, calculated on
the straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to write off their book values to residual values
over their expected useful lives. Details of depreciation rates are given in Note 12(A).

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any costs
directly attributable in bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Cost also includes asset retirement obligation, interest on borrowed funds used during the
construction period and qualified borrowing costs from foreign exchange losses related to foreign
currency-denominated liabilities used to acquire such assets. Major costs incurred in restoring
property and equipment to their normal working condition are charged to the profit and loss
statement. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over their expected useful lives to the
Group. When assets are sold or retired, their costs and accumulated depreciation, amortization
and impairment losses, if any, are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting
from their disposal is included in the profit and loss statement.
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Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed periodically to
ensure that the periods and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of

economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

(e) Plantations

Oil palm plantations are classified into immature and mature plantations. Immature
plantations are reclassified as mature plantations when they start to produce fresh fruit bunches
at an average of at least four tons per hectare in one year. On average, an oil palm plantation
takes about four years to reach maturity from the time of planting. Both immature and mature
plantations are stated at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs. The fair value of plantations
is determined based on the present value of their expected net cash inflows. Net increments or
decrements in the fair value of plantations are included in the profit and loss statement.

Rubber plantations are considered mature five to six years from the time of planting in
the field.

(N Associated companies

An associated company is an entity, not being a subsidiary company, in which the Group
has a substantial long-term interest of generally not less than twenty per cent in the equity
voting rights and over whose management the Group is in a position to exercise significant
influence, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are
initially recognized at cost. The Group’s investment in associated companies includes goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition. The Group’s share of its
associated companies” post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the consolidated profit
and loss statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognized in
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. Income from associated companies is stated in the
consolidated profit and loss statement as the Group’s share of profits less losses of associated
companies.

Where there has been a change recognized directly in the associated companies’ equity,
the Group will recognize its share of any changes and disclose this, when applicable in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Equity accounting is discontinued when the carrying amount of the investment in an
associated company reaches zero, unless the Group has incurred obligations or guaranteed
obligations in respect of the associated company.

() Assel retirement obligations

The net present value of legal obligations associated with the retirement of an item of
preperty and equipment that resulted from the acquisition, construction or development and
the normal operation of property and equipment is recognized in the period in which it is

incurred.

(h) Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognized in the profit
and loss statement, or in equity if it relates to items that are recognized directly in equity.
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Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided, using the liability method, on all taxable temporary
differences (with limited exceptions) arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying values for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses (with limited exceptions). The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach balance shect date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilized. Conversely, previously unrecognized deferred tax assets are recognized
to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event, it is prebable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. When the effect of discounting is
material, the amount recognized for a provision is the present value, at the balance sheet date, of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount, arising from the passage of time, is included in finance costs
in the profit and loss statement.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, ot the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote.

(j} Impairment of assets

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date of whether there is any indication of
impairment of assets including property and equipment, investments, goodwill and other long-
lived assets, or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss previously recognized
for an asset in prior years may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated
as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is charged to the profit and loss statement in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, then the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

A previously recognized impairment loss of all assets other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of the
asset. However, this is limited and will not give rise to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortization), had no
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.

Areversal of an impairment loss is credited to the profit and loss statement in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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(k)

h

Accounting for acquisition and disposal
n Results

The results of subsidiary or associated companies acquired or sold are accounted
for from or to the effective date of acquisition or disposal.

[{1}] Fair value adjustments

On the acquisition of a subsidiary company or an interest in an associated
company, the acquisition cost is allocated to the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

(N Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s
share of the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Upon adoption of HKFRS 3, goodwill is
no longer amortized. The carrying amount of accumulated amortization of goodwill at
1 January 2005 is eliminated with a corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill amount
on that date. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired and its
amount will be written down for impairment when it is considered necessary. A
previously recognized impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’
identifiable assets, liabilitics and contingent liabilities over the cost of the acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit and loss
statement.

In the case of associated companies, goodwill is included in the carrying amount
thereof, rather than as a separately identificd asset on the consolidated balance sheet.

Prior to the adoption of SSAP 30 “Business Combinations” in 2001, goodwill
arising on acquisition was eliminated against the consolidated retained profits in the
year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3, such goodwill remains eliminated
against the consolidated retained profits and is not recognized in profit or loss when all
or part of the business to which the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes impaired.

Foreign currencies
] Functional and presentational currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in the currency of United States dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

(I Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions, Foreign exchange gains
and tosses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognized in the profit and loss statement.
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{l1)  Group companies

The results and financiat position of all the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i} assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(1i) income and expenses for each profit and loss statement are translated at
average exchange rates; and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component
of equity. On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings
and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognized in the profit and loss statement as
part of the gain or luss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity
are treated as asscts and liabilities of the foreign entity and are translated at the closing
rate.

() Turnover and revenue recognition

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable from the sale of goods and
properties and the rendering of services to third parties, falling within the ordinary activities of
the Group’s businesses. Turnover from sales is recognized when the ownership of goods sold
has been transferred to the buyer. Turnover from services is recognized when it can be measured
reliably by reference to stages of completion for the rendering of the said services.

(n) Segmental information

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in
providing certain products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment {geographical segment), which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. They are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are
eliminated as part of the consolidation process.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment
assets that are expected to be used for more than one year. Head Office and other items mainly
comprise Head Office assets, borrowings and overheads.

(o} Leases

Leases, where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain
with the lessor, are accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases are recorded in the profit and loss statement on the straight-line

basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums for land lease payments under operating leases are initially

stated at cost and subsequently recognized as expenses on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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Lease obligations having provisions for bargain purchase options, ownership transfer

at the end of the lease term, or minimum lease payments, which approximate the fair market

value of the property are capitalized. The related obligations are recognized as liabilities. Finance
lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability
s0 as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. A finance
lease gives rise to a depreciation expense for the asset as well as a borrowing cost for each
period. Finance charges are charged directly to current operations. The depreciation policy for
leased assets is consistent with that for depreciable assets that are owned.

(p)

Employee benefits
(N Pension obligations
The Group operates defined contribution and defined benefit retirement schemes.

Contributtons to defined contribution schemes by the Group and employees are
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. The Group’s contributions to
defined contribution schemes are expensed as incurred and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the schemes prior to the contributions vesting
fully.

Contributions to defined benefit schemes are determined based on the value of
the retirement scheme assets and estimates of the effects of future events on the actuarial
present value of accrued pension obligations, and are determined on the basis of actuarial
valuations using the projected unit credit method. The costs of defined benefit schemes
are charged against profit on a systematic basis so as to be spread over the expected
remaining service lives of the employees affected. Actuarial gains and losses are
recognized immediately in the profit and loss statement as and when they occur.

(Iy Long service payments

Certain of the Group’s emplovees are eligible for long service payments in the
event of the termination of their employment. A provision is recognized in respect of the
probable future long service payments expected to be made. The provision is the best
estimate of the probable future payments that have been earned by the employces from
their service to the Group at the balance shect date.

(I}  Equity-settted transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference
to the fair value of the stock options at the date at which they are granted. Fair value is
determined using an option-pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no
account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the relevant shares (market conditions),

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance conditions
are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled
to the award (vesting date). The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the number of awards that will ultimately vest, based on
the best available estimate.

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for
awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other

performance conditions are satisfied.
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Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, an expense, as a
minimum, is recognized as if the terms had not been modified. An expense is recognized
for any increase in the value of the transactions as a result of the modification, as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the
date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelied award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

(IV)  Cash-settled transactions

The Group's associated companies grants share appreciation rights {SARs) to
eligible key executives and advisors, and recognize the services received and the Hability
to pay for those services, as the eligible key executives and advisors render services
during the vesting period. The liability is measured, initially and at each reporting date
until settled, at the fair value of the SARs, by applying an option valuation model, taking
into account the terms and conditions on which the SARs were granted, and the extent
to which the eligible key executives and advisors have rendered service to date, Until
settled, any changes in fair value at each reporting date wilt be recognized in the profit
and loss statement.

(V) Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual feave to its employees under their employment
contracts on a calendar year basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which remains
untaken as at the balance sheet date is permitted to be carried forward and utilized by
the respective employces in the following year. An accrual is made at the balance sheet
date for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by the
employees and carried forward.

(q) Borrowing costs

Borrowing casts are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing
of funds. Other costs include exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings. Exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings are included in borrowing costs to the
extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs,

Borrowing costs are expensed in the profit and loss statement in the year in which they
are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized as being directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or preduction of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to prepare for its intended use or sale.

{r) Financial assets/investments and financial linbilities

Applicable to the year ended 31 December 2004:

Short-term investments are securities stated at fair value. At each balance sheet date, the
unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair values of short-term investments are
recognized in the consolidated profit and loss statement.

The gains or losses on the disposals of short-term investments, representing the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the investments, are recognized in

the consolidated profit and loss statement as they arise.

Applicable to the year ended 31 December 2005
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The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated balance
sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and
derecognize a financial asset when the Group no longer control the contractual rights to the
cash flows that comprise the financial instrument which is normally the case when the instrument
is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument have already expired or are passed
through to an independent third party. A financial liability {(or a part of a financial liability) is
derecognized when the obligation is extinguished. In the case of a regular way purchase or sale
of financial assets, recognition and derccognition, as applicable, are done using settlement date
accounting,.

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 3% are classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-
sale financial assets, as appropriate. Financial assets or financial liabilities are recognized initialty
at fair value. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of all financial assets and
liabilities, except for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss. Fair
value is determined by reference to the transaction price or other market prices. If such market
prices are not reliably determinable, the fair value of the consideration is estimated as the sum
of all future cash payments or receipts, discounted using the prevailing market rates of interest
for similar instruments with similar maturities.

After initial recognition, the following financial assets and liabilities are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method: (i) loans and receivables; (ii) held-to-
maturity investments; and (iii) financial liabilities other than liabilities measured at fair values
through profit and loss, whereas available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value with gains
or losses being recognized as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognized
or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously reported in equity is included in the profit and loss statement.

Investments in unqueted equity securities and derivatives linked thereon are measured
at cost.

Amortizations of discounts and premiums are taken directly to the consolidated profit
or loss statement. Changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value of (i) all derivatives (except for those eligible for hedge accounting); (ii) other items intended
to be actively traded; and (iii) any item designated as held “at fair value through profit and loss”
at origination, are taken directly to the profit or loss statement. Changes in the fair value of
available-for-sale securities are recognized in equity, except for the foreign exchange fluctuations
on available-for-sale debt securities and the interest component which is taken directly to net
profit or loss for the period based on the asset’s effective yield.

Financial assets and liabilities include financial instruments which may be a primary
instrument, such as receivables, payables and equity securities, or a derivative instrument, such
as financial options, futures and forwards, interest rate swaps and currency swaps.

Financial instruments are classified as a financial liability, or a financial asset or an equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. Financial instruments that
contain both liability and equity elements are classified separately as financial liabilities, financial
assets or equity instruments, Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument
or a component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income. Distributions to
holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity. Financial
instruments are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offsct and the Group
intends to settle either on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

{s) Derivative instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as long-term currency swaps,
foreign currency options, interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts to hedge its risks
associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair value.
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The criteria for a derivative instrument to be classified as a hedge include: (i) the hedge
transaction is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash
flows attributable to the hedged risk, (i) the effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured,
{iii) there is adequate documentation of the hedging relationships at the inception of the hedge,
and (iv) for cash flow hedgus, the forecast transaction that is subject of the hedge must be highly
probable and must present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect
profit or loss.

For purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges where
they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability and firm
commitment; or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is
either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a forecasted
transaction.

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting,
any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognized immediately
in the profit and loss statement. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognized in the profit and
loss statement.

In relation to cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
that s determined to be an effective hedge is recognized directly in equity and the ineffective
portion is recognized in consolidated profit or loss statement. The gains or losses that are
accumulated in equity are transferred to the profit and loss statement in the same pericd in
which the hedged item affects the profit or loss,

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value are taken directly to the profit and loss statement.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized in equity is kept in equity until
the forecast transaction accurs. If the forecast transaction is no lenger expected to occur, any net
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is transferred to the profit and loss
statement.

(t} Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

I directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediarics, the party (i) controls,
is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Group; {ii) has an interest
in the Company that gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iit) has
joint control over the Group;

(I the party is an associate;

(M} the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(V) the party is a member of the key management personnet of the Group;

(V) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (1) or
(IV);

(VI}  the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with,

directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (IV) or (V); or

(VII)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employces of the
Company/Group, or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.
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1) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale represent assets having carrying amounts which will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through centinuing use. For this to
be the case, the asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets and its sale must be highly probable.
Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

{A)

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following

judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have significant effect on the amounts

recognized in the Financial Statements:

(B}

Classification of financial assets and financial linbilities

The Group determines the classification of certain of asscts and liabilities as financial
assets and financial liabilities by judging whether they meet the definition of financial assets
and financial liabilities set out in HKAS 39. Accordingly, the financial assets and financial
liabilities are accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 2
(E)(r} to the Financial Statements.

Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at

the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimating uscful lives and residual values of property and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives and residual values of its property and equipment
based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated
useful lives and residual values of the property and equipment are reviewed annually and are
updated if expectations differ from previous estiinates due to physical wear and tear, technical
or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. In addition, the
Group’s estimation of the useful lives and residual values of its property and equipment is
based on its collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and
experience with similar assets. [t is possible, however, that future results of operations could be
materially affected by changes in those estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned
above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes
in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives and residual values
of the Group's property and equipment would increase its recorded depreciation expenses and
decrease its non-current assets.

(b) Asscts impairment
Hong Kong GAAP requires that an impairment review be performed when certain

impairment indication is present. In case of goodwill, such assets are subject to yearly impairment
test and whenever there is an indication that such asset may be impaired.

Purchase accounting requires extensive use of accounting estimates to allocate the
purchase price to the fair market values of the assets and liabilities purchased, including intangibte
assets and contingent liabilities. The Group’s business acquisitions have resulted in goodwill,
which in the past affected its results of operations for the amount of periodic amortization
expense. However, the Group no longer amortizes goodwill under Hong Kong GAAT effective
1 January 2005. Instead, goodwill is subject to a periodic impairment test.
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Determining the fair value of property and equipment and plantations at the date of
acquisition, which requires the determination of future cash flows expected to be generated
from the continued use {(i.e., value in use} and ultimate disposition of such assets, requires the
Group to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect its conselidated financial
statements. Future events could cause the Group to conclude that property and equipment and
plantations associated with an acquired business is impaired. Any resulting impairment loss
could have a material adverse impact on its financial condition and results of operations.

The preparation of estimated future cash flows involves significant estimations, While
the Group believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in
its assumptions may materially affect its assessment of recoverable values and may lead to future
additional impairment charges under Hong Kong GAAP.

(c) Deferred tax assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts at each balance sheet date and reduces deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow alf or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. However, there is no assurance that
the Group will generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part of its recognized deferred
tax assets to be utilized.

(d) Financial assets and liabililies

Hong Kong GAAT requires that the Group carries certain of its financial assets and
liabilities at fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates. While significant
components of fair value measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence
(i.e., foreign exchange rates and interest rates), the amount of changes in fair value would differ
if the Group utilized different valuation methodology. Any changes in fair value of these financial
assets and liabilities would affect directly the Group'’s consolidated profit and loss and equity.

(e} Estimating atlowances for doubtful accourfs

The Group cstimates the allowance for doubtful accounts related to its trade receivables
based on two methods. The amounts calculated using each of these methods are combined to
determine the total amount it provide. First, the Group evaluate specific accounts where it has
information that certain customers arc unable to meet their financial obligations. In these cases,
the Group uses judgment, basced on the best available facts and circumstances, including but not
limited to, the length of its relationship with the customer and the customer’s current credit
status based on third party credit reports and known market factors, to record specific provisions
for customers against amounts due to reduce its receivable amounts that the Group expects to
collect. These specific provisions are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information received
affects the amounts estimated. Second, a provision is established as a certain percentage of age
of status of receivables. This percentage is based on a collective assessment of historical collection,
write-off, experience and changes in its customer payment terms.

The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group
utilized different estimates. An increase in the Group’s allowance for doubtful accounts would
increase its recorded operating expenses and decrease its current assets.

N Estimating allowances for inventorics

The Group estimates the allowance for inventories based on the best available facts and
circumstances, including but not limited to, the inventories” own conditions (i.e. whether they
are damaged or become wholly or partially obsolete), their market selling prices, estimated
costs of completion and estimated costs to be incurred for their sale. The provisions are re-
evaluated and adjusted as additional information received affects the amount estimated.
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(g) Pension and other retirement bencfits

The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost for defined benefits is dependent
on its selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those
assumptions include among others, discount rates, expected returns on plan assets, rates of
salary and pension increase and average remaining working lives of employees. In accordance
with Hong Kong GAAP, actual results that differ from the Group’s assumptions are recognized
immediately in the profit and loss staternent as and when they occur. While the Group believes
that its assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the Group’s actual

experience or significant changes in the Group’s assumptions may materially affect its pension
and other retirement obligations.

) Income taxes

Significant estimation is required in determining the Group’s provision for income taxes,
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax in the period in which such determination is made.

(i} Mecasurement of fair valuce of plantations

Hong Kong GAAP requires that the Group carries its plantations at fair value less
estimated point-of-sale costs, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates. Significant
components of fair value measurement were determined using assumptions including average
life of plantations, vield per hectare, plantation area and discount rates. The amount of changes
in fair value would differ if the Group utilized different assumptions, Any changes in fair value
of these plantations would affect directly the Group's profit and loss and equity.

() Derivative linbilities

Hong Kong GAAD requires that the Group carries its option embedded in the
Exchangeable Notes issued, at fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates.
Significant components of fair value measurement were determined using assumptions including
the trading price of the Exchangeable Notes and expected volatility of the underlying PLIDT
share price, and the average market interest rate. The amount of changes in fair value would
differ if the Group utilized different assumptions. Any changes in fair value of the Exchangeable
Notes would affect directly the Group's profit and loss and equity.

(k) Equity-setfled share option expense

Hong Kong GAAP requires that the Group carries its share options issued by the
Company and its subsidiary companies, at fair value, which requires extensive use of accounting

estimates. Significant components of fair value measurement were determined using assumptions
including expected volatility and dividend yield and average risk-free interest rate. The amount
of changes in fair value would differ if the Group utilized different assumptions. Any changes
in fair value of the share options would affect directly the Group’s profit and loss.
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4. TURNOVER AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
2005 2004
US$ millions US§ millions
Turnover
Sale of goods and properties 1,546.3 2,022.5
Rendering of services 39.8 32.1
Total 1,986.1 2.054.6

Segmental Information

Segmental information, relating to the Group's business and geographic segments, follows.
Analysis by business segment is the Group’s primary segment reporting format as this is more
relevant to the Group when making operational and financial decisions. Details of the Group's
principal investments are provided on pages 123 to 124. Particulars in respect of a discontinued
operation are set out in Note 8.

By Principal Business Activity - 2005
Telecom- Consumer Property and 2005
munications  Food Products  Transportation Head Office Total

US$ millions LSS millions LSS millions USS mitlions LSS millions

Profit and Loss

Segment revenue - turnover - 1,923.4 62.7 - 1,986.1
Segment results - 164.8 8.8 {58.8) 1350
Net borrowing costs (107.3)
Share of profits less losses of

associated companies 1418 (4.2} 0.1 - 1377
Profit before taxation 165.4
Taxation (26.6)
Profit for the year 138.8

Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets - 1,578.8 116.4 1997 1,8949
Associated companies 3644 3.5 13.8 - 3817
Unallocated assets 705
Total assets 23471
Segment liabilities - 736 5.9 9.4 1259
Unallocated liabilities 1,2145
Total liabilities 16404

Other Information

Capital expenditure - 304 6.2 - 56.6
Depreciation - 374 3.2 - 626
Foreign exchange and

derivative losses, net - 6.6 - 25.4 420
Other non-cash expenses - 21 27 115 16.3
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By Principal Geographical Market - 2005

The 2005
Philippines Indonesia Others Head Office Total
Li5$ millions LI5S millions LiS$ mitlions 1i5$ millions US$ millions

Segment revenue - turnover 627 1,9234 - - 1,686.1
Segment assets 116.4 1,578.8 - 199.7 1,894.9
Associated companies 3639 35 14.3 - 3817
Unallocated assets 705
Total assets 2,347.1
Capital expenditure 6.2 504 - - 56.6

By Principal Business Activity — 2004

04
Telecom- Consumer Property and {Restated)
munications  Food Products  Transportation Head Office Total

LS8 millions 1S3 miilions 1158 miilions US$ millions US$ millions

Profit and Loss

Segment revenue ~ turnover - 1,995.8 58.8 - 2,054.6
Segment results - 189.1 34.2 {16.0) 207.3
Net borrowing costs (111.9)
Share of profits less losses of

associated companies 878 {1.8) {0.1) - 85.9

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year from
continuing operations
Profit for the year from a

discontinued operation

Prefit for the vear

Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets - 1,796.1 1227 123
Associated companies 140.7 1.4 %8 -
Unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities - 229.6 1047 535.2
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Other Information

Capital expenditure - 1016 35 -
Depreciation and amortization - 537 0.9 -
Foreign exchange and

derivative losses, net - 331 0.3 -
Other non-cash expenses - 14 9.2 T4
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By Principal Geographical Market — 2004

The
Philippines
USE millions

Indonesia Head Office
USS millions  USS niillions

2004
(Restated)
Total

USS millions

Segment revenue — turnover 58.8 1,995.8 - 2,054.6
Segment assats 122.7 1,796.1 423 1,961.1
Associated companies 167.5 1.4 - 168.9
Unallocated assets 38.7
Total assets 2,168.7
Capital expenditure 3.5 101.6 - 105.1
5. NET BORROWING COSTS
2005 2004

Bank loans and other loans
- wholly repayable within five years
- not wholly repayable within five years

Total Borrowing Costs
Less interest income

Net Borrowing Costs
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LISS millions

USS millions

113.0 122.1
2.2 45
115.2 126.6
(7.9 (14.7)
107.3 111.9
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
2005 2004
Notes (Restated)
US§ millions US$ millions

Profit Before Taxation is Stated after

(Charging)/Crediting
Cost of inventories sold {1,182.1) (1,201.5%
Employee remuneration 35(A) (198.6) (193.7)
Depreciation 12 {62.6) (53.1)
Foreign exchange and derivative losses, net (42.0) (33.4)
Cost of services rendered (52.7) {31.9)
Operating lease rentals

- Land and buildings (11.8) (12.7)

- Hire of plant and equipment (0.8) (1.6)

- Others - {6.0)
Loss on dilution of interests in a subsidiary

and an agsociated company (6.3) (3.0
Recognition of prepaid land premiums 4.2) (2.2)
Doubtfutl debt provisions {included in

distribution costs) (4.8 (1.4)
Auditors’ remuneration

- Audit services (1.2} (1.4)

— Other services (0.6) (0.1)
Amortization of goodwill (included in other

operating expenses, net) 17 - (1.5)
Gain on divestments, net - 11.0
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale

assets/investments - 2.2
(Loss)/gain on sale of property and equipment 0.7} 1.8
Gain on changes in fair value of plantations 13 123 17
Realized gain/(loss) on sale of available-for-sale

assets/investments 5.6 (3.3}
Excess over the cost of a business combination

recognized as income {included in other

operating expenses, net) 2.7 -
Dividend income from available-for-sale

assets/investments 1.0 -

7. TAXATION

No Hong Kong profits tax (2004: Nil) has been provided as the Group had no estimated assessable
profits (2004: Nil) in Hong Kong for the year. Taxation on assessable profits generated outside Hong
Kong has been provided at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Company’s
subsidiary companies operate.

2005 2004
{Restated)
LS$ miltions LSS millions

Subsidiary Companies - Overseas
Current taxation (Note 27} 289 30.6
Deferred taxation (Note 20) (2.3) 1.3
Total 26.6 319
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Included within the share of profits less losses of associated companies is taxation of US519.2
million {2004 restated: US$22.4 millien) and which is analyzed as follows.

2005 2004
(Restated)
LiS$ millions USS millions

Associated Companies — Overseas
Current taxation 38.5 31.7
Deferred taxation (19.3) (9.3)
Total 19.2 22.4

A reconciliation between profit before taxation multiplied by the applicable tax rates and the
taxation amount as shown in the consolidated prefit and loss statement is as follows.

20405 2004
(Restated)
LSS millions %  US$ millions Yo
Profit Before Taxation
(Including profit from a
discontinued operation) 165.4 200.1
Notional tax on profit before
taxation, calculated at the rates
applicable to profits in the tax
jurisdictions concerned 73.7 44.6 70.4 35.2
Tax effect of:
- Non-deductible expenses 2.7 1.6 0.1 -
- Share of profits less losses of
associated companies (51.8) (31.3) (34.9) (17.4)
- Income not subject to tax (0.1) (0.1) (a.4) (3.2)
— QOthers 2.1 1.3 2.7 1.3
Taxation 26.6 16.1 31.9 15.9

Attributable To:
Continuing operations 26.6 16.1 319 15.9
A discontinued eperation - - _

26.6 16.1 31.9 15.9

8. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM A DISCONTINUED OPERATION
2004’s profit from a discontinued operation represents a U5$17.1 million gain on disposal of the

Group’s entire 49 per cent interest in Escotel {a company operating in India) and US$1.7 million share of
Escotel’s profit prior to its disposal.
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9. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent includes US$18.5 million (2004: US$15.9 million)
net foreign exchange and derivative losses that arose primarily on the changes in the fair values of
derivatives and translation of the unhedged foreign currency denominated borrowings, and US$§4.3
million (2004: U$$23.0 million) of net non-recurring gains.

Analysis of Foreign Exchange and Derivative Losses

2005 2004
1iS$ millions LIS$ millions

Foreign exchange and derivative (losses)/gains
- Subsidiary companies (42.0) (33.4)
— Associated companies 19.0 (5.4)
Subtotal (23.0) (38.8)
Attributable to taxation and minority interest 4.5 22,9
Total (18.5) (15.9)

The net non-recurring gains for 2005 mainly comprise goodwill compensation received by
Indofood in connection with the establishment of a joint venture entity of US$4.8 million, Metro Pacific’s
agreed one-time adjustments made to amounts owed to certain creditors, partly offset by a loss on
dilution of the Group’s 1.4 per cent interest in PLDT of US$6.3 million, whereas 2004's net non-recurring
gains mainly comprise a gain on disposal of 49 per cent interest in Escotel (US$17.1 miliion).

Included within the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31
December 2005 is a profit of US$350.8 million (2004 restated: US$130.3 million) attributable to the
Company representing principally the Company’s reversal of impairment provision for values of
subsidiary companies holding investments in PLDT.

10. ORDINARY SHARE DIVIDENDS

U.S. cent per ordinary share USS$ millions
2005 2004 2005 2004
Interim 0.13 - 4.1 -
Proposed final 0.26 - §.2 -
Total 0.39 - 12.3 -

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (AGM).

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable
to equity holders of the parent of US$103.0 million (2004 restated: US$123.9 million), and the weighted
average number of 3,186.7 million (2004: 3,186.0 million} ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is based on: (i} a profit equal to the profit
for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent of US$103.0 million (2004 restated: US$123.9
million} adjusted by the US$1.2 million {2004: Nil} reduction in share of profits less losses of associated
companies assuming (a) the exercise of the Company’s option of increasing its interest in Level Up and
(b) the conversion of dilutive convertible preference shares and share options issued by PLDT, and (ii) a
share base equal to the aggregate of the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 3,186.7 million
(2004: 3,186.0 million) ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
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during the year.

diluted earnings per share.

12, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

At 1 January 2005

Exchange translation

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiary companies
(Note 33(D))

Disposals

Reclassification

At 31 December 2005

Accumulated Depreciation
and Impairment

At 1 January 2005
Exchange translation
Charge for the year
Disposals
Reclassification

At 31 December 2005

Net Book Amount at 31 December 2005

Land and
buildings
US$ millions

Machinery,
equipment
and vessels
L15$ millions

calculation, and the weighted average of 28.4 million (2004 restated: Nil) ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all share options of the Company

Since the earnings per share amount will be increased when taking into account the Exchangeable
Notes issued by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Exchangeable Notes has an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share for the year and are excluded from in the calculation of

Consolidated
Total
LiSS millions

240.4 768.1 1,008.5
(8.1) (30.4) (38.5)
17.0 39.6 56.6

2.7 - 2.7
(6.0) (15.0) (21.0)
- 3.6 3.6

246.0 765.9 1,011.9
54.6 306.5 361.1
(1.9 (9.4) (11.3)
11.0 51.6 62.6
(0.7) (12.5) (13.2)

- (10.2) (10.2)
63.0 126.0 389.0
183.0 439.9 622.9
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Land and
buildings

LSS millions

Cost

Machinery,
equipment
and vessels
LiS8 millions

Consolidated
Total
(Restated)
USS millions

At 1 January 2004 238.1 775.2 1,013.3
Exchange translation (18.6) (59.6) (78.2)
Additions 16.9 44.0 60.9
Acquisition of subsidiary companies

(Note 33(D)) 8.6 12.2 20.8
Disposals (4.6) (3.7) (8.3)
At 31 December 2004 240.4 768.1 1,008.5
Accumulated Depreciation

and Impairment
At 1 January 2004 49.6 291.9 341.5
Exchange translation (4.4} (26.9) (31.3)
Charge for the year 9.5 43.6 53.1
Disposals 0.1) (2.1) (2.2)
At 31 December 2004 54.6 306.5 361.1
Net Book Amount at 31 December 2004 185.8 461.6 647.4
(A) Principal annual rates of depreciation:

Freehold land Nil

Frechold buildings
Leasehold buildings
Machinery, equipment and vessels

2.5% to 20.0%

Lesser of period of lease, or 2.5% to 20.0%

2.5% to 50.0%

(B} The land and buildings are freehold and leasehold properties held outside Hong Kong.

(C) Property and equipment with a net bock amount of U5$29.4 million (2004: US$23.4 million})
were pledged as security for certain of the Group’s banking facilities (Note 26(D)).

13. PLANTATIONS

At 1 January

Exchange translation

Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 33(D))

Cain arising from changes in fair value less
estimated point-of-sale costs, net

At 31 December
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Consolidated

2005
LIS$ millions

2004
LIS$ millions

147.4 160.0
(8.8) (14.3)
18.1 -
12.3 1.7

169.0 147.4
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Physical measurements of oil palm plantations at 31 December are as follows:

Consolidated
2005 2004
Hectares Hectares
Mature plantations 58,064 53,542
Immature plantations 3,344 898
Total 61,408 54,440

The Group’s plantations mainly represent palm trees ewned by Indofood. The palm trees are

planted for the preduction of fresh fruit bunches (FFB), which are used in the production of crude palm
0il {CPO) and palm kernel oil {PKO). The fair value of plantations was determined by reference to the
projected selling prices of CPO and PKO in the market. Significant assumptions made in determining

the fair value of the plantations are:

(A) No new planting/re-planting activities are assumed.

(B) The palm trees have an average life of 23 years, with the first threc years as immature
and the following 20 years as mature or productive under a well established planting
system.

Q) The yield per hectare of palm trees is based on guidelines from the Centre for Palm Tree
Research in Indonesia which varies with the average age of palm trees.

(D) A discount rate of 20.5 per cent (2004: 21.7 per cent), which represents the assel specific
rate for Indofood’s plantation operation, was applied in the discounted cash flow

calculation.

During 2005, Indofood’s palm trees produced 1.3 million tons (2004: 1.4 million tons) of FFB. The

fair value of FFB harvested during 2005, determined at the point of harvest, amounted to US$91.3
million (2004: US$112.8 million).

14.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Company
2005 2004
USS millions LSS millions
Unlisted shares at cost 1,115.2 1,115.6
Less provision for impairment (368.4) (421.4)
Total 746.8 694.2

The Company’s listed subsidiary companies are held through intermediate holding companies.

28] Amounts due from subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-bearing at a range of
zero per cent to 7.0 per cent per annum (2004: zero per cent to 5.0 per cent per annum}
and not repayable within one year. The carrying value of the Company’s amounts due
from subsidiary companics approximates to their fair values.

B Amounts due to subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-bearing at a range of zero
¥ p g o4
per cent to 8.4 per cent per annum (2004: zero per cent to 8.4 per cent per annum) and

not repayable within one year.

Q) Details of principal subsidiary companies which, in the opinion of the Directors, materially
affect the results or net assets of the Group, are set out on pages 123 to 124.
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15.

(D) Metro Pacific group contributes to the Group's property and transportation business
segment (refer to Note 4). Since the fourth quarter of 2001, it has been unable to meet its
debt repayment obligations. Metro Pacific’s ability to continue as a geing concern is
dependent on a number of factors, which includes its ability to settle or restructure its
debt obligations, the availability of refinancing of debts and the success of its plan to
revitalize its business and generate sufficient cash flows to ensure sustained and profitable
operations. Metro Pacific had successfully reduced its parent company’s debt obligations
to Pesos 732 million {(US$13.8 million) at 31 December 2005 from Pesos 11.7 billion
(US5$220.4 million) at 31 December 2001 when the debt reduction program was commenced.
Qut of the Pesos 732 million (US$13.8 million) outstanding debts at 31 December 2005,
Pesos 525 million (U5$9.9 million) are presently subject to final documentation and Metro
Pacific expects that this Pesos 525 million (US$9.9 million) amount will be settled before
the close of 2006.

Nenaco, a 99.0 per cent-owned subsidiary company of Metro Pacific, obtained approval
for its corporate rehabilitation plan from the Manila Regional Trial Court on 4 October
2004. With the approval of the corperate rehabilitation plan, Nenaco will focus on
enhancing its profitability by strengthening its marketing efforts and operational
efficiencies.

ASSOCIATED COMFANIES

Consolidated

2005 2004
(Restated)
USS millions US$ millions

Shares at cost
- Listed 1,324.6 1,266.7
- Unlisted 44.1 220
Share of post acquisition reserves (987.7) (1,132.1)
Loans to associated companics 0.7 12.3
Total 381.7 168.9

{A) At 31 December 2005, both the listed and unlisted investments were located outside
Hong Kong,.

(B) At 31 December 2005, the market valuation of listed investments was US5$1,495.4 million
{2004: US$1,002.7 million) and net dividends received and receivable were US$38.9 million
(2004: Nil).

(C) Loans to associated companies are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment. The carrying amounts of the loans to associated companies approximates to
their fair values.

(D) Details of the Group’s principal associated companies which, in the opinion of the

Directors, materially affect the results or net assets of the Group, are set out on pages 123
to 124.
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(E)

(F)

{G)

Additional financial information in respect of the Group’s principal associated company,
PLDT, as prepared under HK GAAP, is sct out below.

PLDT

2005 2004
{Restated)
U5$ millions LUSSE millions

Operating Results
Turnover 2,201.3 2,053.7
Profit before taxation 790.4 484.7
Profit after taxation 788.3 392.6
Net profit 580.9 393.9

Net Assets

Current assets 952.4 8347
Long-term assets 3,793.9 4,228.5
Total Assets 4,746.3 5,063.2
Current liabilities (1,067.5) (1,016.8)
Long-term liabilities and provisions (2,369.3) (3,200.6)
Total Liabilities (3,436.8) (4,217 .4)
Minority interest 21.9) (16.1)
Net assets at 31 December 1,287.6 829.7

PLDT was incorporated under the law of the Philippines on 28 November 1928 to provide
telephone services in the Philippines. PLDT’s charter was initially limited to a period of
50 years but has since been extended twice for 25 years each, the last extension being for
an additional 25-year period ending 2028. Under its amended charter, which became
effective on 24 August 1991, PLDT is authorized to provide virtually every type of
telecommunications service, both within the Philippines and between the Philippines
and other countrics. PLDT operates under the jurisdiction of the Philippine National
Telecommunications Commission which jurisdiction extends, among other things, to
approving major services offered by PLDT and certain rates charged by PLDT.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of Prime Media Holdings,
Inc. because the share of losses of this associated company fully eroded the Group’s
investment. The Group’s unrecognized share of losses of this associated company for the
current year and cumulatively was nil {2004: US50.1 million) and US$7.9 million (2004:
US$7.9 million), respectively.
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16. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Consolidated

2005 2004

US$ miilions US$ mitlions

Trade receivables 173.3 17¢.3

Other receivables 107.9 1584.9

Prepayments 17.2 14.0

Total 298.4 369.2
Presented As:

Non-current Portion n.7z 9.2

Current Portion 286.7 360.0

Total 298.4 369.2

The carrying amount of the current portion of accounts receivable, other receivables and
prepayments approximates to their fair value. The fair value of non-current portion of accounts
receivables, other receivables and prepayments is US$9.8 million {(2004: US$9.2 million) which is
determined based on cash flows discounted using a weighted average prevailing interest rate of 13.4
per cent (2004: 11.3 per cent). The weighted average cffective interest rate of non-current portion of
accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments is 8.8 per cent (2004: 11.3 per cent).

An ageing profile of trade receivables is analyzed as follows:

Consolidated

2005 2004

LiS$ millions US$ millions

0 to 30 days 148.5 145.5
31 to 60 days 8.8 6.0
61 to 90 days 6.0 12.2
Over 90 days 10.0 6.6
Total 173.3 170.3

As the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
concentration of credit risk.

Indofood allows export customers 60 days of credit and local customers an average of 30 days of

credit. Metro Pacific collects contract receivables related to property sales by installments over periods
ranging between one to five years.
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17.

GOODWILL

Cost
At 1 January
As previously reported
Effect of adopting HKFRS 3 (Note Z{EMKNIID)

As restated
Exchange translation
Additions
- on acquisition of subsidiary companies (Nete 33(D))
- balance of subsidiary companies acquired
- on increased investments in subsidiary companies
Reclassifications

At 31 December
Accumulated Amortization
At 1 January

As previously reported

Effect of adopting HKFRS 3 (Note 2(E)(k)(111})

As restated
Charge for the year

At 31 December

Net Book Amount at 31 December

Consolidated

2005
LSS millions

2004
LiS$ millions

394 19.7
(2.9} -
36.5 19.7
(1.7} -
4.4 6.9
- 2.1

- 10.7
(6.5) -
32.7 39.4
2.9 1.4
(2.9) -
- 1.4

- 1.5

- 29
32.7 36.5

(A} In 2004, goodwill not previously eliminated against the consolidated reserves was
amortized on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of not more than 20

years.

(B) Goudwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units identified according to business
and country of operation segment. All of the goodwill amounts at 31 December 2005 and
31 December 2004 relates to Indofood’s businesses which contribute to the Group’s

consumer food products business segment located in Indonesia.

(C) The recoverable amounts of Indofood’s businesses have been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial projections
approved by Indofood’s senior management covering a five-year period. The discount
rates applied to cash flow projections ranges from 15.3 per cent to 18.3 per cent.
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18.

19.

PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS

At 1 January
As previously reported
Effect of adopting HKAS 17 (Note 2(B)}

As restated
Exchange translation
Additions
Recognized during the year

Total prepaid land premiums
Current portion included in accounts receivable,
other receivables and prepayments

At 31 December

Overseas, Held on:
Leases of between 10 and 50 years
Leases of less than 10 years

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE ASSETS/INVESTMENTS

Listed investments, at fair value:
- Equity investments - Overseas
- Debentures with a fixed interest of 14.0 per cent
(2004: 14.0 per cent) and a maturity date
of 1 October 2014 (2004; 1 October 2014) - Overseas
Unlisted investment, at cost less impairment provisions:
- Equity investment — Overseas
Unlisted investment, at fair value:
— Club debentures — Hong Kong

Total

Presented As:
Non-current Portion
Current Portion

Total
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Consolidated
2005 2004
US$ nnillions LISS millions
(Restated)
455 47.8
45.5 47.8
{4.0) (3.8)
- 3.7
(4.2) (2.2)
37.3 455
(2.8) (4.5)
34.5 410
2005 2004

LSS millions

LSS millions

32.3 442
5.0 1.3
37.3 45.5
Consolidated
2005 2004
US$ millions LIS$ millions
(Restated)
47.5 19.6
0.5 1.8
6.1 1.5
1.0 -
55.1 329
2.7 11.5
52.4 21.4
55.1 329
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20.

{A) The fair values of listed equity investments and debentures are based on quoted market
prices. The fair values of unlisted investment in club debentures have been estimated by

reference to recent market transaction prices. The Directors believe that the estimated fair

values by reference to market prices, which are recorded in the carrying amounts of
available-for-sale assets, and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded directly
in the Group’s equity, are reasonable, and that they are the most appropriate values at

the batance sheet date.

(B) Unlisted equity investments with carrying amounts of US$3.2 million (2004: U5$9.8
million} was pledged to secure certain of the Group's banking facilities.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as follows:

Deferred Tax Assets

At 1 January 2005

Exchange translation

Acquisition of subsidiary
companies (Note 33(D))

Credit to the profit and loss (Nete 7)

Transfer to provision
for taxation (Note 27)
Reclassification

At 31 December 2005

Deferred Tax Assets
At 1 January 2004
Exchange translation
(Charge)/credit to the profit
and loss (Note 7)
Transfer to provision
for taxation {Note 27)
Reclassification

At 31 December 2004

Tax losses
carried
forward
LIS$ millions

Allowance
for doubtful
accounts
LIS$ millions

Others
LISS millions

Consclidated

Total

LIS$ millions

3.7 0.9 1.2 58

(0.2) - - (0.2)

0.1 1.2 1.3

0.6 0.3 6.1 7.0

- - (1.1) (1.1

- - 2.6 2.6

4.2 1.2 10.0 15.4

Tax losses Allowance Consolidated
carried for doubtful Total
forward accounts Others (Restated)

US$ millions

LIS$ millions

LSS millions

LSS millfons

6.2 0.9 0.4 7.5
(0.5) (0.1) (1.6) (2.2)
(2.0) 0.1 0.7 (1.2)

- - (0.3) (0.3)
- - 2.0 2.0
3.7 0.9 1.2 5.8
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The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

Withholding
tax on
undistributed
earnings of

Depreciation of Change in subsidiary and
property and  fair value of associated Consolidated
equipment plantations companies Others Total
LSS millions 1188 millions US$ millions LIS$ millions US$ millions
Deferred Tax Liabilities
At 1 Janary 2005 (78.5) (38.4) 4.1 9.2 {111.8}
Exchange translation 43 21 - 1.5 7.9
Acquisition of subsidiary
companies (Nate 33(D)) - - - (3.7) (3.7}
(Charge)/credit to the profit
and loss {Note 7) (4.8) {3.8) 1.0 29 (4.7}
Transfer to/{from) provision
for taxation {Note 27} - - 1.4 (0.6) 0.8
Reclassification - - - (2.6) (2.6)
At 31 December 2005 (79.0) (40.1) (1.7 6.7 (114.1)
Withhelding
tax on
undistributed
earnings of
Depreciation of Change in subsidiary and Consolidated
property and fair value of associated Total
equipment plantations companies Others (Restated)
LIS§ millions LSS miilions US$ millions LUS$ millions LSS millions
Deferred Tax Liabilities
At 1 January 2004 (76.2) IR (9.3) 8.1 {119.3)
Exchange translation 7.0 37 - (1.0) 9.7
Acquisition of subsidiary
companies - - - (3.4) (3.4)
Increased investments in
subsidiary companies - - - (0.9 (0.9)
(Charge)/credit to the
profit and loss (Note 7) {9.3) (0.2) 45 19 0.1)
Transfer to provision
for taxation (Nofe 27) - - 0.7 3.5 42
Reclassification - - - (2.00 (2.0)
At 31 December 2004 (78.5) {38.4) t4.1) 9.2 (111.8)

At 31 December 2005, tax losses available to reduce future income tax, arising in the entities to
which they relate, amounted to US$55.0 million (2004: US$73.9 million) in respect of non-Hong Kong
tax losses, and US$$39.1 million (2004: US$40.7 million) in respect of Hong Kong tax losses. The non-
Hong Kong tax losses are available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose for 3 to 5 years, whereas Hong Kong tax losses are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No deferred tax
assets have been recognized in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiary companies that
have been loss-making for some time. Except for this, deferred tax assets have been properly recognized.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company 1o

its shareholders.
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21. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Consolidated

2005 2004

LSS millions US§ millions

Assets not yet used in operation 36.4 42.0
Claims for tax refund 42.2 343
Deferred charges 221 15.6
Advances and deposits for purchases 4.2 14.6
Currency swap assets, net - 1301
Others 25.9 5.8
Total 130.8 242.4

Assets not yet used in operation represents certain of Indofood’s properties which have been
acquired but not yet used in operation.

Claims for tax refund relates to advance tax payment made by Indofood in respect of wheat
importation which is creditable against Indofood’s corporate income tax payable.

Deferred changes mainly represents deferred costs and expenses relating to Indofood’s
arrangements for the lease of land.

Advances and deposits for purchases mainly relates to Indofood’s payments made to suppliers
and contractors in relation to the purchase of raw materials and capital equipments.

The balance of currency swap assets {net) at 31 December 2004 relates to Indofood’s hedging
program. The amount was derecognized in March and April 2005 upon Indofood’s termination of the
related currency swap contracts.

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
US$ millions  US$ millions  US$ nullions  USE millions

Cash at banks and in hand 133.2 186.6 26.4 27.0
Short-term time deposits 162.8 - 162.8 -
Total 296.0 186.6 189.2 27.0

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between seven day and one menth depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates, The
carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

23. INVENTORIES

Consolidated

2005 2004

US$ millions LIS$ millions

Raw materials 177.2 159.3
Work in progress 5.6 6.1
Finished goods 91.0 81.0
Properties held for sale 292 35.0
Total 303.0 281.4
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24,

25.

(A) Principal properties held by Metro Pacific group for sale, included in properties held for
sale, at 31 December 2005 are as follows:

Group's Approximate gross Estimated
Economic development area completion
Location interest (%) (sq.m.}® Type Status date
Laguna (Escudere) 214 1,000,000 F Planning -
Costa de Madera, San Juan, M7 3,720,000 R, Ro Planning -
Batangas
Lakewoed, Cabanatuan 33 3,036,358 R Under construction 2007
Batulao, Batangas 735 2,107,050 R Planning -
Calasiao, Pangasinan KIRI] 1,860,000 R Planning -
Calatagan, Batangas 234 618,217 R, Ro Under construction 2014
Lemery, Batangas 385 604,643 F Under construction 2006
Punta Fuego 1, Batangas 212 432,603 R, Ro Under construction 2006
San Pablo, Laguna (Monte Lago) 234 330,000 R Under construction 2009
Stonecrest, San Pedro, Laguna 196 297,81 R Urder construction 2006
Talisay, Cebu 18.9 274,591 R Under construction 2006
Urdaneta, Fangasinan 6.0 34804 R Under construction 2007
Punta Fuegp 2, Batangas 136 236,927 R, Ro Under construction 2006
Silang, Cavite (Ponderosa) n7 185,064 F Under construction 2006
Nasugbo, Batangas (Lhuiller) 136 145,000 R, Ro Under construction 2008
Waterwood, Bulacan 25.7 59,071 R Under construction 2006
Lucena City, Quezon 627 40,706 R Completed -
Legaspi City, Albay 189 36,503 C Under construction 2008
Nasugbu, Batangas (Amara Condo) 234 11,210 H Under construction 2008
Punta Fuego 2 - expansion, Batangas 13,6 430 F Under construction 2006
R = Residential, F = Farm, Ro = Resort, C = Commercial, H = Hotel
(i) Total area for sale as subdivisions and land designated for parks and open spaces.

(B) At 31 December 2005, inventories with a carrying amount of 1U5$12.6 million (2004: US511.6
miltion) have been pledged as security for certain of the Group’s liabilities.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The amount repsesents two of the vessels held by Nenaco planned to be sold in 2006.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Other payables
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UIS$ millions

Consclidated

2005

2004

Us$ millions

172.7 145.1
44.8 49.7
61.1 69.5

278.6 264.3
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An ageing profile of trade payables is analyzed as follows:

0 to 30 days

31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 30 days

Total

Consolidated
2005 2004
US$ miilions LISS millions
160.8 121.2
1.7 7.4
1.3 5.6
8.9 10,9
172.7 145.1

All of the accounts payable, other payables and accruals are expected to be settled within one
year. The carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts payable, other payables and accruals approximate

to their fair values.

26. BORROWINGS

Short-term
Bank loans
QOther loans

Subtotal

Long-term
Bank loans
Other loans

Subtotal

Total

Effective
interest rate (%)

8.9-18.0
2.5-13.5

8.0 -18.0
25-135

Maturity

2006
2006

2007 - 2012
2007 - 2010

Notes

{A)

(B)
(©

Consolidated
2005 2004
USS millions US3 millions
2213 172.1
123.7 116.8
345.0 288.9
57.9 91.0
686.3 670.2
744.2 761.2
1,089.2 1,050.1

The balance of short-term borrowings includes US$124.0 million {2004: US$154.7 million) of
current portion of long-term borrowings,
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The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

Consolidated
Bank loans Other loans Total Total
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
L1S$ mitlions US$ millions US§ millions USS millions US$ millions LSS millions
Not exceeding one year 2213 1721 1237 1168 345.0 2889
More than one year but not
exceeding two vears 0.5 67.0 151.8 115.8 132.3 182.8
More than two vears but not
exceeding five years 1.7 158 5169 3435 518.6 561.3
More than five years 55.7 8.2 17.6 8.9 733 17.1
Total 279.2 2631 810.0 787.0 1,089.2 1,050.1
Representing amounts repayable
- wholly within five years 2235 254.9 792.4 778.1 1,015.9 1,033.0
- not wholly within five years 55.7 8.2 17.6 89 733 17.1
Total 279.2 263.1 §10.0 787.0 1,089.2 1,050.1
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
Consolidated
2005 2004

US§ millions

LSS millions

Rupiah 542.8 534.7
U.5. dollar 501.7 465.3
Peso 44.7 50.1
Total 1,089.2 1,050.1

An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings into fixed and variable interest rate is as

follows:

Fixed interest rate
Variable interest rate

Consolidated
2005
LSS millions

2004
LIS$ nrillions

Total

The carrying amounts and fair values of the long-term borrowings are as follows:

Carrying amounts
2005 2004
US$ miltions  US§ millions

7034 830.0

385.8 220.1

1,089.2 1,050.1
Fair values

2005 2004

LIS$ millions

US$ millions

Bank loans 57.9 91.0 60.6 90.3
Cther loans 686.3 670.2 724.1 694.8
Total 744.2 761.2 784.7 785.1
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The fair values are based on published price quotations for listed notes and bonds issued by the
Group and projected cash flows discounted using the borrowings rates ranging from 8.0 per cent to 12.5
per cent (2004: 7.2 per cent to 15.7 per cent} for the other fixed interest rate borrowings. The carrying
amounts of the Group's variable interest rate borrowings approximate to their fair values due to frequent
repricing.

The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate to their fair value.
Details of borrowings are set out below.
(A)  Short-term Other Loans

The balance includes US55107.3 million of bonds (2004: US$112.6 million} (with a face
value of US$108.0 million (2004: U5$113.0 millien)) issucd by CAB Holdings Limited (CAB}, a
wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company. These bonds were issued by CAB, on 29
July 2003, totaling US$115.0 million, bear interest at 8.25 per cent payable semi-annually in
arrears, mature on 29 July 2006 at their aggregate principal amount and are secured by the
Group’s 51.5 per cent (2004: 51.5 per cent) interest in Indofeod held by CAB and, subject to
certain limitations and conditions, are guaranteed by the Company. During 2003, one of the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary companies repurchased US$2.0 million face value of the
bonds, which were then canceled in 2004, During 2005, CAB repurchased US555.0 million face
value of the bonds at 102.875 per cent of its face value and canceled them during the year.

(B) Long-term Bank Loans

The balance includes a U5%49.3 million {with a face value of U5$50.0 million} bank loan
(2004: Nil) secured by the Group's 1.7 per cent interest in PLDT, subject to a variable LIBOR
(London Inter-bank Offer Rates) based interest rate, which is repayable in November 2012

(<) Long-term Other Loans

The balance principally includes US5193.1 million (with a face value of U55199.0 million)
Exchangeable Notes (2004: Nil) issued by First Pacific Finance Limited (FPF), a wholly-owned
subsidiary company of the Company, and various bonds issued by Indofood.

(a) Details of the Exchangeable Notes issued by FPF are summarized as follows:

On 18 January 2005, the Company issued US5$199.0 million five-year zero coupon
Exchangeable Notes through FPE. The Exchangeable Notes are unsecured obligations of
FPF and are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Company.

The Exchangeable Notes have a yield to maturity of 5.625 per cent per annum.
Unless previously redeemed, exchanged, or purchased and cancelled, FPF will redeem
the Exchangeable Notes at 131.97 per cent of their principal amount on 18 January 2010.
Noteholders have the option to put the Exchangeable Notes to FPF at 118.11 per cent of
their principal amount value on the third anniversary of the Exchangeable Notes.

The Exchangeable Notes carry an initial conversion premium of 21 per cent, which
franslates the conversion price into UU5$29.33 per PLDT share. Assuming full exchange of
the Exchangeable Notes, the Exchangeable Notes will be exchangeable into approximately
3.8 per cent of the total commen shares issued by PLDT.

(b) Details of the bonds issued by Indofuod are summarized as follows:

n US$151.7 million five-year Eurobonds (with a face value of U55153.7
million, which represents the original amount issued in June 2002 of
US$280.0 million less repurchase of the bonds with a face value of US55126.3
million made during 2005) (2004: US$278.6 million), with a coupon rate of
10.375 per cent, payable semi-annually, and mature in June 2007;

- 103 -




APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

27.

28.

(1D Rupiah 1.2 trillion (U5$123.4 million) of Rupiah bonds (which represents
the original amount issued in June 2003 of Rupiah 1.5 trillion (U5%152.6
million) less repurchase of the bonds with a face value of Rupiah 0.3
trillion (US$30.3 million) during 2005) (2004: US$161.5 millien), with a
coupon rate of 13.5 per cent, payable quarterly, and mature in June 2008;
and

(111} Rupiah 1.0 trillion (JS$98.8 million} of Rupiah bonds (which represents
the original amount issued in July 2004 of Rupiah 1.0 trillion (U55101.7
million) less repurchase of the bonds with a face value of Rupiah 24 billion
{US52.4 million) during 2005} (2004: US$107.6 million), with a coupon rate
of 12.5 per cent, payable quarterly, and mature in July 2009,

(D) Pledge of Assets

At 31 December 2005, total borrowings include secured bank and other borrowings of
US$187.5 million (2004: US$182.2 million). Such bank and other borrowings were secured by the
Group's property and equipment, available-for-sale assets/investments and inventories equating
to a net book value of US$45.2 million (2004: US$44.8 million) and the Group’s interests of 51.5
per cent (2004: 51.5 per cent) in Indofood and 1.7 per cent (2004: 3.2 per cent) in PLDT, respectively.

PROVISION FOR TAXATION

Consolidated

2005 2004

LISS miltions LI5S millions

At 1 January 26.2 36.8

Exchange translation (1.2) {4.2)

Acquisition of subsidiary companics - 0.6

Provision for taxation on estimated assessable

profits for the year (Note 7) 28.9 306

Transfer (to)/from deferred taxation (Note 20) (0.3} 39

Total 53.6 67.7

Tax paid (42.4) (41.5)

At 31 December 1.2 26.2
DEFERRED LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS

Consolidated

Deferred  Long-term Tolal Total

Pension income  payables Gthers 2005 2004

(Restated)

USS millions USS millions USS miilions LSS millions USS millions USS milliens

At 1 fJanuary 40.9 283 39.6 16.4 125.2 129.6
Exchange translation 2.1 0.3 1.4 0.1 {0.5) (5.1
Additions 225 0.1 52 31 309 94
Payment and utilization (10.1} {2.5) (11.9) (3.3) (27.8) (27.8)
Reclassification - - {19.8) - (19.8) 19.1
At 31 December 51.2 26.0 14.5 16.3 108.0 125.2

Presented As:

Current Portion 1.0 1.3 36 04 15.3 18.1
Non-current Portion 50.2 A7 10.9 &9 9.7 1071
Total 51.2 26.0 145 16.3 108.0 1252
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Pension relates to accrued liabilities in relation to retirement schemes and long service payments,
Deferred income relates to an upfront service fee received by Asia Link B.V. (ALBV}), a wholly-
owned subsidiary company of the Company, from Smart Communications, Inc. (Smart}, a wholly-owned
subsidiary company of PLDT, in respect of their arrangement for service agreement {Note 37(DD)) and

the unrealized gross profit arising on property sales.

Long-term payables relate to Metro Pacific’s estimated liabilities for property development and
Indofood’s acerued costs for dismantlement, removal or restoration in relation te property and equipment.

Others mainly relate to provisions for warranty claims.

29. SHARE CAPITAL

Consolidated
and Company
2005 2004
US$ millions LSS millions
Authorized
5,000,000,000 (2004: 5,000,000,000) ordinary shares
of U.5. 1 cent each 50.0 50.0
Issued and fully paid
3,188,833,003 (2004: 3,185,993,003) ordinary shares
of U.5. 1 cent each 31.9 noe

During the year, 2,840,000 share options were exercised at the exercise price of HK$1.76 per
share, resulting in the issuc of 2,840,000 new ordinary shares of U.5. 1 cent each for a total cash
consideration of HK$5.0 million (U580.6 million). Details of the Company’s share option schemu are set
out in Note 36(D) {a) to the Financial Statements.

30. OTHER RESERVES

An analysis of the Group’s exchange reserve, by principal operating company, is set out below.

Consolidated
2005 2004
(Restated)
LSS millions USE millions
PLDT (29.3) (50.4)
Indofood (25.0) (11.6)
Others 34 22
Total (50.9) {59.8)

An analysis of the accumulated reserves of associated companies, included within the consolidated
reserves, is set out below.

Consolidated
2005 2004
{Restated)
USs$ millions L15$ millions
Revenue reserve (962.4) (1,081.7)
Exchange reserve {29.3) (50.4)
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedges 4.0 -

Total {987.7) (1,132.1)
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The contributed surplus of the Company arose from a reorganization of the Group in 1988 and
represents the difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the
aggregate net asset value of the subsidiary companies acquired at the date of acquisition. Under the
Companics Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the Company may make distributions to its shareholders
out of the contributed surplus provided certain conditions are met.

31, MINORITY INTEREST

An analysis of the Group’s minority interest, by principal operating company, is set out below.

Consolidated
2005 2004
(Restated)
LIS$ millions USE millions
Indofood 296.1 335.6
Metro Pacific 27.8 28.1
Total 323.9 363.7

32. DERIVATIVE LIABILITY

Derivative liability represents the fair value of the option embedded within the Exchangeable
Notes issued by FPFE. Details regarding the issue of the Exchangeable Notes is set out in Note 26(C)(a).

The exchangeable option of the Exchangeable Notes qualified as an embedded derivative under
HKAS 39. Upon the initial recognition, the fair value of the option of US$13.9 million is identified and
accounted for separately from the fair value of the bond instrument. The fair value of the option
liability was remeasured to US$39.3 million on a mark-to-market basis at 31 December 2005, reflecting
primarily the change in PLDT share price. The U5$25.4 million increase in fair value of the option
during 2005 was recognized and charged to the profit and loss statement.

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(A) Increased Investments in Associated Companies

The cash outflows of US$57.3 million mainly relates to the Group’s increased interest in
PLDT by approximately 1.1 per cent,

(B) Acquisition of Associated Companies

The cash outflows of US$17.6 million mainly relates to the Group’s acquisition of a 25.0
per cent interest in Level Up in March 2005 and an associated company formed by Indofood.

() Deposits for acquisition and increased investments in subsidiary companies

The cash outflows of US$14.9 million mainly represent deposits made by PT 5alim Ivomas
Pratama (SIMP), a 80 per cent ewned subsidiary company of Indofood, for the acquisition of
convertible bonds issued by PT Sarana Inti Pratama, a palm breading and research management
company. 2004"s cash outflow of US$39.1 million represents Indofood’s deposits, for acquiring
convertible bonds issued by PT Bina Makna Indopratama (Bina Makna) and the acquisition of
two oil palm plantation companies.
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(D)  Acquisition of Subsidiary Companies

2004
Indofood's Indofood's
acquisition of Indafood’s acquisition of
Silveron  acquisition of Perfect Wealth
Investments PT Kebun [avestments
Limited {SiL) and Mandiri Limited and
its subsidiary Sejahtera 2005  its subsidiary
companies {KMS) Others Total company
LS§ millions US$ mitlions LSS millions USS millions 1S5 mitlions
Consideration
Cash and cash
equivalents 1.8 77 0.1 9.4 284
Accounts receivable,
other receivables
and prepayments
{Current) 16.7 - - [6.7 -
Total 18.5 7.7 0.1 26.3 284
Net Assets
Property and equipment
{(Note 12) 1.7 0.7 03 27 208
Plantations {Nofe 13) 137 44 - 18.1 -
Goodwill - - - - 21
Deferred tax assets
{Note 20) 0.6 0.7 - 13 0.7
Other non-current assets 1.9 - - 19 -
Cash and cash equivalents 24 0.5 0.3 34 28
Accounts receivable,
other receivables and
prepayments (Current) 0.5 19 1.8 7.2 85
Inventories 0.1 03 0.8 1.2 8
Accounis payable,
other payables and
accruals 0.8) (0.3} (3.0 {£.2) {6.4)
Short-term borrowings (1.1} - - 0.1 {1.1)
Provision for taxation - - - - (0.6)
Long-term borrowings (14) - - 1.4 -
Deferzed tax liabilities
(Note 20) (37) - - (3.7) (3.4)
Mirority interest - (0.8) - (0.8} {7.7)
Total Net Assets Acquired
at Fair Value 141 104 0.1 246 U5
Goodwill/(Excess over the
Cost of a Business
Combination) (Note 17) 44 (2.7) - 17 6.9
Net [nflowH{Outflow)
of Cash and
Cash Equivalents per
Consolidated
Cash Flow Statement 0.8 (7.2) 0.2 6.2) 256
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In June 2005, SIMP completed the acquisition of 100 per cent interest in SIL at a
consideration of Rupiah 175 billion (U5518.5 million). SIL has 100 per cent direct and indirect
equity interests in PT Kebun Ganda Prima and PT Citranusa Intisawit, respectively, which are
both engaged in the operations of oil palm plantations in Indonesia.

In November 2005, SIMP acquired a 93.4 per cent interest in KMS, a rubber plantation
company for a consideration of Rupiah 75 billion (US$7.7 million).

Since the date of acquisitions, SIL incurred a loss for the year of U5$0.5 million and KMS
had o profit for the year of US$0.1 million, which was included in the profit and loss of the
Group. If all of the above acquisitions had taken place on 1 January 2005, the turnover and profit
for the year of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2005 would have been US$1,987.8
million and US$138.8 million, respectively. The subsidiary companies acquired during the year
had nct cash outflows from operating activities and investing activities, respectively, of US5$0.2
million and US$3.3 million, and received US$3.2 million in respect of financing activities during
the year,

(E) Acquisition of Convertible Bonds

The cash outflows of US$5.2 million represents the acquisition by SIMP of convertible
bonds issued by PT Tahta Bahtera (TB), a shipping company. The bonds had been converted into
a 90.9 per cent equity interest in TB by SIMP in January 2006.

{F) Increased Investments in Subsidiary Companies

The cash outflows of U554.9 million represent a remaining 20 per cent balance of payment
(equivalent to Rupiah 48 billion) for Indefood’s increased interest in four of its oils and distribution
subsidiary companies, PT Bitung Menado Oil Industry, PT Intiboga Sejahtera, PT Sawitra Qil
Grains and PT Indomarco Adi Prima, from approximately 80.0 per cent to 100 per cent through
the acquisition and conversion of convertible bonds issued by Bina Makna and acquisition of the
remaining minority interest of Bina Makna. In 2004, Indefood has made a B0 per cent deposit
(equivalent to Rupiah 192 billion or US$21.4 million) for this acquisition, which has been included
in 2004’s cash flow statement as deposits for acquisition and increased investments in subsidiary
companies. 2004’s cash outflow of US$16.9 million principally represents payments made by
Indofeod for increasing its interest in a food seasonings subsidiary company, PT Indosentra
Pelangi, from 70.0 per cent to 92.2 per cent.

G) Restricted Cash

At 31 December 2005, the Group had US$4.7 million (2004: US$9.2 millien) of cash which
was restricted as to use. All of this US$4.7 million {2004: US$%4.5 million) amount is expected to
be released within one year from 31 December 2005 and required to be classified as current
assets.
(H) Major Non-cash Transaction

During the year, Metro Pacific settled approximately Pesos 500 million {(U5%9.1 million}

of borrowings through the transfer of available-for-sale assets and other property assets to its
creditors.
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34. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(A) Capital Expenditure

Consolidated
2005 2004
LISS miitlions USE millions
Commitments in respect of subsidiary companies:
Authorized, but not contracted for 15.1 19.1
Contracted, but not provided for 7.5 9.1
Total 22.6 28.2

The Group’s capital expenditure commitments principally relate to Indofood’s purchase
of property, machinery and equipment.

The Company has no commitments in respect of capital expenditures (2004: Nil).
(B) Leasing Commitments

At 31 December 20035, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancelable operating leases falling due as follows.

Consolidated
2005 2004
USS millions LISS miillions
Land and Buildings

— Within one vear 35 21
- Between two and five years inclusive 9.8 7.0
- After five years 4.2 1.0
Subtotal 17.5 10.1

Hire of Plant and Equipment and Others
- Within one year 0.5 0.5
- Between two and five years inclusive 1.0 1.3
— After five years 0.2 0.2
Subtotal 1.7 2.0
Total 19.2 12.1

At 31 December 2005, the Company did not have any leasing commitments (2004: Nil).
Q) Contingent Liabilities

At 31 December 2005, neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent
liabilities (2004: Nil).
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35,

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

(A) Remuneration
2005 2004
(Restated)
LSS millions US$ millions
Basic salaries 1421 141.2
Benuses 234 19.4
Benefits in kind 19.5 21.0
Pension contributions 8.4 7.7
Equity-settled share option expense 5.2 4.4
Total 198.6 193.7
Average Number of Employees 47,881 48,110

The above includes the remuneration of the Directors. Detailed disclosures in respect of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 36(A) to the Fipancial Statements.

{B) Retirement Benefits

The Group operates both defined contribution and defined benefit schemes covering
approximately 22,001 (2004: 24,653) employecs.

{a) Defined Contribution Sclemes

The Group operates six (2004: six) defined contribution schemes covering
approximately 20,686 (2004: 23,469) employees. The assets of these schemes are held
separately from the Group and are administered by independent trustees. Contributions
to the schemes, either by the Group or by the employees, are determined by reference to
the employees” salaries and length of service and range from zero per cent to 10 per cent
{2004: zero per cent to 10 per cent). Under the terms of the schemes, the Group cannot be
requested to make additional payments over and above these levels of contributions. In
three {2004: three) of the schemes, forfeited contributions may be used to reduce the
existing levels of employer contributions and, in 2005, no amounts (2004: Nil) were used
for this purpose. At 31 December 2005, the forfeited contributions had been fully utilized.

(b) Defined Benefit Schemes

The Group operates four (2004: two)} defined benefit schemes covering
approximately 1,315 (2004: 1,184} employees. The assets of three of these schemes are
held separately from the Group and are administered by independent trustees. Benefits
are determined by reference to employees’ final salaries and length of service, and the
schemes have undergone independent valuations. These actuarial valuations, performed
by PT Jasa Aktuaria Praptasentosa Gunajasa’s actuary (a member of the Fellow Society of
Actuary of Indonesia and Expert in Life Insurance in Indonesia) and Actuarial Advisers,
Inc. and Mr. Orlando J. Manalang, FASP (members of Actuarial Society of the Philippines),
were based on the projected unit credit method. The plan assets do not include any
financial instruments of the Group or property occupied by, or other assets used by, the
Group. At 31 December 2005, the Group’s level of funding in respect of its defined
benefit schemes was 45.8 per cent (2004: 55.3 per cent).
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The amount of deficit under defined benefit schemes included in the balance

sheet is as follows:

Consolidated
2005 2004
115% millions LIS$ millions

Present value of defined benefit obligations 11.0 9.0
Fair value of plan assets (6.2) (6.4)
Liability in Balance Sheet 4.8 2.6

The movements of defined benefit liability during the year are as follows:

Consolidated
2005 2004
LSS millions UI5$ millions

At 1 January 2.6 4.2
Exchange translation {0.13 (0.2)
Net pension scheme cost recognized

in the profit and loss statement 3.5 1.0
Payment (1.2) (2.4)
At 31 December 48 26

The amount recognized in the profit and loss statement is analyzed as follows:

Consolidated
2008 2004
LSS millions US$ millions

Current service cost 0.4 0.4
Past service cost 3.5 0.5
Expected return on plan assets {0.5) (0.7
Net actuarial losses recognized in the year 0.1 0.8

Total Included in Employee Remuneration
(within Administrative expenses) 35 1.0

Actual Return on Plan Assets 8% 9%

Principal actuarial assumptions (weighted average) at 31 December are as follows:

2005 2004

Discount rate N% 9%

Expected return on plan assets 10% 3%

Future salary increases 7% 6%

Future pension increases 7% 6%
Average remaining working lives

of employees (ycars) 12 12
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Q) Loans to Officers

During 2005 and 2004, there were no loans made by the Group to officers which require

disclosure pursuant to Section 1618 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

36. DIRECTOR AND SENIOR EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

{A) Directors’” Remuneration

The table below shows the remuneration of Directors on an individual named basis.

Directors’ Remuneration - 2005

Non-performance based

Petformance Equity-settled

Other Pension based  share option 2005
Salaries benefits contributions  payments™  expense Fees™ Emoluments™ Total
1I55°000 Us$'000 {58000 LIS$'006 US$'000 Us§'000 LISs'000 Lss 000
Chairman
Antheni Salim 13 - - - - - - 435
Executive Directors
Manuel V. Pangilinan
{Managing Director
and Chief Executive
Officer) 1467 210 bl 1,008 1,24 - - 4,000
Edward A. Tortorici 900 19 1164 - 1,234 - - 3483
Rabert C. Nicholson 4% 1 2 167 941 - - 2344
Noa-Executive Directors
His Excellency Albert F
del Rosario - - - - 119 b5 - 144
Sutanto Djuhar - - - - - - - -
Tedy Djubar - - - - - - - -
Borahim Risjad - - - - - - - -
Benny 5. Santosa - - - - 19 - - n
Independent
Non-Executive
Directors
Graham L. Pickles - - - - 19 b3 - 18
Edward K.Y. Chen
(GBS, CBE, [P) - - - - it n - 174
David W.C. Tang
{OBE, Chevalier de
L'Ordre des Arls et
des Leltres) - - - - 119 0 77 %
Total 373 426 1,257 1475 3,984 175 ” 119
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Directors’” Remuneration — 2004

Non-performance based

Pecformance Equity-settied 004
Other Pensicn based  share optien (Restated)
Salaries benefits contributions  payments”  expense Fees™ Emoluments™ Total

L35 000 uss'00 LIs3'000 uss'o60 Li55'000 1155000 Uss o0 Lss'000

Chairman

Anthoni Salim - - - - - - - -
Execative Directors

Manuel ¥. Pangilinan

{Managing Director
and Chief Execulive
Offieen) 1,180 169 76 1,003 939 - - 3,687
Edward A. Tortorici 837 128 261 1,168 939 - - 354
Robert C. Nicholson 49 2 1 375 7 - - 1,848
Non-Executive Directors
His Excellency Albert
T. del Resario - % - - 163 %5 - 6
Sutanto Djuhar - - - - - - - -
Tedy Diuhar - - - - - - - -
Thrahim Risjad - - - - - - - -
Benny S. Santose - - - - 163 - - 163
Independent
Non-Executive
Directors
Graham L. Pickies - - - ~ 165 3 - A}
Edward K.Y. Chen
(GBS, CBE, JP) - - - - 163 55 - ne
David W.C. Tang
(OBE, Checalier de
L'Ordre des Arts et
des Letires) - - - - 165 B i1 i
Total 3,066 k25 3% 54 344 17 i 9967
(i) Performance based payments comprise performance bonus and long-ternr monetary

incentive awards.
(ii) For meetings attended.
(iii}  For consultancy services provided to the Company.
Included within total Directors’ remuneration is an amount of US%0.8 miltion (2004: US%0.9

million) paid by PLDT, an associated company, in respect of the services of the Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer.
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(B) Senior Executives” Remuneration

As similar remuneration schemes operate for the senior executives of the Group, their
remuneration may exceed that of the Company’s Directors. Two (2004: Two) senior executives

were among the Group's five highest earning emplovees. The remaining three (2004: three), of

the five highest earning employees, are the Company’s Directors.
2005
Us$ millions

Non-performance based

2004
{Restated)
US$ millions

— Salaries and benefits 0.6 0.6
Performance based

- Bonuses and long-term monetary incentive awards 0.2 0.2
Equity-settled share option expense 0.6 0.4
Total 1.4 1.2

The table below shows the remuneration of the two (2004: two) senior executives who

were among the Group’s five highest earning employees in 2005,

2005 2004

(Restated)

Remuneration bands Number Number
US$509,001 - US$573,000 - 1
US$637,001 -~ US$701,000 1
US$701,001 - US$765,000 1 -

Total 2 2

() Key Management Personnel Compensation
Consolidated
2005 2004

uss$ millions

Non-performance based

LSS millions

- Salaries and benefits 11.0 10.3

— Pension contributions 1.4 0.4
Performance based

- Bonuses and long-term monetary incentive awards 3.4 4.4
Equity-settled share option expense 5.2 4.4
Total 21.0 19.5

-114 -




APPENDIX 1 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

(D}

Share Options

Particulars of the share options of the Company and its subsidiary company granted to

the Directors and senior executives of the Company and its subsidiary company at 31 Diecember

2005 are set out below.

(a) Particulars of the Company’s Share Option Schene
Share Share Share Market
options  options  optiens Share  Market price
heldat  exercised heldat31  options price  during Fully

1 January during the December  exercise  atdate period of Grant  vested Exerciszble Exerrisable
Company 005 year 2005 price  ofgrant  evercise date by from until
{HK3) {HES) {HES)

Executive Directors

Manuel V. Pangilinan 31,500,000 - 31,800,000 1.76 176 - 1June  December June May
04 008 003 04
Edward A. Torlorici 31,800,000 - 31,800,000 176 176 - 1June  December June May
004 2008 2005 4
Robert C. Nicholson 4,500,000 - 24500,000 176 176 - | June  December June May

004 2008 200 04
Non-Execulive Directoss

His Excellency

Albert F. del Rosario 2,840,000 - 1540,000 176 17 - 1 June June June May
W4 005 2005 w04
Benny 5. Santoso 2,840,000 - 1540000 176 176 - 1 June June June May

0 05 2005 0id
Independent Nen-Executive

Directors
Graham L. Pickles 2,840,000 - 2,540,000 1.7 178 - 1]June June June May
2004 2005 2005 2014
Edward K.Y. Chen 2,840,000 - LB0000 176 1.76 - I June June June May
{GBS, CBE, jP) 2004 2005 200 04
David WC. Tang 2,840,000 (2,840,000) - 1.7 176 263 t0 1 June June Junz -
{OBE, Cheralier 170 2004 2005 2005
de L'Ordre dos Arls o
des Leitres)
Senior Executives 32,186,000 - 32,286,000 176 176 - 1June  December June May
2004 2008 2005 014
Total 134,586,000 (2,840,000 )131,746,000

At the AGM held on 24 May 2004, the Company’s shareholders approved a share
option scheme (the Scheme) under which the Directors may, at their discretion, at any
time during the period of the Scheme, grant to directors and executives of the Company
share options of the Company as part of the Company’s long-term incentive program.
The Scheme, which complies with the provisions set out in Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules, became effective on 24 May 2004, The Scheme will be valid for ten years and will
expire on 23 May 2014.

The maximum number of shares on which options may be granted may not exceed
10 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital, excluding any shares issued on the
exercise of options at any time. The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme to any one participant in any 12-month period
is limited to one per cent of the aggregate number of shares of the Company in issue at
the time of the proposed grant of options to such participant.
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The exercise price in relation to each share option offer shall be determined by the
Directors at their absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less then the highest
of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of
Stocks Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Company’s
share on the date of grant. The terms of the Scheme provide that subject to any other
restrictions en vesting imposed by the Directors, share options may be exercised under
the Scheme at any time from the date of acceptance until the date of expiry. All options
presently outstanding under the Scheme are subject to certain restrictions on exercise
including a prohibition on exercise at any time during the period commencing one year
after the date on which any option is accepted. Options which lapse or are cancelled
prior to their expiry date are deleted from the register of options.

On 1 June 2004, 134,586,000 share options under the Company’s Scheme were
granted. The average fair value of options granted as calculated by Watson Wyatt Hong
Kong Limited, based on the binomial model, was HK$0.849 or an aggregate value of
US$14.6 million for all options granted. The assumptions used were as follows:

Share price at date of grant HKS$1.76
Exercise price HK$1.76
Expected volatility (based on historical volatility

of the Company’s shares commensurate with the

average expected life of the options granted) 55 per cent
Option life 10 years
Expected dividend yield 1 per cent per annum
Average risk-free interest rate {based on Hong Kong

Exchange Fund Notes}) 4.06 per cent per annum

Taking into account the expected turnover rate of Directors and senior executives
and early exercise behavior, the average expected life of the options granted was estimated
to be 6.61 years. The early exercise behavior assumes that option holders will exercise the
options when the share price is at least 75 per cent higher than the exercise price.

The binomial model, appilied for determining of the estimated values of the share
options granted under the Company’s Scheme, was developed for use in estimating the
fair value of traded options that are fully transferable. Such an option pricing model
requires input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price

volatility. As the Company’s share options have characteristics significantly different
from those of traded options, changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the estimated value of the options granted.

Details of the Group’s accounting policy in respect of share options granted are
set out in Note 2(E)(p)(11I) to the Financial Statements.
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{b) Particulars of Metro Pacific’s Share Option Schemes

Share Share Share
oplions options aptions Share Market
held at canceled  held at 31 oplion price
1)anvary  duringthe  December exercise at date Grani  Exercisable  Exercisable
METRO PACIFIC 2003 year 2005 price of grant date from uatil
{Peso) {Pesa)
Senior Execulives 30,29 (3.027,259) - 181 237 16 April 195 April 1996 April 2005
3590000 (3,990,000) - 191 137 1August 1995 August 199 August 2003
315,684 - 315,684 346 357 1 August 1997 August 1997 August 2007
Total 932543 (9017.259) 315,684

On 15 May 1990, Metro Pacific approved a share option scheme (Old Scheme)}
under which Metro Pacific directors may, at their discretion, invite executives of Metro
Pacific upon the regularization of employment of eligible executives, to take up share
options of Metro Pacific to obtain an ewnership interest in Metro Pacific and for long-
term employment motivation. The scheme became effective on 15 Mav 1990. The scheme
is valid for an indefinite period of time.

The maximum number of shares on which options may be granted may not exceed
10 per cent of the issued share capital of Metro Pacific, excluding any shares issued on
the exercise of options at any time. At 31 December 2005, the number of shares issuable
under share options granted under Mectro Pacific’s share option scheme was 315,684,
which represents less than 0.01 per cent of Metro Pacific’s shares in issue at that date.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
scheme to any one participant (including shares issued and issuable to him/her under all
the options previously granted to him/her) is limited to 30 per cent of the maximum
aggregate number of shares of Metro Pacific at the time of the proposed grant of options
to such participant.

The exercise price in relation to each option offer shall be determined by Metro
Pacific directors at their absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less than the (i)
average of the official closing price of the shares on the Philippine Stock Exchange {(PSE)
for the twenty trading days immediately preceding the relevant offer date or (i) the par
valuc of the shares.

On 12 August 2005, the shareholders of Metro Pacific approved a new share option
scheme (New Scheme) under which Metro Pacific directors may, at their discretion, invite
executives of Metro Pacific upon the regularization of employment of eligible executives,
to take up share options of Metro Pacific to obtain an ownership interest in Metro Pacific
and for the purpose of long-term employment motivation. The New Scheme is valid for
ten years and became effective on 12 August 2005.

The maximum number of shares on which options may be granted under the
New Scheme may not exceed 10 per cent of the issued share capital of Metro Pacific from
time to time less the number of options outstanding under the Old Scheme. Upon the

adoption of the New Scheme, no further share options will be granted under the Old
Scheme. The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to any eligible participant (whether or not already an
option holder) in any twelve-month period shall not exceed one per cent of the shares in
issue at the relevant time.
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The exercise price in relation to each option grant under the New Scheme shall be
determined by Metro Pacific directors at their absclute discretion, but in any event shall
not be less than (i) the closing price of the Metro Pacific shares for one or more board lots
of such Metro Pacific shares on the PSE on the option grant date; (ii) the average closing
price of the Metro Pacific share for one or more beard lots of such Metro Pacific shares on
the PSE for the five business days immediately preceding the option grant date; or {iii}
the par value of the Metro Pacific shares, whichever is higher.

No share options have been granted or exercised during the year in respect of
Metro Pacific’s share option schemes.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year are disclosed as

follows:

(A)

(©

(D)

At 31 December 2005, Mcrae Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary company
of the Company, had an outstanding receivable from Metro Pacific which amounted to
Pesos 793 million (US$14.9 million) (31 December 2004: Pesos 793 million or US§14.1
million). The amount is interest-free, secured and repayable within one year.

On 31 December 2004, Metro Pacific Resources, Inc. {(MPRI), a company in which the
Company has 100 per cent economic interest, entered into a subscription agreement with
Metro Pacific to subscribe Pesos 450 million (UUS$8.0 million) of Series 1-C Preferred
Shares which were issued in two tranches in January and June 2005.

In August 2005, MPRI advances Pesos 61 million (US$%1.1 million) to Metro Pacific in
order to provide Metro Pacific with the cash resources to meet general working capital
requirements. The amount is interest-free, unsecured and repayable within one year.

ALBYV, a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company, had a technical assistance
agreement with Smart, a wholly-owned subsidiary company of PLDT, for ALBV to provide
Smart with technical support services and assistance in the operations and maintenance
of cellular mobile telecommunications services for a period of four years from 23 February
2004, subject to renewal upon mutual agreement between the parties. The agreement
provides for quarterly payments of technical service fees equivalent to one per cent
(2004: one per cent) of the consolidated net revenue of Smart.

ALBV also has an existing service agreement with Smart for a period of 25 years starting
1 January 1999, which shall automatically expire unless renewed by mutual agreement of
both parties. Under the agreement, ALBV provides advice and assistance to Smart in
sourcing capital equipment and negotiating with international suppliers, arranging
international financing and other services therein consistent with and for the furtherance
of the objectives of the services, Service agreement fees were paid for the whole 25-year
period.

Total fees under these arrangements amounted to Pesos 567 million (U5$10.3 million) for
the year ended 31 December 2005 (2004: Pesos 507 million or US$9.0 million). At 31
December 2005, ALBV had outstanding receivables under the technical assistance
agreement amounting to Pesos 194 million (US53.7 million) (2004: Pesos 267 million or
US54.8 million).
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{E)

{F)

In the ordinary course of business, Indofood has engaged in trade transactions with
certain of its associated and affiliated companies, the majority of which are related to the
Salim Family either through direct and/or common share ownership and common
management. Mr. Anthoni Salim is the Chairman and a substantial shareholder of the
Company and is the President Director and Chief Executive Officer of Indafood.

All significant transactions with related parties, whether or not conducted under normal
terms and conditions similar to those with non-related parties, are disclosed as follows.

Nature of transactions Consolidated
For the year ended 31 December 2005 2004
LISE millions USE millions

Profit and Loss Items
Sales of finished goods

- to associated companies 40.2 52.6

- to affiliated companies 333 23.7
Purchases of raw materials

~ from associated companies 259 15.8

- from affiliated companies 5.5 9.8

Management and technical services fee income
and royalty income

- from associated companies 0.4 0.2

- from affiliated companies 31 2.1
Rental expenses

- to affiliated companies 1.4 31
Transportation and pump services expenses

- to affiliated companies 1.0 1.6

Approximately four per cent (2004: four per cent) of Indofood’s sales and two per cent
(2004: two per cent} of its purchases were transacted with these related companies.

Nature of balances Consolidated
At 31 December 2005 2004
LSS millions US$ millions

Balance Sheet Items
Accounts receivable - trade

- from associated companies 0.1 6.5

- from affiliated companies 4.8 4.6
Accounts receivable - non-trade

- from associated companies 0.1 38

- from affiliated companies 59 4.3
Long-term receivables

- from associated companies - 4.7
Accounts payable - trade

- to associated companies 6.4 2.5

- to affiliated companies 1.2 1.z

Certain of the above Indofood’s related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of compensation of key management personnel of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 36(C) to the Financial Statements.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and
other interest-bearing loans, and cash and short-term time deposits. The main purpose of thesc financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilitics such as trade reccivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swap and
foreign exchange contracts. The purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from
the Group’s operations and its sources of finance,

It is, and has been, throughout the year, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments
shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are market risk (including currency
risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and fair value and cash flow interest rate risk. The
Company’s Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarized below. The Group’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in Note 2(E)(s)
to the Financial Statements.

(A) Market Risk
(a) Currency Risk

To manage the Group’s foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial
transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, and improve investment and cash flow
planning. In addition to natural hedge, the Group enters into and cngages in foreign
exchange contracts for the purpose of managing its foreign exchange rate exposures
emanating from business, transaction specific, as well as currency translation risks and
reducing and/or managing the adverse impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on
the Group’s operating results and cash flows. However, the aforementioned derivative
instruments of the Group do not qualify as effective hedge and therefore not designated
as effective hedges for accounting purposes in accordance with the provisions of HKAS 39,

(b Price Risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk, especially wheat and CPO, which
are the raw materials used to manufacture the Group’s products, which depends on the
level of demand and supply in the market, and the global economic environment. The
Group is also exposed to commodity price risk as changes in fair values of future
commodity contracts used by certain subsidiary companies to manage their exposures on
commodity price fluctuations are directly recognized to profit and loss. Such future
commodity contracts also do not qualify as cffective hedge and therefore not designated
as effective hedges for accounting purposes in accordance with the provisions of HKAS 39.

{B) Credit Risk

For consumer food products business, the Group has credit risk arising from the credit
given to the customers, but it has policies in place to ensure that wholesales of products are
made to creditworthy customers with an appropriate credit history. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. The
Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any particular customer, such as
requiring sub-distributors to provide bank guarantee. For the property business, transfers of
property litles are effected upon full payment of the purchase price. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to reduce the Group’s exposure to bad debts.
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39.

With respect to credit risk arising from the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments,

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
(Q) Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its liquidity profile te be able to finance its capital expenditure and
service its maturing debts by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flow information and
continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to pursue fund-raising
initiatives. These initiatives may include bank loans, and debt capital and equity market issues.

(D) Fair Value and Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. At 31 December 2005, 64.6 per cent of the Group's
borrowings were at fixed rates,

The value of the Group's investments in fixed rate debentures/debt securities fluctuate
as a result of changes in market interest rates and the changes in their values are recognized in
the Group's equity. As the Group has no significant floating rate financial assets, the Group's
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(A} Further to the Company’s announcement dated 18 January 2006, the Group continues to
acquire shares in PLDT. During January to March 2006, the Group acquired an aggregate
of 1.3 million shares in PLDT, representing approximately 0.7 per cent of the tofal issued
common shares of PLDT for a total consideration of U5544.5 million. As a result, the
Group's economic and voting interests in PLDT increased to 24.5 per cent and 31.2 per
cent, respectively.

(B) On 31 January 2006, NTT DoCoMo, Inc. {DoCoMo)} had agreed to acquire 12,633,486
common shares of PLDT, representing approximately 7 per cent of PLDT's totat
outstanding common shares, from NTT Communications, Inc. (NTT Com) for a total
consideration of Yen 52,103 million {equivalent to approximately US$440 million). NTT
Com will retain 12,633,487 common shares of PLDT, thus remaining as a significant
shareholder of PLDT with a similar 7 per cent equity holding.

The Company and certain of its group companies signed a Cooperation Agreement on 31
January 2006 with PLDT, DoCoMeo and NTT Com which amended both the existing
contracts between the parties and the shareholding arrangements. The share acquisition
and other business arrangements will take effect after DoCoMo, PLDT and Smart acquire
certain licenses and approvals.

Smart and DoCoMo have agreed to collaborate with each other in the rollout and
development of 3G services in the Philippines. Smart will introduce DoCoMo’s mobile
internct service, i-mode, exclusively for Smart’s subscribers. DoCoMo will provide the
know-how, technologies and patents necessary for Smart to operate the i-mode service
over GPRS and W-CDMA networks.

The actual transfer of 12,633,486 common shares of PLDT from NTT Com to DoCoMo
was completed on 14 March 2006.
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{C) On 27 March 2006, Metro Pacific announced a three-stage recapitalization and
reorganization plan involving ultimately raising fresh capital of approximately Pesos 2.7
billion (US$50.9 million} from its existing shareholders and a third party strategic investor.
The plan is expected to be concluded in September 2006.

40. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As explained in Note 2(B) to the Financial Statements, due to the adoption of a number of new
and revised HKFRSs during the current year, the accounting treatment and presentation of certain items
and balances in the Financial Statements have been revised to comply with the new requirements.
Accordingly, certain prior year and opening balance adjustments have been made and certain comparative
amounts have been reclassified and restated to conform with the current year’s presentation and
accounting treatment.

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Financial Statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on
31 March 2006.
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SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2005
Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company (“PLDT")

PLDT is the leading telecommunications service provider in the Philippines.
It has common shares listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange and American
Depositary Receipts (ADRs) listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Through its
three principal business groups, PLDT offers a wide range of telecommunications
services: wireless (principally through wholly-owned subsidiary company Smart
Communications, Inc.); fixed line (principally through PLDT); and information and
communications technology (principally through wholly-owned subsidiary company
ePLDT). PLDT has developed the Philippines’ most extensive fiber optic backbone,
cellular, fixed line and satellite networks.

Sector :  Telecommunications

Place of incorporation/business area : The Philippines

Issued number of shares :  180.8 million

Particular of issued shares held :  Common shares of Pesos 5 par value
Economic interest/voting interest © 23.9 per cent/30.5 per cent

Further information on PLIDT can be found at www.pldt.com.ph
PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk (“Indofood”)

Indofood is the premier processed-foods company in Indonesia, which offers
total food solutions to its customers. It is based in Jakarta, and is listed on the
Jakarta and Surabaya Stock Exchanges. Through its four major business units,
Indofood offers a wide range of food products: bogasari (flour and pasta), consumer
branded products (noodles, food seasonings, snack foods, and nutrition and special
foods), edible oils and fats (plantations, cooking oils, margarine and shortening)
and Distribution. Indofood is considered as one of the world’s largest instant noodles
manufacturer by volume, and the largest flour miller in Indonesia. Indofood’s
flourmill in Jakarta is one of the largest in the world in terms of production capacity
in one location. [t also has an extensive distribution network in the country.

Sector :  Consumer Food Products
Place of incorporation/business area : Indonesia

Issued number of shares : 9.4 billion

Particular of issued shares held :  Shares of Rupiah 100 par value
Economic interest/voting interest : 51.5 per cent

Further information on Indofood can be found at www.indofood.co.id
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Metro Pacific Corporation (“Metro Pacific”)

Metro Pacific is a Manila, Philippines-based holding company listed on the
Philippine Stock Exchange. Metro Pacific’s businesses include property concerns
Landco Pacific Corporation and Pacific Plaza Towers, and domestic Philippine
shipping firm Negros Navigation Co., Inc.

Sector :  Property and Transportation

Place of incorporation/business area : The Philippines

Issued number of shares :  18.6 billion

Particular of issued shares held : Common shares of Peso 1 par value
Economic interest/voting interest : 75.5 per cent

Further information on Metro Pacific can be found at www.metropacific.com
Level Up! International Holdings Pte Ltd (“Level Up”)
Level Up is the pioneer and leading online game publisher in the Philippines,

Brazil and India. Online games are a rapidly growing segment of the global video
game industry, and Level Up focuses on online games in emerging markets.

Sector :  Online games
Place of incorporation/business area : Singapore/The Philippines,
Brazil and India
[ssued number of shares . 413,869
Particular of issued shares held :  Ordinary shares of US$8 par value
Economic interest/voting interest 1 25.0 per cent

Further information on Level Up can be found at www.levelupgames.com
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B. INDEBTEDNESS

As at 31 December 2006, the Group had outstanding borrowings of approximately
US$1,196.4 million. The borrowings comprised secured bank loans of US5$203.8 million,
unsecured bank loans of US%457.5 million and unsecured other loans of US$535.1 million.

The secured bank loans were secured by certain of the Group’s property and
equipment, plantations, cash, inventories, accounts receivables and available-for-sale assets
and the Group’s interest of 4.3 per cent in PLDT.

The other loans comprised unsecured bonds of US$437.5 million (as described below),
unsecured trust receipt loans of US$91.0 million and others. The bonds held by the Group
as at 31 December 2006 comprise the following:

(a) US$%$194.7 million five-year zero coupon exchangeable notes issued by First
Pacific Finance Limited (“FPF”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
due 18 January 2010. The exchangeable notes are unsecured obligations of FPF
and are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the Company;

(b) Rupiah 1.2 trillion (U5%$135.0 millien) Rupiah bonds issued by Indofood, with
a coupon rate of 13.5 per cent, payable quarterly, and which mature in June
2008; and

{¢)  Rupiah 1.0 trillion (US5$107.8 million) Rupiah bonds issued by Indofood, with
a coupon rate of 12.5 per cent, payable quarterly, and which mature in July
2009.

As at 31 December 2006, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

Save as aforesaid, and apart from intra-group liabilities, the Group did not have
outstanding at the close of business on 3] December 2006 any loan capital issued and
outstanding or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans or other similar indebtedness,
liabilities under acceptances or acceptance credits, debentures, mortgages, charges, finance
leases or hire purchase commitments, guarantees or other contingent liabilities.

Except for projected US$420.0 million secured bank loans for the Acquisition and
US$218.9 million additional indebtedness arising from the acquisition and proportionate
consolidation of Mayniiad through a 50% consortium of MPIC, there is no material change
in the Group’s outstanding indebtedness and contingent liabilities from 31 December 2006
to the Latest Practicable Date.
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C. FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECTS

The Group’s principal investments have remained the same since 31 December 2005.
A small (0.31%) dilution in its PLDT shareholding has occurred over the period as a result
of the conversion of convertible preference shares to common shares partly offset by the
open market purchase of PLDT shares. MPC’s recapitalization and reorganization plan
has been completed and the listing of MPIC, a majority owned subsidiary of the Company,
commenced on 15 December 2006. MPIC is a 50% shareholder in a consortium specifically
established for the purpose of competing in a bid to acquire an 83.97% interest in Maynilad
which holds an exclusive concession to provide water and sewerage services in the area of
West Metro Manila, which bid was successful.

The consortium’s winning bid comprised: (a) the payment of an amount of US$56.7
million in cash in respect of the acquisition of 83.97% of the equity in Maynilad and
repayment of financial assistance previously provided to Maynilad; (b) the contribution of
US$447.2 million as additional equity capital of Maynilad over three years in the form of a
standby letter of credit; (¢) a performance bond in an amount of US5$12.0 million; and (d)
the payment of transaction fees and expenses of approximately US$16.9 million. There has
been no variation in either the remuneration payable to or benefits in kind receivable by
the directors of MPIC as a consequence of that transaction.

On 23 January 2007, Indofood, a 51.5% owned subsidiary of the Company, completed
the reverse takeover of IndoAgri, involving the injection of Indofood’s edible oils and fats
business into IndoAgri in consideration for the issue of new shares representing 98.67% of
IndoAgri’s enlarged share capital. Following completion of the proposed placement referred
to below, it is proposed that the shares of IndoAgri will be listed on the mainboard of the
Singapore Stock Exchange.

IndoAgri is one of Indonesia’s major vertically integrated manufacturers of edible
oils and fats with a significant market share in the branded cooking oil, as well as the
margarine and shortening segments in Indonesia. Its operations range from oil palm
cultivation and milling to refining, branding and marketing of cooking oil, margarine,
shortening and other palm derivative products. In order to ensure compliance with the
listing rules on shareholding spread applicable to companies listed on the mainboard of
the Singapore Stock Exchange and thereby secure a listing for IndoAgri’s shares on the
mainboard of the Singapore Stock Exchange, indoAgri entered into a placement agreement
with underwriters on 7 February 2007 to place 338 million new shares representing 25% of
its enlarged issued share capital to the public at a placement price of Singapore dollars
1.25 per share.

The placement of shares in IndoAgri by Indofood: (a) is an efficient way of raising
additional finance to fund the capital requirements of IndoAgri; (b) achieves fair value
potential of IndoAgri; (c) diversifies the funding sources to finance the development of
IndoAgri as well as widening the investor base; (d) creates greater clarity of business and
financial status of IndoAgri; and (e) will have the effect of diluting Indofood’s shareholding,
in IndoAgri.
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The trading and competitive environment in respect of all the Group’s principal
investments has remained positive. It is generally considered that the macro economic
environment in both the Philippines and Indonesia has improved over the period since 31
December 2005.

The value of the Group’s listed investments in PLDT, Indofoed and in MPIC
{following the completion of the MPC recapitalization and reorganization plan) has
continued to increase over the period since 31 December 2005,

D. MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES

Save for a potential accounting loss that may be recorded in the financial statements
of the Group due to the increase in the value of the option liability, which has a strong
correlation to the change in share price of PLDT, embedded in the face value of U55199
million exchangeable notes which are exchangeable into shares of PLDT, the Directors
confirm that there are no material adverse changes in the financial or trading position or
outlook of the Group since 31 December 2005, the date to which the latest audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group were made up.

E. WORKING CAPITAL STATEMENT

The Directors are of the opinion that following the Acquisition of the Sale Shares,
the Group has sufficient working capital for its current requirements.

F. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(a) PTIC is a single investment holding vehicle. {ts activity relates to the holding
of an investment in the listed securities of PLDT. The shareholding has not
changed over the last 3 years'and PTIC has received over such period its
attributable dividend income. The shareholding has continued to appreciate
in value over the period and this appreciation can been seen and is reflected
in the balance sheet of PTIC as available-for-sale financial assets (Appendix
IT).

(b)  PTIC has no borrowings and there has been no change in its shareholding in
PLDT nor are there any contingent liabilities or plans for material acquisitions
or disposais.

(¢)  As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group had an attributable economic
interest in shares representing approximately 23% of the total issued common
shares in PLDT, and the Group holds shares in PLDT enabling it to exercise or
control the exercise of approximately 29% of the voting power at general
meetings of PLDT.
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PLDT's results are equity accounted for in the accounts of the Group. As
shown in the 2005 annual report of the Group, PLDT contributed approximately
US$132.2 million and US$117.1 million to the recurring profits of the Group
for the two years ended 31 December 2005 respectively (representing
approximately 112.8% and 100.3% of the recurring profit of the Group for the
two years ended 31 December 2005 respectively). Based on the 2006 interim
report of the Group, PLDT contributed approximately US$66.5 million to the
recurring profits of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2006 (or
approximately 96.4% of the recurring profit of the Group of approximately
US$69.0 million for the period). On this basis, most of the recurring profit of
the Group was contributed by PLDT, demonstrating that PLDT is a critical
strategic investment of the Group.

PLDT is a successful company making a significant contribution to the Group’s
profit. It has a leading market position in both mobile and fixed telephony
and has grown this business significantly over the last few years.

The future revenue growth of PLDT is likely to come from broadband, business
process outsourcing/call center and mobile. PLDT will continue to introduce
various attractive innovative wireless broadband products and services.
Moreover, PLDT will further strengthen its market leader position in wireless
business through the ongoing network coverage and capacity expansion and
market segmentation. This equips PLDT to transform itself from a cellular
company into a multi-service wireless communications provider.

PLDT has a very manageable level of debt with a gearing ratio of 0.99 time, as
disclosed in the latest audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2005.
With the strong cash flows generated by the business further debt has been
repaid which has improved the gearing position since the audited accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2005.

The Directors consider that the prospects of PLDT are promising. As far as the
Company is aware, PLDT has no plans for material acquisitions or disposals.
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
ok & W EOE B oA

12 February 2007

The Board of Directors

First Pacific Company Limited
24th Floor, Two Exchange Square
§ Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong SAR

Dear Sirs,

We set out below our report on the financial information relating to Philippine
Telecommunications Investment Corporation (“PTIC”) for each of the three years ended
31 December 2004, 2005 and 2006 (the "Relevant Periods”) for inclusion in the circular of
First Pacific Company Limited (the “Company”) dated 12 February 2007 (the “Circular”)
in connection with the Company’s proposed purchase of an additional interest of
approximately 46% in the issued share capital of PTIC, an indirect subsidiary of the
Company, whose approximately 54% equity interest is currently held by the Company.

PTIC was incorporated in the Philippines with limited liability on 9 November 1967.
The principal activities of PTIC are investment holding and related activities.

The statutory financial statements of PTIC for each of the three years ended 31
December 2004, 2005 and 2006, which were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the Philippines, were audited by Sycip Gorres Velayo &
Co..

For the purpose of this report, we have carried out independent audit procedures
on the financial information of PTIC for the Relevant Periods {the “Financial Information”),
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and have examined the Financial
Information and carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in
accordance with the Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectuses and the Reporting Accountant”
issued by the HKICPA.

The Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA, based on audited financial
statements, after making such adjustments as are appropriate.

The Financial Information, together with the notes thereto, is the responsibility of
the directors of PTIC. It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion on such

information and te report our opinion to you.




APPENDIX II

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PTIC

A,

In our opinion, the Financial Information together with the notes thereto give, for
the purpose of this report, a true and fair view of the state of affairs of PTIC as at
31 December 2004, 2005 and 2006 and of the results and cash flows of PTIC for the
Relevant Periods.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Profit and Loss Statements

REVENUES

Dividend income
Interest income
Foreign exchange gain

EXPENSES

Professional fees

Provision for unrecoverable
prepaid tax

Taxes and licenses

Others

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Information.

Years ended 31 December

2006 2005 2004

{Pesos) {Pesos) {Pesos)
2,030,672,514 1,457,918,728 -
580,956 559,531 537,467

- - 8,435
2,031,253,470  1,458,478,259 545,902
233,861 475,972 461,865

- 168,486 -

2,940,936 9,225 9,440
62,343 50,011 10,135
3,237,140 703,694 481,440
2,028,016,330 1,457,774,565 64,462
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Balance Sheets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Long term investments

Available-for-sale financial assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Interest receivable
Prepaid tax

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accruals and other payables

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Issued capital

Additional paid-in capital

Available-for-sale financial
assets reserves

Retained earnings

Total equity

Notes

31 December

2006 2005 2004

{Pesos) (Pesos) (Pesos)

5 - - 659,266,024
5 66,387,370,650 47.,772,872,605 -
66,387,370,650 47,772,872,605 659,266,024

6 19,243,018 34,163,356 11,801,737
13,117 16,385 29,475

- - 168,486

19,256,135 34,179,741 11,999,698

7 1,294,780 23,562,202 1,237,996
17,961,355 10,617,539 10,761,702
66,405,332,005 47,783,490,144 670,027,726

3 22,990,300 22,990,300 22,990,300
1,030,989 1,030,989 1,030,989
65,728,104,626 47,113,606,581 -
653,206,090 645,862,274 646,006,437
66,1-105,332,005 47,783,490,144 670,027,726

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Information.
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Statements of Changes in Equity

Available-
for-sale
Additional financial
Issued paid-in assels Retained
Notes capital capital reserves earnings Total
(Pesos) {Pesas) {Peses) {Pesos) {Pesos}
At 1 January 2004 22,990,300 1,030,989 - 645941975 669,963,264
Profit for the vear - - - 64,462 64,462
At 31 December 2004 22,990,300 1,030,989 - 646,006,437 670,027,726
At 1 January 2005
As reported 22,990,300 1,030,989 - 646,006437 670,027,726
Opening adjustment upon
adoption of HKAS 39 12 - - 34,747,331,65 - 34,747 331,636
As restated 22,990,300 1,030,989 34,747,331,656 646,006,437 35,417,359,382
Changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets - - 12,366,274925 - 12,366,274,925
Profit for the year - - - 1457774565 1457774565
Dividends § - - - (1,457,918,728) (1457,918728)
At 31 December 2005 and
1 January 2006 22,990,300 1,030,989 47,113,606,581 645,862,274 47,783,490,144
Changes in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets - - 18,614,498,045 - 18,614,498,045
Profit for the year - - - 2,028,015,330 2,028,016,330
Dividends g - - - (2,020,672,514) (2020,672,514)
At 31 December 2006 -22,990,300 1,030,989 63,728,104,626 633,206,090 66,405,332,005

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Information.
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Cash Flow Statements

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Dividend income
Provision for unrecoverable
prepaid tax

(Decrease)/increase in accruals and
other payables

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Dividend received

Net cash inflow from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid

NET(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Informuation.

Years ended 31 December

2006 2005 2004

(Pesos) {Pesos) {Pesos)
2,028,016,330  1,457,774,565 64,462
(580,956) (559,531} (537,467)

(2,030,672,514) (1,457,918,728) -

- 168,486 -
(3,237,140) (535,208) (473,005)
(22,267,422) 22,324,206 358,933
(25,504,562) 21,788,998 (114,072)
584,224 572,621 537,367

2,030,672,514  1,457,918,728 -

2,031,256,738  1,458,491,349 537,367

(2,020,672,514) (1,457,918,728) -

{14,920,338) 22,361,619 423,295

34,163,356 11,801,737 11,378,442

19,243,018 34,163,356 11,801,737
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Notes to Financial Information

1.1

1.2

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (which also include
HKASs and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Keng. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for available-
for-sale financial assets which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Philippine Pesos.

IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The following new and revised HKFRSs affect PTIC and are adopted for the first time for its
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 or the year ended 31 December 2006.

Year ended 31 December 2005

HKAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 7 Cash Flow Statements

HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
HKAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date

HKAS 12 Income Taxes

HKAS 18 Revenue

HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

HKAS 3% Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

HKAS 39 Amendment Transition and Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities
Year ended 31 December 2006
HKAS 3% Amendment The Fair Value Option

Except for the adoption of HKASs 32 and 39 for the year ended 31 December 2005, the adoption
of the above new accounting standards has had no material impact on the accounting policies of
PTIC and the methods of computation in PTIC’s financial statements.

Adoption of HKASs 32 and 39 in the year ended 31 December 2005

Prior to the year ended 31 December 2005, PTIC classified its investments in listed equity
securities, intended to be held for continuing strategic and long term purposcs as investment
securities, within long term investments, and stated these investments at cost less any impairment
losses, on an individual investment basis. When a decline in the fair value of an investment
security below its carrying amount has occurred, unless there is evidence that the decline is
temporary, the carrying amount of the security is reduced to its fair value, as estimated by the
directors, The amount of the impairment is charged to the profit and loss statement for the
period in which it arises. When the circumstances and events which led to the impairment in
value cease to exist and there is persuasive evidence that the new circumstances and events will
persist for the foreseeable future, the amount of the impairment previously charged is credited
to the profit and loss statement to the extent of the amount previously charged.

Upon the adoption of HKASs 32 and 39, these securities are classified as available-for-sale financial
assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative investments in listed and
unlisted equity securities that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of
the other categories of financial assets as defined in HKAS 39. After initial recognition, cach
available-for-sale financial asset is measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in a
separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is
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1.3

1.4

determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in
equity is included in the profit and loss statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the profit and loss statement.

The carrying amount of PTIC’s investment in listed equity sccuritics increased by
Pesos 34,747,331,656 which arose as a result of a remeasurement at fair value on 1 January 2005
upon adoption of the new accounting policy. This increase in carrying value had been recognised
directly in a separate component of equity {available-for-sale financial assets reserves) of PTIC
with no restatement to the comparative amount of the assets in accordance with the transitional
provision of HKAS 39.

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

PTIC has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in the Financial Information.

HKAS 1 Amendment Capital Disclosures

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29
Financial Reparting in Hyperinflationary Economics

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

HKAS 1 Amendment shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.
The revised standard will affect the disclosures about qualitative information about the entity’s
objective, policies and processes for managing capital; quantitative data about what the entity
regards as capital; and compliance with any capital requirements and the consequences of any
non-compliarnce.

HKFRS 7 shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The standard
requires disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the significance of
the entity’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial
instruments and also incorporates many of the disclosure requirements of HKAS 32.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 7, HK(IFRIC)-Int 8, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and HK(IFRIC}-Int 10 shall be applied for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 March 2006, 1 May 2006, 1 June 2006 and 1 November

2006, respectively.

PTIC is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs

upon initial application. So far, it has concluded that while the adoption of the HKAS 1

Amendment and HKFRS 7 may result in new or amended disclosures, these new and revised

HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on PTIC's results of operations and linancial

position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to PTIC if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, PTIC; (ii) has an interest in PTIC that
gives it significant influence over PTIC; or (iii) has joint control over PTIC;

(b} the party is an associate;

() the party is a jointly-controlled entity;
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(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of PTIC or its parent;
(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or {d); or
(f) the party is an entity that is contrelled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by

or for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly,
any individual referred to in (d) or (e).

Investments and other financial assets
Applicable to the year ended 31 Decenber 2604
Long term investments

Leng term investments in listed equity securities, intended to be held for a continuing strategic
and long term purposes, are stated at cost less any impairment losses, on an individual investment
basis, and classified as investment securities. When a decline in the fair value of an investment
security below its carrying amount has occurred, unless there is evidence that the decline is
temporary, the carrying amount of the security is reduced to its fair value, as estimated by the
directors. The amount of the impairment is charged to the profit and loss statement for the
peried in which it arises. When the circumstances and events which led to the impairment in
value cease to exist and there is persuasive evidence that the new circumstances and events will
persist for the foreseeable future, the amount of the impairment previously charged is credited
to the profit and loss statement to the extent of the amount previously charged.

Applicable to the years ended 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2006

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and
available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of invesiments not at fair value through profit
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. PTIC considers whether a contract contains an
embedded derivative when PTIC first becomes a party to it. The embedded derivatives are
separated from the host contract which is not measured at fair value through profit or loss when
the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks of embedded derivatives are not
closely related to those of the host contract.

PTIC determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that PTIC commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and
financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Finanetal
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Gains or losses on these financial assets are recognised in the profit and loss statement.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate
and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss statement when the
loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
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Avaitable-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity
securities that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the other two
categories. After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value,
with gains or losses recognised as a separate component of equity until the invesiment is
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the profit and loss statement.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably measured because (a) the
variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b)
the probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and
used in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is detzrmined
by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For
investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.
Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow
analysis; and other valuation models.

Impairment of financial assets

PTIC assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on lvans and receivables carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate {i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced cither directly or through the use of an allowance account, The amount of the
timpairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss statement.

PTIC first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that
are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included
in a group of financial asscts with similar credit risk characteristics and that group is collectively
assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment {oss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the profit and loss statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does
not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost
(net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the profit and loss statement, is transferred from equity to the
profit and loss statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available for
sale are not reversed through the profit and loss statement.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised where:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
. PTIC retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

. PTIC has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

Where PTIC has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of PTIC's continuing involvement in the
asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that PTIC could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option {including »
cash-settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of PTIC’s continuing
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that PTIC may repurchase, except in the case
of a written put option {(including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured
at fair value, where the extent of PTIC’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the
fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings})

Financial liabilities including loans and borrowings, and other payables are initially stated at
fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method unless the cffect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially medified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the profit
and loss statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of PTIC’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheet, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result
of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate con be made of the amount of the obligation,

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time
is included in finance costs in the profit and loss statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the profit and loss
statement, or in equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance
sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred
tax assets arc reassessed at cach balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilitics are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right cxists to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to I'TIC and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following basces:

(a) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established;
and
(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the

rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Dividends

Dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the articles of incorporation of
PTIC grant the directors the authority to declare dividends. Consequently, dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Philippine Pesos which is PTIC's functional and
presentation currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional
currency rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Monctary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the profit and loss statement. Non-menetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-moenetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are transiated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the process of applying PTIC’s accounting policies, management has made estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and related notes. The
estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are based upon
management’s cvaluation of relevant facts and circumstances. Actual results could differ from
such estimates. The management believes the following represents a summary of these significant
estimates and judgments and related impacts and associated risks to PTIC's financial statements.

Impairment of financial assets

The carrying value of financial assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists
and where the carrying valuc exceeds the estimated recoverable amount, the asset is written
down to its recoverable amount. The computation for the impairment of available-for-sale financial
assets requires an estimation of the present value of the expected future cash flows and the
selection of an appropriate discount rate. An impairment issue arises when there is an objective
evidence of impairment, which involves significant judgement.

Deferred tax assets

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asscts to be utilised. However, there is no assurance that sufficient
taxable income will be generated to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be
utilised.

3. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Auditors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004 amounted to
Pesos 200,000, Pesos 250,000 and Pesos 250,000, respectively.
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4. TAX

As at 31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004, unused tax losses amounting to Peses 4,245,353,
Pesos 1,482,941 and Pesos 1,609,276, respectively, can be carried forward and claimed as
deduction from regular taxable income as follows:

Year incurred Expiration date Balance

{Pesos)
2004 31 December 2007 473,005
2005 31 December 2008 535,208
2006 31 December 2009 3,237,140

Deferred tax asset on unused tax losses was not recognised in the balance sheets as the directors
consider that the availability of future taxable profits on which the unused tax losses will be
utilised is unpredictable.

A reconciliation between the provision for income tax computed at applicable statutory tax rates
(2006 and 2005: 35%; 2004: 32%) to actual provision for income tax is as follows:

2006 2005 2004
{Pesos) {Pesos) (Pesos)

Provision for income tax at the
statutory tax rate 709,805,716 473,776,734 20,628
Dividend income not subject to tax {710,735,380) (473,823,587) -
Interest income not subject to tax (203,335) (181,847) (171,990)
Tax losses not recognised 1,132,999 228,700 151,362

5. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS/LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

2006 2005 2004
(Pesos) (Prses) (Pesas)
At cost 659,266,024 659,266,024 659,266,024
Unrealised mark-to-market gains 65,728,104,626 47,113,606,581 -
66,387,370,650 47,772,872,605 659,266,024

PTIC owns 26,034,263 shares of the outstanding common stock of Philippine Long Distance
Telephone Company (“PLDT"), equivalent to 13.8%, 14.4% and 15.3% ownership interest as at
31 December 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The carrying value of PTIC’s investment in PLDT’s common stock was determined based on the

quoted-per-share market values of Pesos 2,550 and Pesos 1,835 as at 31 December 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand and at banks
Short term deposits

2006 2005 2004

{ Pesos) (Pesos) (Pesos)
887,471 725,471 807,329
18,355,547 33,437,885 10,994,408
19,243,018 34,163,356 11,801,737

Cash at banks earns interest at the respective bank deposit rates, Short term deposits are made
for varying periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of

PTIC, and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Professional fees
Withhelding taxes payable
Others

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximate to their fair values.

SHARE CAPITAL

Autherised:

250,000 ordinary shares of Pesos 100

par value each

Issued and fully paid:

97,516 ordinary shares of Pesos 100

par value each

Subscribed - 144,033 shares of Pesos 100
par value each (net of subscriptions

receivable of Pesos 1,164,600)

- 142 -

2006 2005 2004
(Pesos) { Pesos) {Pesos)
1,040,148 1,440,509 986,708
- 21,870,456 -

254,632 251,237 251,288
1,294,780 23,562,202 1,237,996
2006 2005 2004
{Pesos) (Pesos) (Pesos)}
25,000,000 25,000,000 25,000,000
9,751,600 9,751,600 9,751,600
13,238,700 13,238,700 13,238,700
22,990,300 22,990,300 22,990,300
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10.

RETAINED EARNINGS
Dividend declarations by PTIC to the shareholders in 2006 and 2005 are as follows:
Dividend

Declaration date Shares on record as of Date payable per share Amount
(Pesos)  (Peso million)

28 March 2006 7 April 2006 20 April 2006 3,018 729.0
29 August 2006 21 August 2006 21 September 2006 5,348 1,201.7
Total 2,020.7
S—

Dividend
Declaration date Shares on record as of Date payable per share Amount

(Pesos)  (Peso miillion)

5 May 2005 31 March 2005 12 May 2005 1,509 364.5
6 June 2005 3 June 2005 14 July 2005 2,263 546.7
6 December 2005 28 November 2005 28 December 2005 2,263 546.7
Total 1,457.9

T —

No dividend was declared by PTIC in 2004.

Under the Philippine Corporation Code (the “Code”), stock corporations are prohibited from
retaining surplus profits in excess of 100% of their paid-up capital, except when justified by any
of the reasons mentioned in the Code. The retained earnings are unrestricted for distribution.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

PTIC’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
financing for PTIC’s operations.

The main risks arising from PTIC’s financial instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk.

Credit Risk

The credit risk of the financial assets of PTIC, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, arises
from defauit of the counter party. PTIC’s policy is to maintain bank accounts primarily with
renowned financial institutions.

Liquidity Risk
PTIC seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash planning on a monthly basis. PTIC uses
historical figures and experiences, and forecasts based on its cellection of funds and
disbursements.

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of an investment in an equity security may
decline. PTIC is exposed to changes in the price of the shares of PLDT and this risk is not

hedged.
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ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

As at 31 December 2006, the directors consider that PTIC’s ultimate holding company
is First Pacific Company Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda and listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements of PTIC have been made up in respect of any period
subsequent to 31 December 2006.

Yours faithfully,
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
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APPENDIX III PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
ENLARGED GROUP AFTER THE ACQUISITION

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
¥ A o/ N F B K

12 Fel:_)rua ry 2007

The Board of Directors

First Pacific Company Limited
24th Floor, Two Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong SAR

Dear Sirs,

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES TO THE DIRECTORS OF FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY
LIMITED

We report on the unaudited pro forma statement of assets and liabilities (the
“Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information”) of First Pacific Company Limited {(the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”},
which has been prepared by the directors for illustrative purposes only, to provide
information about how the proposed purchase of an additional equity interest of
approximately 46% in Philippine Telecommunications Investment Corporation (“PTIC")
(the “Acquisition”) might have affected the assets and liabilities of the Group, for inclusion
as Appendix III to the circular of the Company dated 12 February 2007 (the “Circular”).
The basis of presentation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is set out on
pages 147 to 149 to the Circular.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Reporting Accountants

It is the responsibility solely of the directors of the Company to prepare the Unaudited
Pro Forma Financial Information in accordance with paragraph 29 of Chapter 4 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”} and with reference to Accounting Guideline 7 Preparation of Pro
Forma Financial Information for Inclusion in Investment Circulars issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants {"HKICPA”).

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by paragraph 29(7) of Chapter
4 of the Listing Rules, on the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information and to report
our opinion to you. We do not accept any responsibility for any reports previously given
by us on any financial information used in the compilation of the Unaudited Pro Forma

Financial Information beyond that owed to those to whom those reports were addressed
by us at the dates of their issue.
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Basis of Opinion

We conducted our engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 300 “Accountants’ Reports on Pro Forma
Financial Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the HKICPA. Our work consisted
primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with source documents,
considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Unaudited Pro
Forma Financial Information with the directors of the Company. This engagement did not
involve independent examination of any of the underlying financial information.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled
by the directors of the Company on the basis stated, that such basis is consistent with the
accounting policies of the Group and that the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes
of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph
29(1) of Chapter 4 of the Listing Rules.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is for illustrative purposes only,
based on the judgements and assumptions of the directors of the Company, and, because
of its hypothetical nature, does not provide any assurance or indication that any event
will take place in the future and may not be indicative of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2005 or any future dates.

Opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled
by the directors of the Company on the basis stated;

(b)  such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group; and

(c) the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes of the Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph 29(1) of Chapter 4
of the Listing Rules.

Yours faithfully,
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
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The foliowing is a summary of the unaudited pro forma statement of assets and
labilities of the enlarged Group, which has been prepared on the basis of the notes set out
below and assuming that the Acquisition had been completed as at 31 December 2005 for
the purpose of illustrating how the transactions might have affected the financial position
of the Group at that date.

The unaudited pro forma statement of assets and liabilities of the enlarged Group is
prepared based on the audited consotidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 December
2005 as extracted from the annual report of the Company for the year then ended and the
audited balance sheet of PTIC as at 31 December 2005 as extracted from the Accountants’
Report set out in Appendix Il of this Circular and adjusted for the Acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma statement of assets and liabilities is prepared to provide
financial information on the enlarged Group as a result of the Acquisition. As it is prepared
for illustrative purpose only, it may not purport to represent what the assets and liabilities
of the enlarged Group shall be on the actual Acquisition.
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The
The Pro forma enlarged
Group PTIC Total adjustments Group

(LSS millions) (USS$ millions) (USS millions) (USS millions) (LSS millions)

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 622.9 - 622.9 - 622.9
Plantations 169.0 - 169.0 - 169.0
Associated companies 3817 - 3817 510.6@ 8923

Accounts receivable, other receivables
and prepayments 1.7 - 11.7 - 1.7
Goodwill 3127 - 327 - 327
Prepaid land premiums 345 - 345 - 345
Available-for-sale assets 2.7 §99.9 902.6 (899.9y2 2.7
Deferred tax assets 15.4 - 154 - 15.4
Other non-current assets 130.8 - 130.8 - 130.8
1,401.4 899.9 2,301.3 (389.3) 1,912.0

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 296.0 0.6 296.6 {91. ) 2054
Restricted cash 4.7 - 47 - 4.7
Available-for-sale assets 524 - 524 - 524

Accounts receivable, other receivables
and prepayments 286.7 - 286.7 - 286.7
Inventories 303.0 - 303.0 - 303.0
Non-current assets held for sale 29 - 29 - 29
945.7 0.6 946.3 (91.2) 855.1

Current liabilities
Accounts payable, other payables

and accruals 278.6 0.4 279.0 {0.4}® 278.6
Short term borrowings 345.0 - 345.0 150.0m 495.0
Provision for taxation 11.2 - 1.2 - 1.2
Current portion of deferred liabilities

and provisions 15.3 - 153 - 15.3

..o 04 605 M6 B00A
Net current assets 295.6 0.2 295.8 (2401.8) 55.0
Total assets less current liabilities __1__69_7Q ___900_1 _2_5_971 ____(53_3_0_.1_] ___1_,_9_6_7_.9
Non-current liabilities
Long term borrowings 7442 - 744.2 2700 10142
Deferred liabilities and provisions 927 - 92.7 - 92.7
Deferred tax liabilities 1141 - 1141 - 114.1
Derivative liability 393 - 393 - 39.3
% D %0 W0 13603
Minority interest o338 - 339 _(_0_.1)‘3’ 3238
Net assets 382.8 900.1 1,282.9 (900.0) 3829
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
OF THE ENLARGED GROUP

M

(3)

(4)

Adjustments to reflect a long term debt financing of approximately US$270 million
and a short term debt financing of approximately US$150 million to partially finance
the consideration for the Acquisition of US$510.6 million, and the funding by the
internal resources of the Group for the remaining consideration of US$90.6 million.

Adjustments to reverse the available-for-sale financial assets {(investment in shares
of Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company (“PLDT")) recorded by PTIC and
to reflect the corresponding increase in the effective interest of the enlarged Group
in PLDT, an associated company of the Group.

Adjustments to eliminate all other assets and liabilities of PTIC which had already
been consolidated into the unadjusted financial information of the Group as at 31
December 2005 and to reflect the increase in the interest of the enlarged Group in
PTIC from approximately 54% to 100%.

The statement of assets and liabilities of PTIC has been translated for presentation
in US$ at an exchange rate of Pesos 53.085 = US$1.00.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This Circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
Circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any
statement herein misleading.

2. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(i)  Interests of Directors in the Company and its associated corporations

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares of the Company,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which: (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to section
352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) are required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

{a)  Long positions in shares in the Company

Approximate

percentage of
issued share Ordinary
Name Ordinary Shares capital share options

(%}
Anthoni Salim 1,418,525,963 44.26 -
Manuel V. Pangilinan 6,026,759P 0.19 31,800,000
Edward A. Tortorici 27,252,131 0.85 17,680,000
Robert C. Nicholson - - 24,500,000

Ambassador Albert F.

del Rosario - - 2,840,000
Benny &. Santoso - - 2,840,000
Graham L. Pickles - - 1,000,000

Edward K. Y. Chen,
GBS, CBE, JP ) - - 2,840,000
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GENERAL INFORMATION

(i)

Anthoni Salim owns 100 per cent of First Pacific Investments (BVI)
Limited which, in turn, is interested in 628,296,599 ordinary shares
in the Company. Of this 33.334 per cent is held by Anthoni Salim
directly, and 66.666 per cent by Salerni International Limited (a
company in which Antheni Salim directly holds 100 per cent of
the issued share capital). Anthoni Salim also owns 56.8 per cent of
First Pacific Investments Limited which, in turn, is interested in
790,229,364 ordinary shares in the Company. Of this 10 per cent is
held by Anthoni Salim directly and 46.8 per cent by Salerni
International Limited.

The remaining 43.2 per cent interest in First Pacific Investments
Limited is owned as to 30 per cent by Sutanto Djuhar, 10 per cent
by Tedy Djuhar and 3.2 per cent by Ibrahim Risjad, all of whom
are non-executive Directors of the Company.

(b)  Long positions in shares in associated corporations

Manuel V. Pangilinan owned 1,048,404 common shares™ in MPIC,
201,933 common shares™ in PLDT and 360 preferred shares® in
PLDT as beneficial owner and a further 15,417 common shares in
PLDT as nominee for another person, as well as 3,500,000 common
shares™ in Pilipino Telephone Corporation.

Edward A Tortorici owned 17,399 common shares® and 165,000
common shares®? in MPIC, as well as 52,197 warrants and 495,000
warrants®™ in MPIC and 104,874 common shares® in PLDT.

Sutanto Djuhar owned 15,520,335 ordinary shares® in Indofood.
Tedy Djuhar owned 15,520,335 ordinary shares® in Indofood.
Ibrahim Risjad owned 6,406,180 ordinary shares® in Indofood.
Anthoni Salim owned 632,370 ordinary shares" in Indofood.

Albert F. del Rosario owned 100,025 common shares® in PLDT,
1,560 preferred shares®! in PLDT, 32,231,970 preferred shares® in
Prime Media Holdings, Inc. (PMH) as nominee for another person,
4 common shares® in PMH as beneficial owner, 100 common
shares'? in Negros Navigation Co., Inc., 4,922 common shares® in
Costa de Madera Corporation, 19,999 common shares'™ in FPD
Savills Consultancy Philippines, Inc. as beneficial owner and one
common share® in FPD Savills Consultancy Philippines, Inc. as
beneficiary of certain trusts, 15,000 common shares®™ in Metro
Pacific Land Holdings Inc., and 80,000 common shares® in Metro
Strategic Infrastructure Holdings, Inc.

® = Personal interest, @ = Corporale interest
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As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed above, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company were interested, or were deemed to be interested,
in the long and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or equity derivatives
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning
of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

{ii) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as is known to the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company, the following parties, other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company, have an interest or short position in the shares of the
Company and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or,
who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of any other member of the Group:

(a) Salerni International Limited {Salerni), which was incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, is interested in 1,418,525,963 ordinary shares of
the Company (long position) as at the Latest Practicable Date,
representing approximately 44.26 per cent of the Company's issued share
capital, by way of its 46.8 per cent interest in First Pacific Investments
Limited (FPIL-Liberia) and its 66.666 per cent interest in First Pacific
Investments {(B.V.1.) Limited (FPIL-BVI).

(b} FPIL-Liberia, which was incorporated in the Republic of Liberia,
beneficially owned 790,229,364 ordinary shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date, representing approximately 24.66 per cent of the Company’s issued
share capital. FPIL-Liberia is owned by the Chairman (Anthoni Salim)
and three non-executive Directors (Sutanto Djuhar, Tedy Djuhar and
Ibrahim Risjad), in the proportion specified in footnote (i) of the table
on page 151 of this Circular. Anthoni Salim is taken to be interested in
the shares owned by FPIL-Liberia.

(c) FPIL-BVI, which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
beneficially owned 628,296,599 ordinary shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date, representing approximately 19.60 per cent of the Company’s issued
share capital. Anthoni Salim, the Chairman of the Company, beneficially
owns the entire issued share capital of FPIL-BVI and, accordingly, is
taken to be interested in the shares owned by FPIL-BVI.

-152 -




APPENDIX IV GENERAL INFORMATION

(d) Brandes Investment Partners, L.P. (Brandes), a U.5. company, notified
the Company that it held 316,459,252 ordinary shares of the Company
in February 2007, representing approximately 9.87 per cent of the
Company’s current issued share capital. At the Latest Practicable Date,
the Company has not received any other notification from Brandes of
any change to such holding.

() Marathon Asset Management Limited (Marathon), a U.K. incorporated
company, notified the Company that it held 204,709,173 ordinary shares
of the Company in November 2005, representing approximately 6.39 per
cent of the Company’s current issued share capital. At the Latest
Practicable Date, the Company has not received any other notification
from Marathon of any change to such holding,.

3. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the following contracts (not being contracts entered
into in the ordinary course of business) have been entered into by members of the Group

within two years preceding the date of this Circular which are or may be material:-

(a)

(b)

(c)

the Share Purchase Agreement dated 9 November 2005 and entered into
between Cirio Finanziaria S.p.A. in Amministrazione Straordinaria, Del Monte
Holdings Limited (as the Seller) and the Company, in respect of the acquisition
of the 428,570,000 Del Monte Shares by the Company or a wholly-owned
subsidiary (the proposed acquisition did not proceed to completion as the
pre-emption condition was not satisfied);

the Co-operation Agreement dated 31 January 2006 by and among PLDT, the
Company, MPC, Metro Asia Link Holdings, Inc., Metro Pacific Resources,
Inc., Larouge B.V.,, MPAH, NTT Communications Corporation and NTT
Docomo, Inc.;

the Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 23 August 2006 between Indofood,
ISG Asia Limited, Yeunh Oi Siong and Kumpulan Cityaxis Sdn. Bhd. pursuant
to which IndoAgri and ISG Asia Limited agreed to purchase from Indofood
Singapore Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“ISHPL”) and Indofood agreed to procure the
sale by ISHPL of the entire issued share capital of Indofood Qil & Fats Pte.
Ltd.;

the Deed of Ratification and Accession dated 11 September 2006 by ISHPL in
favour of Indofood, 1SG Asia Limited and Yeunh Oi Siong and Kumpulan
CityAxis Sdn. Bhd relating to the Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 23 August
2006 referred to above; and
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{e) the placement agreement dated 7 February 2007 by IndoAgri with CIMB-GK
Securities Pte. Ltd., Credit Suisse (Singapore) Limited and Kim Eng Securities
Pte. Ltd. in relation to the placement by IndoAgri of up to 338,000,000 new
consolidated shares of IndeAgri.

4. SERVICE CONTRACT

Mr. Tortorici has a service contract with the Company expiring on 31 December
2007. The amount of fixed remuneration payable under the contract, excluding
arrangements for pension payments, is currently US5$1,035,000 per annum, payable in
arrears over 12 months at the rate of U5$86,250 per month.

The amounts of any variable remuneration payable under the contract include annual
discretionary bonus equal to 0% to 50% of the base annual fee, participation in the share
option scheme of the Company adopted on 24 May 2004, as well as any other perquisites
and benefits customarily provided to senior executive officers of the Company. Upon the
expiration of Mr. Tortorici’s employment, he will be granted an augmented retirement
benefit calculated based on two months’ pay for every completed year of full time service
to the Company, starting from August 1987.

Other than as described above, no Director has an unexpired contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

5. LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is
engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatened by or against
any member of the Group.

6. COMPETING INTERESTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, so far as the Directors are aware, none of the
Directors or their respective associates have a controlling interest in a business which
competes either directly or indirectly with the business of the Company.

There are no contracts or arrangements subsisting as at the Latest Practicable Date
in which a Director is materially interested or which is significant in relation to the business
of the Group.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no Director has any interest, direct or indirect, in
any assets which have been, since the date to which the latest published audited accounts
of the Company were made up, acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the
Group.
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7. PROCEDURE FOR DEMANDING A POLL

In accordance with bye-law 79 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, a poll may be demanded

by:

(iv)

the chairman; or

at least three (3) members present in person or by proxy for the time being
entitled to vote at the meeting; or

any member or members present in person or by proxy and representing not
less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the members having the
right to vote at the meeting; or

a member or members present in person or by proxy and holding shares in
the Company conferring a right to vote at the meeting being shares on which
an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-tenth of the
total sum paid up on all the shares conferring that right.

As noted above, the resolution to be proposed will, in any event, be taken on a poll
as required under the Listing Rules.

8. QUALIFICATIONS AND CONSENTS OF EXPERTS

(a)

(b)

(c)

The following are the qualifications of the experts who have given opinions or
advice contained in this Circular:

Name Qualification

Somerley Limited A corporation licensed to carry out type 1
(dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on
securities), type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
and type 9 (asset management} regulated
activities under the SFO

Ernst & Young Certified public accountants

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Somerley and Ernst & Young have no
shareholding in any member of the Group or the right (whether legally
enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to nominate persens to subscribe for
securities of any member in the Group.

Each of Somerley and Ernst & Young has given and has not withdrawn its
written consent to the issue of this Circular with the inclusion of its letter and
references to its name in the form and context in which they appear
respectively.
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9. MISCELLANEOUS

(a)

(b)

{0)

(e)

(f)

The Company Secretary of the Company is Ms. Nancy Li, MSc (Corporate
Governance and Directorship), BA, FCS (PE), FCIS.

The qualified accountant of the Company is Richard L. Beacher, BA(Hon) in
Economics and Accounting, FCCA, CPA.

The registered office of the Company is at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda, and the head office is at 24th Floor, Two Exchange
Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR.

The principal share registrar and transfer office is Butterfield Fund Services
(Bermuda) Limited at Rosebank Centre, 11 Bermudiana Road, Pembroke, HMU08,
Bermuda.

The share registrar and transfer office (Hong Kong Branch) is Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 46th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong SAR.

The English text of this Circular shall prevail over the Chinese text in case of
any inconsistency.

10. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection during normal
business hours at the head office in Hong Kong of the Company on any week day (except
public holidays) up to and including Wednesday, 28 February 2007:-

(a)

(b)

(c}

(d)

(e}

the letter from the Board, the text of which is set out on pages 4 to 10 of this
Circular;

the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out
on page 11 of this Circular;

the letter from Somerley, the Independent Financial Adviser, the text of which
is set out on pages 12 to 25 of this Circular;

the written consents referred to in the paragraph headed “Qualifications and
Consents of Experts” in this Appendix;

the report on PTIC, the text of which is set out in Appendix I, together with

the statement of adjustments showing adjustments made to the audited
financial statements of PTIC;
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(f

(g)

(h)

(i)
()
(k)
)

{(m)

the report on the pro forma financial information of the enlarged Group after
the Acquisition, the text of which is set out in Appendix IlI;

the memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company;

the annual reports of the Company for the years ended 31 December, 2005
and 31 December, 2004;

the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June, 2006;

the material contracts referred to in paragraph 3 above;

this Circular;

the service contract of Mr. Tortorici;

any contracts referred to in this Circular; and

the following documents issued by the Company pursuant to the requirements
set out under Chapter 14 and/or 14A of the Listing Rules since 31 December
2005 being the date of which the latest published audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group were made up:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

a discloseable transaction circular dated 8 February 2006 containing,
inter alia, certain information regarding an acquisition by the Company
of an aggregate of 2,714,537 shares of PLDT;

an offer document dated 12 May 2006 containing, inter alia, certain
information regarding a mandatory conditional cash offer by CIMB-GK
Securities (HK) Limited on behalf of Salerni International Limited to
acquire all the issued shares in the capital of, and to cancel all outstanding
options of, the Company (other than those shares already beneficially
owned by Salerni International Limited and parties acting in concert
with it);

a continuing connected transactions circular dated 22 May 2006
containing, inter alia, certain information regarding each of the
continuing connected transactions relating to the noodles business of
Indofood and its subsidiaries and the notice of a special general rmeeting
held on 14 June 2006;

a circular dated 22 December 2006 containing, inter alia, certain
information regarding a material dilution of interest in a major subsidiary

resulting from the proposed separate listing of a subsidiary of Indofood
on the mainboard of the Singapore Stock Exchange by means of reverse
takeover of, and placement of shares in, IndoAgri (formerly known as
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“CityAxis Holdings Limited” and “ISG Asia Limited”) and the notice of
a special general meeting held on 8 January 2007; and

(v} a discloseable transaction circular dated 27 December 2006 containing,

inter alia, certain information regarding the acquisition of an interest by
MPIC in Maynilad.
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(a)

(b)

FIRST
PACIFIC

FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated with limited liability under the lows of Bermuda)
Website: http:/fwww firstpacco.com

(Stock Code: 00142)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special general meeting of First Pacific Company
Limited (“the Company”) will be held at 24th Floor, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught
Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR on Wednesday, 28 February 2007 at 10:00 a.m. for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing (with or without modification) the
following resolution as an ordinary resolution:-

“THAT:—

the acquisition of 111,415 issued common shares (“Sale Shares”} of Philippine
Telecommunications Investment Corporation (“PTIC”), representing
approximately 46% of the issued common shares in PTIC by the Company
and/or any subsidiary(ies) of the Company and the entry into by the Company
and/or any subsidiary(ies) of the Company of any and all documents
considered by the directors of the Company to be necessary or desirable to be
entered into in connection with the purchase of the Sale Shares (including but
not limited to a sale and purchase agreement (“Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
proposed to be entered into between Metro Pacific Assets Holdings, Inc.
(“MPAH"), a subsidiary of the Company, and the Philippine Government
(and/or its agencies, instrumentalities and /or bodies corporate) for the sale
of the Sale Shares by the Philippine Government (and/or its agencies,
instrumentalities and/or bodies corporate) toc MPAH and an escrow agreement
(“Escrow Agreement”) proposed to be entered into between the Philippine
Government {and/or its agencies, instrumentalities and/or bodies corporate),
MPAH, and the Company, amongst others, for the holding of one half of the
purchase price for the Sale Shares in escrow pending completion of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement, be and are each hereby approved; and

any executive director of the Company be and is hereby authorise to arrange
for the execution of such documents (including but not limited to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the Escrow Agreement) in such manner as he may
consider necessary or desirable and to do, or authorise the Company and/or
any subsidiary(ies) to do, whatever acts and things he may consider necessary
or desirable or expedient for the purpose of, or in connection with, the
implementation of the purchase of the Sale Shares and/or the documents
referred to above and/or any matter related thereto and to make or agree, or
authorise the Company and/or any subsidiary(ies) to make or agree, such
amendments or variations thereto, and grant, or authorise the Company and/
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or any subsidiary(ies) to grant, any waivers of any conditions precedent or
other provisions of such documents as any executive director of the Company
in his discretion considers to be desirable and in the interests of the Company.”

By order of the Board
First Pacific Company Limited
Nancy L.M. Li
Company Secretary

Dated: 12 February 2007

Nofes:

Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the special general meeting convened by the above
notice is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not be a
shareholder of the Company.

A form of voting proxy for the special general meeting is enclosed. In order to be valid, the form of
voting proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or
a notarially certified copy of the power of attorney or other authority must be deposited at the Company's
head office (Attention: Corporate Secretarial Department) at 24th Floor, Two Exchange Square, 8
Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding
the special general meeting or any adjournment thereof (as the case may be). Completion and return of
the form of proxy will not preclude shareholders from attending and voting in person at the meeting or
any adjourned meeting should they so wish.
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OB WL T 100 79 AR 30 1T 4 3 Bl
LAWK
2005 2004
7Y ¥ R
A 542.8 534.7
F L 501.7 465.3
H# 44.7 50.1
st 1,089.2 1,050.1
i 858 AR B R 8 4 BT 2 (OTE WEHD {2 A A SIE T
g6k
2005 2004
[T [ TR
B GE L # 703.4 830.0
LA 385.8 220.1
Mt 1,089.2 1,050.1
3 1OEE 2 B T O 2 A TS T
B M {E LEMAE
2005 2004 2005 2004
[ ¥ AN T B Ay BT
17 LYK 57.9 91.0 60.6 90.3
B K 686.3 670.2 724.1 694.8
#ot 744.2 761.2 784.7 785.1

-102 -




B & — FREREZzZHMEESH

HEGH S5 We sk 2 et 4% b i F

gRE Rk
2005 2004
FT 2 T ET A 3 T

04308 160.8 121.2
315 60H 1.7 7.4
615190H 1.3 5.6
Hi o0l 8.9 10.9
8 172.7 145.1

SO I7 47 M B M 5K o R £F ok ST B RO 30 T8 1 — 0 (R0 1 A 001 A £ 5 25 3
s S A58 350 0 M R L R T 1 49 M1 2 L2 P R o

26. @
=
R ) 2 (%) HEA Bt 2005 2004
20 T . 8
5 18
ST FE 8.9-18.0 2006 221.3 172.1
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Legaspi City, Albay 189 36,505 C T 2008
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B LARE (RIS R AR AT B ARSI BHEE ARG AR
ISt 2 F+HA=Z+—HZ—@F—+tEEE (G ZTHm4
MEDME_ZELHE+T AT —BHZEE=F_a®HEE(—T=HA
THWHET) M HEENFIT HE - AZ-EB=2F _FRER (—T=0
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